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LIST OF ACRONYMS

The list of acronyms includes the EU agencies and other Union bodies covered by this report.

Acronym Full name Location

ACER Agency for the Cooperation of Energy Regulators Ljubljana, Slovenia

BEREC Office Office of the Body of European Regulators for Electronic 
Communications

Riga, Latvia

CdT Translation Centre for the Bodies of the European Union Luxembourg, Luxembourg

Cedefop European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training Thessaloniki, Greece

CEPOL European Union Agency for Law Enforcement Training Budapest, Hungary

Chafea The Consumers, Health, Agriculture and Food Executive 
Agency

Luxembourg, Luxembourg

CPVO Community Plant Variety Office Angers, France

EACEA Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency Brussels, Belgium

EASA European Aviation Safety Agency Cologne, Germany

EASME Executive Agency for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises Brussels, Belgium

EASO European Asylum Support Office Valletta, Malta

EBA European Banking Authority London, UK

ECDC European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control Stockholm, Sweden

ECHA European Chemicals Agency Helsinki, Finland

EEA European Environment Agency Copenhagen, Denmark

EFCA European Fisheries Control Agency Vigo, Spain

EFSA European Food Safety Authority Parma, Italy

EIGE European Institute for Gender Equality Vilnius, Lithuania

EIOPA European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority Frankfurt, Germany

EIT European Institute of Innovation and Technology Budapest, Hungary

EMA European Medicines Agency London, UK

EMCDDA European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction Lisbon, Portugal

C 434/2 EN Official Journal of the European Union 30.11.2018



Acronym Full name Location

EMSA European Maritime Safety Agency Lisbon, Portugal

ENISA European Union Agency for Network and Information 
Security

Heraklion, Greece

ERA European Union Agency for Railways Valenciennes, France

ERCEA European Research Council Executive Agency Brussels, Belgium

ESMA European Securities and Markets Authority Paris, France

ETF European Training Foundation Turin, Italy

EUIPO European Union Intellectual Property Office Alicante, Spain

eu-LISA European Agency for the operational management of large- 
scale IT systems in the area of freedom, security and justice

Tallinn, Estonia

EU-OSHA European Agency for Safety and Health at Work Bilbao, Spain

Euratom Euratom Supply Agency Luxembourg, Luxembourg

Eurofound European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and 
Working Conditions

Dublin, Ireland

Eurojust The European Union's Judicial Cooperation Unit The Hague, The Netherlands

Europol European Union Agency for Law Enforcement Cooperation The Hague, The Netherlands

FRA European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights Vienna, Austria

Frontex European Border and Coast Guard Agency Warsaw, Poland

GSA European Global Navigation Satellite Systems Agency Prague, Czech Republic

INEA Innovation & Networks Executive Agency Brussels, Belgium

REA Research Executive Agency Brussels, Belgium

SRB Single Resolution Board Brussels, Belgium
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CHAPTER 1

The EU agencies and the Court’s audit

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Paragraph Page

INTRODUCTION . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.1 – 1.3 5

THE EU AGENCIES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.4 – 1.21 5

Different types of agencies help the EU design and implement policy . . . . . . . . . . . 1.4 – 1.14 5

Decentralised agencies address specific policy needs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.8 – 1.9 7

Commission executive agencies implement EU programmes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.10 8

Other bodies have specific mandates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.11 – 1.14 8

Agencies are financed by various sources and under different MFF headings . . . . . . 1.15 – 1.20 8

The EU Agencies Network facilitates inter-agency cooperation and communication 
with stakeholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.21 13

OUR AUDIT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.22 – 1.32 13

We have a mandate to audit the agencies’ annual accounts and transactions . . . . . . 1.22 – 1.24 13

Our audit addresses the risks identified . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.25 – 1.32 13

C 434/4 EN Official Journal of the European Union 30.11.2018



INTRODUCTION

1.1. The European Court of Auditors (ECA) was established by the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (1) 
as the external auditor of the EU’s finances. In this capacity we act as the independent guardian of the financial interests of 
the citizens of the Union, notably by helping to improve the EU’s financial management. More information on our work 
can be found in our activity reports, our annual reports on the implementation of the EU budget, our special reports, our 
landscape reviews and our opinions on new or updated EU laws or other decisions with financial management 
implications (2).

1.2. Within this mandate we carry out an annual examination of the accounts, and the underlying transactions, for EU 
institutions, agencies and other Union bodies (3).

1.3. This report presents the results of our audit of the EU agencies and other Union bodies (collectively referred to as 
‘the agencies’) for the financial year 2017. The report is structured as follows:

— Chapter 1 describes the agencies and the nature of our audit,

— Chapter 2 presents the overall results of the audit,

— Chapter 3 contains the statement of assurance for each of the 41 agencies with our opinions and observations on the 
reliability of the agencies’ accounts and on the legality and regularity of the underlying revenue and payments 
(transactions).

THE EU AGENCIES

Different types of agencies help the EU design and implement policy

1.4. Agencies are distinct legal entities set up by secondary legislation to carry out specific technical, scientific or 
managerial tasks that help the EU institutions design and implement policies. Many are highly visible and have significant 
influence in important areas of European citizens’ daily life, such as health, safety, security, freedom and justice. A short 
description of the tasks carried out by each agency is given with their statements of assurance in Chapter 3.

1.5. In this report we refer to specific agencies by their acronyms, a list of which is provided at the beginning of the 
report.

1.6. There are three types of agencies: decentralised agencies, executive agencies and other bodies. The main 
characteristics of each are described below. The number of agencies has increased over the years and stood at 41 in 2017, as 
shown in Box 1.1.
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(1) Articles 285 to 287 (OJ C 326, 26.10.2012, pp. 169-171).
(2) Available on our website: www.eca.europa.eu
(3) Three agencies related to defence (the European Defence Agency, the European Institute for Securities Studies and the European 

Union Satellite Centre) financed through Member States’ contributions are not audited by the ECA but by other independent external 
auditors.



Box 1.1

Increase in the number of agencies

Source: ECA.

1.7. Commission executive agencies are located at the seats of the Commission in Brussels and Luxembourg. 
Decentralised agencies and other bodies are located across the EU in 23 different Member States as shown in the list of 
acronyms and in Box 1.2. Their locations are decided by the Council or jointly by the Council and the European Parliament.
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Box 1.2

Agencies’ locations across Member States

Source: ECA.

Decentralised agencies address specific policy needs

1.8. The 32 decentralised agencies (4) play an important role in preparing and implementing EU policies, especially for 
tasks of a technical, scientific, operational and/or regulatory nature. The intention is to address specific policy needs and to 
reinforce European cooperation by pooling technical and specialist expertise from the EU and national governments. They 
have been set up for an indefinite period by Regulation of the Council or of the European Parliament and the Council.

1.9. Decentralised agencies work under the control of a board consisting of representatives of the Member States, the 
Commission and in some agencies other parties. The Board establishes the operational framework the agency has to follow, 
such as the multi-annual and annual work programmes, draft budgets and staff establishment plans, which are implemented 
under the responsibility of their (executive) directors. Each decentralised agency is subject to an individual discharge 
procedure on the implementation of its budget, in most cases by the European Parliament and the Council (5), covering its 
staff, administrative and operational expenditure.
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(4) Cedefop, Eurofound, EEA, ETF, EMA, EMCDDA, CdT, CPVO, EUIPO, EU-OSHA, FRA, EASA, EFSA, EMSA, Eurojust, ECDC, ENISA, 
ERA, Frontex, GSA, CEPOL, EFCA, ECHA, EIGE, ACER, BEREC Office, Europol, EASO, EBA, EIOPA, ESMA, eu-LISA.

(5) Two self-financed agencies (CPVO and EUIPO) are subject to discharge procedures by their Management Boards.



Commission executive agencies implement EU programmes

1.10. The six Commission executive agencies (6) are entrusted with executive and operational tasks relating to one or 
more EU programmes and are set up for a fixed period of time. They were created by a Commission decision and work 
under the supervision of Steering Committees appointed by the Commission. They work on the basis of multi-annual and 
annual work programmes established and implemented under the responsibility of executive directors. They are subject to 
individual discharge procedures by the European Parliament and the Council for their own budgets. In contrast to 
decentralised agencies, their budgets cover staff and administrative expenditure only, while all the operational expenditure 
that they implement stems from the Commission budget and is therefore part of the general discharge given to the 
Commission. The executive agencies’ own budgets therefore represent only a very small part of the budget they actually 
implement.

Other bodies have specific mandates

1.11. The three other bodies are the EIT, Euratom and the SRB.

1.12. The EIT in Budapest is an independent, decentralised EU body, which pools scientific, business and education 
resources to boost the Union’s innovation capacity by providing grant funding. It was set up for an indefinite period by the 
European Parliament and the Council. It is headed by a director and supervised by a Governing Board, and is subject to an 
individual discharge procedure by the European Parliament and the Council.

1.13. Euratom in Luxembourg was created for an indefinite period by the Council to support the aims of the European 
Atomic Energy Community Treaty. It is subject to an individual discharge procedure by the European Parliament and the 
Council. An Advisory Committee composed of members from Member State assists the Euratom in carrying out its tasks by 
giving opinions and providing analysis and information. Euratom’s director general works under the supervision of the 
Commission.

1.14. The SRB is the central resolution authority within the banking union and has its seat in Brussels. Its mission is to 
ensure an orderly resolution of failing banks with minimum impact on the real economy, the financial system, and the 
public finances of the participating Member States and beyond. The SRB is represented by its Chair, who also assumes the 
role of appointing authority. The Chair of the SRB is subject to an individual discharge procedure by its Board, which is 
composed of members from the national resolution authorities of participating Member States.

Agencies are financed by various sources and under different MFF headings

1.15. The total 2017 budget of all agencies (excluding the SRB) amounted to 3,5 billion euros (2016: 3,4 billion euros) 
which is equivalent to some 2,7 % of the 2017 EU general budget (2016: 2,4 %) as shown in Box 1.3. The agencies with the 
highest increase in their budgets in 2017 were GSA and EIT, which are financed under MFF (7) heading 1a (Competitiveness 
for growth and jobs) and Frontex, EMA and EASO, financed under MFF heading 3 (Security and Citizenship).

1.16. In addition, the 2017 budget of the SRB amounted to 6,6 billion euros (2016: 11,8 billion euros) (8). This consists 
of contributions from credit institutions to the Single Resolution Fund.
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(6) INEA, REA, EACEA, ERCEA, Chafea, EASME.
(7) EU Multiannual financial framework covering the period 2014-2020.
(8) 2016 budget revenue consisted not only of the 2016 contributions from credit institutions to the Single Resolution Fund, but also 

included the 2015 contributions which were raised by the National Resolution Authorities (NRAs) in 2015 but only transferred to 
the Fund in January 2016. This explains why the budget total for 2017 is much lower than the 2016 budget (6,6 versus 11,8 billion 
euros).



1.17. The budgets of the decentralised agencies and the other bodies cover their staff, administrative and operational 
expenditure, whereas the executive agencies implement programmes financed by the Commission’s budget, and their own 
budgets (some 241 million euros in total) only cover their staff and administrative expenditure. Commission operational 
expenditure implemented by the six executive agencies in 2017 amounted to some 6,8 billion euros, i.e. more than twice 
the total budget of all the other agencies together excluding the SRB.

Box 1.3

Agencies’ financing sources 2017

Source: EU general budget 2017 and agencies’ budgets 2017, compiled by ECA.

1.18. Most agencies, including all executive agencies, are financed almost entirely by the EU general budget. The others 
are fully or partially financed by fees and charges and by direct contributions from participating countries: Member States, 
EFTA countries, etc. In total, the EU general budget financed some 2,5 billion euros, with 1 billion euros financed by fees 
and charges and direct contributions from participating countries. Box 1.4 shows a breakdown of the agencies by the size of 
the EU budget contributions received.
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Box 1.4

Agencies ranked by size of EU budget contribution

Source: Agencies, compiled by ECA.
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1.19. The 2,5 billion euros in contributions from the EU general budget are financed under different MFF headings as 
illustrated in Box 1.5.

Box 1.5

Agency financing by EU general budgets’ MFF heading

Source: EU Multiannual financial framework covering the period 2014-2020 and agencies’ budgets 2017, compiled by ECA.

1.20. With regard to staff, at the end of 2017 the agencies employed some 11 000 staff (9) (2016: 10 300), about one 
sixth of the total staff employed by EU institutions and agencies. The breakdown of total staff by agency is presented in 
Box 1.6.
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(9) Staff members include officials, temporary and contract staff as well as seconded national experts.



Box 1.6

Numbers of staff per agency at the end of 2017

Source: Agencies, compiled by ECA.
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The EU Agencies Network facilitates inter-agency cooperation and communication with stakeholders

1.21. The EU Agencies Network (EUAN) was set up by the agencies as an inter-agency cooperation platform to enhance 
the agencies’ visibility, to identify and promote possible efficiency gains and to add value. The EUAN operates on the basis 
of priorities agreed by the agencies in a 5-year Strategy Agenda (2015-2020) and yearly Work Programmes specifying 
activities and deliverables. One important role assigned to EUAN is to ensure efficient communication between the agencies 
and stakeholders, mainly with the European Institutions. EUAN is chaired by a different agency every year on a rotational 
basis.

OUR AUDIT

We have a mandate to audit the agencies’ annual accounts and transactions

1.22. As required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU), we have audited

(a) the accounts of all agencies, which comprise the financial statements (10) and the reports on the implementation of the 
budget (11) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts.

1.23. On the basis of the results of our audit, we provide the European Parliament and the Council, or the other 
discharge authorities referred to in Chapter 3 of this report, with one statement of assurance per agency as to the reliability 
of the agencies’ accounts and the legality and regularity of the underlying transactions. We complement the statements of 
assurance with significant audit observations, where appropriate.

1.24. As stipulated in Article 208(4) of the EU Financial Regulation (12), the accounts of 32 agencies receiving 
contributions from the EU budget were verified by independent external auditors. We reviewed the reliability of the 
verification results according to International Standards on Auditing and took them into account when preparing our own 
audit opinions.

Our audit addresses the risks identified

1.25. In order to obtain sufficient assurance, we designed our audit to address the main risks identified.

R i s k  t o  t h e  r e l i a b i l i t y  o f  a g e n c i e s ’  a c c o u n t s  i s  l o w  i n  g e n e r a l

1.26. Overall, we consider the risk to the reliability of accounts to be low for all agencies. The agencies’ accounts are 
established by applying the accounting rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on 
internationally accepted accounting standards for the public sector. The number of material errors found in the past was 
small.

R i s k  t o  t h e  l e g a l i t y  a n d  r e g u l a r i t y  o f  t r a n s a c t i o n s  i s  m e d i u m  o v e r a l l ,  b u t  v a r i e s

1.27. The overall risk to the legality and regularity of transactions underlying the agencies’ accounts is considered to be 
medium, but varies from low to high for the specific budget titles.

Title I (Staff expenditure)

1.28. Risk is generally low. Salaries are administered by the Commission’s PMO service which the Court audits within 
the framework of its specific assessments of administrative expenditure. No material errors were found in relation to staff 
expenditure in recent years. However, where agencies have to recruit a high number of additional staff within a short time, 
there is a medium to high risk to the legality and regularity of recruitment procedures.
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(10) The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement 
of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

(11) The reports on implementation of the budget are reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and explanatory notes.
(12) Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council (OJ L 298, 26.10.2012, p. 1).



Title II (Administrative expenditure)

1.29. Risk is considered to be medium. Procurements of different kinds of services, with increasing amounts related to 
IT, involve complex procurement rules and procedures, and agencies’ administrations sometimes do not achieve satisfactory 
transparency and best value for money. Serious procurement errors affecting the conditions for payments have traditionally 
been one of the main reasons for qualified audit opinions and observations by the Court. However, office rent is often the 
main cost category paid on a recurrent basis, and changes usually only occur when agencies move to new premises, so the 
overall risk is medium.

Title III (Operational expenditure)

1.30. The risk is considered to be low to high. This depends on the specific agencies and the type of operational 
expenditure they have. In general, procurement-related risks are similar to those in relation to title II, although the amounts 
involved can be higher. As far as grants paid under budget title III are concerned, previous audits found that, while — 
overall — the agencies’ controls have improved, they are not always fully effective.

R i s k  t o  S o u n d  F i n a n c i a l  M a n a g e m e n t  ( S F M )  i s  m e d i u m

1.31. Risk to SFM is considered to be medium and mainly identified in the areas of IT and public procurement. We 
previously reported findings on the agencies’ diverse IT landscape and weaknesses in IT project management, as well as 
procurement procedures that did not ensure best value for money.

1.32. From a broader perspective, the number of small agencies (see Boxes 1.4 and 1.6), each with their own 
administrative structures and procedures, creates a risk to administrative efficiency.
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CHAPTER 2

Overview of audit results
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INTRODUCTION

2.1. This Chapter presents an overview of the results from the Court’s annual audits of the agencies for the year 2017 as 
well as other agency-related audit work carried out by the Court in the course of 2017.

2.2. The statements of assurance (audit opinions) on the reliability of the agencies’ accounts and the revenue and 
payments underlying these accounts, as well as all matters and observations not calling into question these opinions, are 
provided in Chapter 3.

RESULTS FROM THE ANNUAL AGENCY AUDITS FOR THE YEAR 2017 ARE POSITIVE OVERALL

2.3. Overall, our audit of the annual accounts of the agencies for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the revenue and 
payments underlying them confirmed the positive results reported in previous years.

‘Clean’ opinions on the reliability of all agencies’ accounts

2.4. We issued unqualified (‘clean’) audit opinions on the accounts of all agencies. In our opinion, these accounts present 
fairly, in all material respects, the agencies’ financial positions as at 31 December 2017 and the results of their operations 
and their cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the provisions of the applicable financial regulations and 
the accounting rules adopted by the Commission’s Accounting Officer (13).

Emphasis of matter paragraphs are fundamental for the understanding of the accounts

2.5. Emphasis of matter paragraphs draw the readers’ attention to matters of importance that are fundamental to the 
users’ understanding of the accounts.

2.6. For EASO, we drew attention to the fact that the human resources situation at the Office has deteriorated 
exponentially. The Office currently does not have the administrative capacity to fill the high number of vacancies. Overall, 
the human resources situation causes a significant risk to the continuation of the Office’s operations at the current scale.

2.7. In the case of the SRB we emphasised that Single Resolution Fund contributions are calculated on the basis of 
information provided by credit institutions to the Board through the national resolution authorities. However, the Single 
Resolution Mechanism Regulation does not provide for a comprehensive and consistent control framework to ensure the 
information is reliable. Furthermore, we noted that the methodology for calculating contributions laid down in the legal 
framework is very complex, resulting in a risk to accuracy. For confidentiality reasons the Board cannot release the credit 
institutions’ data used for the calculation of Fund contributions, which reduces transparency.

2.8. For ECHA the Court emphasised that the Agency is partly self-financed and receives a fee from every company 
applying for the registration of chemicals as required under the REACH Regulation (14). The Agency calculates and invoices 
the fees on the basis of information provided by the companies on application. Ex post verifications by the Agency identified 
the need for considerable fee corrections, with the total amount of corrections being unknown at the end of 2017. This 
observation demonstrates the limitations of a system that relies excessively on self-declarations made by applicants.

2.9. For the GSA, we drew attention to the fact that the outcome of the public procurement procedure for one of the 
agency’s main contracts (1,5 billion euro framework contract) has been challenged by one of the tenderers.

2.10. In relation to the two London-based agencies, EMA and EBA, we drew attention to the fact that they will leave the 
UK in 2019 and that their accounts and related notes were prepared using the information available at the date the accounts 
were signed. We also referred to implications from the current lease arrangements in London and possible decreases in 
revenue following the UK’s departure from the EU.

2.11. For Chafea, we reported on significant weaknesses in the accounting environment.

C 434/16 EN Official Journal of the European Union 30.11.2018

(13) These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for the public sector.
(14) Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council concerning the Registration, Evaluation, 

Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH) (OJ L 396, 30.12.2006, p. 1).



‘Clean’ opinions on the legality and regularity of the revenue underlying all agencies’ accounts

2.12. For all agencies, we issued unqualified (‘clean’) audit opinions on the legality and regularity of the revenue underlying 
the annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017. In our opinion, revenue was legal and regular in all material 
respects.

‘Clean’ opinions on the legality and regularity of the payments underlying the agencies’ accounts, except for 
EASO

2.13. For 40 agencies, we issued unqualified (‘clean’) audit opinions on the legality and regularity of the payments 
underlying the annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017. In our opinion, payments were legal and regular in 
all material respects.

2.14. For EASO we issued an adverse opinion due to material and systematic instances of non-compliance of payments 
with the Office’s Financial Regulation and other applicable rules and provisions, mainly related to public procurement and 
recruitment procedures underlying payments. The systematic nature of non-compliances demonstrates an inadequate 
internal control system. The combined error from non-compliant payments amounts at least to 7,7 million euros or 10,3 % 
of the Office’s total payments made in 2017.

Other matter paragraphs address issues of specific importance

2.15. Other matters paragraphs draw the readers’ attention to matters other than those that are presented or disclosed in 
the annual accounts or related to the legality and regularity of revenue and payments.

2.16. For the EIT we addressed that the initial grant reimbursement rates to Knowledge and Innovation centres (KICs) 
were increased towards the end of the eligibility period, which goes against the purpose of encouraging KICs to become less 
dependent on EIT financing. Furthermore, some new activities were retroactively added to the annual business plans for 
two KICs. For one of the KICs, this caused a substantial change to the initial award decision. Substantial changes can affect 
the equal treatment of KICs and are not compliant with Financial Regulation.

2.17. In the case of Frontex, since 2014 we have consistently reported that proof of the expenditure claimed by 
cooperating countries was often insufficient. This was also confirmed by this year’s audit results. In response to our 
recommendation from 2016, Frontex is introducing a simplified cost reimbursement model.

2.18. For EBA, EIOPA and ESMA we drew attention to the fact that their budgets are financed partly from European 
Union funds and partly through direct contributions from EU Member States’ supervising authorities and/or supervised 
entities. It is possible that the authorities’ revenue will decrease in future as a result of the UK’s decision to leave the EU.

2.19. For the GSA we reported that the Agency operates both Galileo Security Monitoring Centre (GSMC) and Galileo 
ground stations on UK territory, which might need to be relocated.

2.20. For the CdT we referred to the fact that several agencies were making increasing use of in-house and other 
alternative translation solutions, which implied that the CdT’s capacity was not being utilised to the greatest possible extent. 
Moreover, there is a duplication of effort at European level concerning translation systems development and running costs.

2.21. In December 2016, BEREC Office requested translations from CdT for four calls for expression of interest for the 
establishment of staff reserve lists, even though all posts authorised by the budgetary authorities in its establishment plan 
were filled. In our view, there was no justification for the translation request in December 2016. The related payment made 
in March 2017 counted for 2,5 % of the 2017 budget.
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Box 2.1

2014-2017 annual audit opinions on agencies’ accounts and transactions

Source: ECA.

Our observations cover a range of issues

2.22. We made a total of 145 observations concerning 37 agencies to highlight matters of importance and to indicate 
room for improvement. These observations, which can be found in Chapter 3, are summarised below. The majority of 
observations concern sound financial management.

M a j o r  r i s k s  l e a d i n g  t o  s e r i o u s  w e a k n e s s  i n  E A S O

2.23. In the case of EASO we highlighted major risks inherent to the nature of the Office’s activities and extraordinary 
operational challenges caused by the migration crisis. Those risks were not mitigated by a solid governance structure and 
effective controls, which led to numerous instances of material non-compliance.

2.24. Since 2014 the Office suffered from high staff turnover and the recruitment procedures were suspended since 
December 2017. Moreover, the Office has neither an internal audit capability nor a legal service and systematic review of 
legal documents.

2.25. Almost all services audited, which were based on public procurement or recruitment procedures, were 
systematically affected by significant weaknesses in assessment of the Office’s needs, drafting of tender specifications, choice 
of the type of the contract, evaluation and award methods, amendments and extension of contracts, execution of contracts 
and verification of services provided, etc. Such weaknesses go against the principles of competition, transparency, equal 
treatment and non-discrimination.
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P r o g r e s s  t o w a r d s  a  m o r e  h a r m o n i s e d  I T  l a n d s c a p e

2.26. Agencies carry out a wide range of operational activities, requiring adequate and occasionally tailor-made IT 
solutions. However, key operational and administrative activities are implemented on the basis of the same legal framework, 
which suggests that they have similar processes that can be supported by similar IT solutions. While the agencies made very 
good progress in the use of similar budget management and accounting systems, as we reported in our 2016 summary 
report on agency audit results, there was still a multitude of IT solutions used in other key areas, such as human resources 
management and procurement/contract management.

2.27. Agencies are considering further harmonisation of IT solutions in these areas, mainly in order to enhance cost- 
efficiency, to reduce internal control risks and to strengthen IT governance. Good progress in relation to IT tools on human 
resources management was made in 2017, when 20 agencies signed agreements with the Commission on the use of its 
SYSPER II tool, which will provide for a more uniform IT landscape in the area. It is planned that the majority of agencies 
will use the Commission’s tool as from 1 January 2019, while some of the agencies started in the 3rd quarter of 2018.

Box 2.2

Agencies’ introduction of common SYSPER II HR tool

Source: ECA based on information from agencies.

T h e  i n t r o d u c t i o n  o f  e - p r o c u r e m e n t  i s  o n  i t s  w a y

2.28. In this fragmented scenario the use of similar electronic tools to procure supplies or services (e-procurement) 
would also be an important move to achieve a more harmonised IT framework among agencies. According to the Financial 
Regulations which entered into force in 2012 and 2013 respectively, all EU Institutions and agencies ‘…shall, to the greatest 
possible extent, design and implement solutions for the submission, storage and processing of data submitted in grant and 
procurement procedures, and to this end, shall put in place a single electronic data interchange area for applicants, 
candidates and tenderers’ (15), (16). While no target date for the introduction of e-procurement was set by the Financial 
Regulations, the 2014 EU Public Procurement Directive (17) mandates the use of electronic means for public procurement 
in the EU Member States by 2018, while the 2014 EU e-Invoicing Directive (18) requires all public authorities to allow 
receipt of e-invoices by 2019.
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2.29. As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a comprehensive IT solution 
covering all phases of public procurement procedures. While all agencies publish their calls for tender electronically via TED 
(Tenders Electronic Daily), the European public procurement journal, the Commission also launched tools for electronic 
invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU Official 
Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 2017, 
most agencies had introduced e-invoicing and e-tendering for certain procedures, but not e-submission.

Box 2.3

Agencies’ introduction of e-procurement tools

Source: ECA based on information from agencies.

I T  c o n s u l t a n c y  a n d  p r o j e c t  m a n a g e m e n t  i m p r o v i n g  a t  E M A  a n d  e u - L I S A

IT consultancy and project management at EMA

2.30. In the course of last year’s audit we carried out an analysis of the Agency’s management of consulting services. The 
excessive use of consulting firms led to a critical dependency on external expertise. We also reported that control over 
project development and implementation was inadequate and that projects were considerably delayed and costs were 
escalating.

2.31. In the course of 2017 the Agency implemented several measures to improve the situation. However, reducing the 
Agency’s critical dependence on consulting firms will take time and the impact of the measures taken will only be seen over 
the years.

IT consultancy and project management at eu-LISA

2.32. Given the nature of eu-LISA operations, the Agency uses consultancy services mainly in connection with IT 
projects. In 2017 the Agency’s IT projects were implemented within the budgets and timeframes set.

2.33. For the development and implementation of IT projects the agency applies an outsourcing model where some 
90 % of the related work is carried out by three contractors. Although IT projects are owned by and under the control of 
the Agency, a model under which the evolution and development activities for such sensitive IT systems is outsourced to 
such an extent creates risks of over-reliance and dependency on contractors.
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2.34. At the same time, the small number of staff in key operational units creates risks for the continuity of operations.

S h o r t c o m i n g s  p e r s i s t  i n  t h e  m a n a g e m e n t  o f  p r o c u r e m e n t s

2.35. The objective underlying public procurement is to ensure competition between economic operators and to achieve 
the most economically advantageous purchase in a transparent, objective and consistent manner on the basis of the 
applicable legal framework. For 14 agencies (BEREC Office, CEPOL, Chafea, eu-LISA, EASO, EBA, EEA, EFSA, EIGE, 
EUIPO, ERA, EASA, FRA and SRB) we observed weaknesses in public procurement, mostly relating to services, that put 
value for money at risk. Frequent shortcomings identified include; lack of adequate balance between price and quality 
aspects for contract award criteria, a non-optimal design of framework contracts, the use of framework contracts that 
allowed the purchase of services for which specifications and/or price were not sufficiently detailed and the unjustified use 
of intermediary services.

M o s t  a g e n c i e s  a n a l y s e d  B R E X I T  i m p l i c a t i o n s

2.36. On 29 March 2017 the United Kingdom (UK) notified the European Council of its decision to withdraw from the 
European Union (Brexit). Unlike most of the other agencies, five of them (ACER, BEREC Office, CEPOL, ENISA, EU- 
OSHA) did not carry out a comprehensive analysis of the likely Brexit impact on their organisation, operations and 
accounts.

Va c a n c y  n o t i c e s  c o u l d  b e  p u b l i s h e d  o n  t h e  E P S O  w e b s i t e

2.37. Most of the agencies (ACER, Cedefop, CEPOL, Chafea, EASA, EBA, ECHA, EEA, EIGE, EIOPA, EIT, EMA, 
EMCDDA, EMSA, ENISA, ESMA, eu-LISA, Eurojust, Europol, Frontex, GSA, SRB) publish vacancy notices on their 
own websites and on social media, but frequently not on the website of the European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO). A 
publication on the EPSO website would increase transparency and publicity, and allow citizens to identify vacancies 
published by all European institutions and agencies. The main reason given by the agencies is that EPSO accepts the 
publication of vacancy notices only if this is done in all EU official languages, which entails high translation costs.

F e w e r  o b s e r v a t i o n s  o n  t h e  l e g a l i t y  a n d  r e g u l a r i t y  o f  p a y m e n t s

2.38. The number of observations on the legality and regularity of payments decreased to eight (2016: 11), which 
illustrates the agencies’ continued efforts to comply with the legal framework, particularly the provisions laid down by the 
Financial and Staff Regulations. While five observations again addressed weaknesses related to procurement procedures 
(EASO, EASA, EIGE, Frontex), three observations related to recruitment procedures (EASO, Cedefop, Frontex).

B u d g e t a r y  m a n a g e m e n t  s h o w s  i m p r o v e m e n t s

2.39. Under the Financial Regulation, budget appropriations granted for a given year can be carried over to the next year 
under certain conditions (19). While the Financial Regulation does not set ceilings for such carry-overs and the multi-annual 
nature of operations can explain them to a considerable extent, excessive levels can indicate delays in the implementation of 
work programmes or procurement plans and can also be in contradiction with the budgetary principle of annuality.

2.40. Box 2.4 shows the number of agencies for which we reported on high carry-overs in 2017 and in previous years. 
The decrease to only two agencies (Chafea, EU-OSHA) in 2017 resulted from a better and more transparent explanation 
and justification of carry-overs by the agencies, but also by a change in our reporting approach in 2017. As from 2017, we 
are only reporting on carry-overs if we do not consider them sufficiently justified.
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Box 2.4

Decreasing number of observations on excessive or high carry-overs

Source: ECA based on information from agencies.

2.41. In addition, we reported cancellations of budget appropriations carried over from previous years for two agencies 
(Frontex, EUIPO). These indicated an overestimation of budgetary needs, notably on the part of public administrations of 
Member States and other cooperating countries.

A c c o u n t i n g  e n v i r o n m e n t s  c o u l d  b e  f u r t h e r  e n h a n c e d

2.42. In the course of this year’s annual audits, we also reviewed the agencies’ accounting environments, which are an 
important element for the preparation of reliable accounts. In accordance with the Financial Regulation, each agency has its 
own accounting officer, which has led to a situation where a total of 37 accounting officers are in charge of 2 % of the 
European budget. The main duties of the accounting officer are; implementing payments, collecting revenue and recovering 
amounts, preparing, presenting and keeping the accounts, laying down and validating the accounting systems and treasury 
management. In order to increase efficiency in 2012 the Commission’s accounting officer invited the agencies to delegate 
their accounting functions to him on a contractual basis. The first agency (to accept the proposal) was CEPOL in 2014. By 
the end of 2017, only three more agencies (GSA, BEREC Office, ACER) had joined this arrangement.

2.43. The hierarchical position of an accounting officer within an agency can affect his independence. In particular, 
accounting officers need to be independent from anyone having (sub-) delegation to authorise commitments and payments. 
We see a need to strengthen the accounting officer’s independence by making him directly responsible to the Agency’s 
Director (administratively) and Board (functionally). This observation was included for a total of 13 agencies (CdT, EACEA, 
EASA, EASME, EEA, EFSA, EIOPA, EMA, EMCDDA, ERA, EU-OSHA, Eurofound, FRA). This would also require the 
appointment and annual appraisal of the accounting officer to be the responsibility of the Board.

2.44. The Financial Regulation requires accounting officers to confirm the reliable functioning of the agencies’ 
accounting systems (validation). While for most of the agencies their accounting systems are covered by up-to-date 
validations, we found that major changes made to the accounting systems of seven of the agencies (ACER, BEREC Office, 
CEPOL, EASME, EIT, EMA, GSA) require a timely re-validation.

C 434/22 EN Official Journal of the European Union 30.11.2018



Box 2.5

Independence of agencies’ accounting officers and re-validation of accounting system overdue

Source: ECA based on information from agencies.

We  f o u n d  i n t e r n a l  c o n t r o l  w e a k n e s s e s  i n  s o m e  a g e n c i e s

2.45. For three agencies (EASO, CPVO, REA) the documentation relating to procurements, grant awards or 
recruitment procedures was inadequate.

2.46. Some weakness in the implementation of the internal control standard concerning their business continuity plan 
were identified for three agencies (ACER, EIT, Frontex). These weaknesses might create a considerable risk to business 
continuity in the event of major disasters, as data might be lost irretrievably.

A g e n c i e s  a r e  f o l l o w i n g  u p  o n  p r e v i o u s  y e a r s ’  a u d i t  f i n d i n g s

2.47. Where applicable, we provided a status report on follow-up actions taken by the agencies in response to 
observations from previous years.

Box 2.6 shows that for the 170 observations that had not been addressed at the end of 2016, corrective action was 
completed or ongoing in most cases. Out of the 13 outstanding observations, the corrective action needed in relation to 3 
observations was not under the agency’s control.
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Box 2.6

Agencies’ efforts to follow up previous years’ observations

Source: ECA.

We  r e p o r t  s u s p e c t e d  f r a u d  t o  O L A F

2.48. Fraud is an act of deliberate deception to gain a benefit. We report all suspected fraud cases detected during our 
audit work to OLAF, the European Union’s anti-fraud office. It is then up to OLAF to investigate and follow up these cases, 
where appropriate in co-operation with national judicial authorities. In 2017, we found and reported to OLAF three 
instances of suspected fraud in the approximately 1 000 transactions and 150 procurement procedures that we audited for 
our statements of assurance on the agencies. The instances of suspected fraud concerned procurement irregularities.

We  p r o v i d e  i n f o r m a t i o n  o n  t h e  C o m m i s s i o n ’ s  i n t e r n a l  a u d i t  s e r v i c e  ( I A S )  a n d  e x t e r n a l  
e v a l u a t i o n  r e p o r t s

2.49. We also referred, for information, to audit reports prepared by the IAS and to external evaluation reports prepared 
on behalf of the Commission. In 2017, there were 26 IAS reports and 9 instances where an external evaluation of an 
agency was carried out. We did not verify the related audit or evaluation processes.

AUDIT RESULTS FROM OTHER AGENCY-RELATED REPORTS ISSUED BY THE COURT IN 2017

ECA rapid case review on the implementation of the 5 % reduction of staff posts

2.50. In 2017 the Court issued a rapid case review (20) on how European Union institutions and agencies implemented 
the commitment made to cut 5 % of staff in their establishment plans during the period 2013-2017 (for agencies 2014- 
2018). For the agencies we concluded that the 5 % reduction had been implemented, albeit with some delays. Whilst 
decentralised agencies with traditional tasks managed to decrease staff by 8,9 %, staff increased by 19,9 % and 42,9 % for 
the new tasks and responsibilities of some decentralised and executive agencies respectively. Box 2.7 shows the impact of 
the percentage change on the staff posts in the establishment plans of all institutions, bodies and agencies.
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Box 2.7

Analysis of the variations in staff post numbers in the establishment plans between 2012 and 2017 (in percentage)

Source: ECA.

ECA special report on the SRB

2.51. The Brussels-based Single Resolution Board (SRB) was set up in August 2014 as part of the policy response to the 
financial crisis. Its mission is the resolution of any of the banks within its remit if they are failing. In January 2017 the SRB 
had 139 banks including 130 banking groups under its remit (21).

2.52. The special audit (22) examined whether the SRB is equipped to carry out bank resolutions effectively and analysed 
the quality of the SRB’s resolution planning for individual banks, whether the SRB was adequately set up to comply with its 
statutory framework for resolution planning and whether the SRB had adequate human resources to carry out its tasks.

2.53. We found shortcomings in all of these areas, although the set-up of the SRB as a completely new structure was a 
very significant challenge and any weaknesses must be seen in this context. We made a number of recommendations 
relating to the preparation of resolution plans and completing its rules and guidance and on the improvement of staffing 
levels and HR procedures.
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ECA specific annual report on contingent liabilities arising as a result of the SRB’s performance of its tasks

2.54. The Single Resolution Mechanism Regulation provides (23) that the Court must prepare a report on any contingent 
liabilities arising as a result of the performance by the SRB, the Council and the Commission of their tasks under this 
Regulation. As of 31 December 2016, the SRB’s contingent liability amounted to 842 million euros from ex ante 
contributions, which rose to 1 420 million euros as of 30 September 2017. No bank resolutions were initiated by the SRB 
in 2016 and consequently no contingent liability was to be disclosed in relation to resolution decisions for the financial 
year 2016. However, due to the resolution decision taken on Banco Popular Español S.A. in June 2017, 90 legal cases had 
been brought against the SRB before the General Court of the European Court of Justice (ECJ) and 46 appeals submitted to 
the SRB’s appeal panel by the end of October 2017 when our 2016 report on contingent liabilities arising as a result of the 
SRB’s performance of its tasks was published. The Commission and the Council had been notified of 26 cases brought 
before the General Court of the ECJ in connection with that same resolution decision. The related contingent liabilities will 
be subject to our audit and report for the financial year 2017.

Other ECA special reports also referring to one or more agencies

2.55. Apart from audit reports specifically dedicated to the agencies, in the course of 2017 we also issued a number of 
special audit reports on EU policy implementation which referred to a number of agencies (see Box 2.8).
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Box 2.8

Other ECA special audit reports referring to agencies

Source: ECA.
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THE EU AGENCIES NETWORK’S REPLY

The Agencies appreciate the Court’s positive conclusions on the reliability of their accounts and the transactions underlying 
them.

2.27. The Network would like to express its concern that given the fact that the Commission only provides a basic 
package of modules to Agencies in Sysper, Agencies have been and will be obliged to continue maintaining separate tools 
such as, e.g. for appraisal, teleworking, flexitime and HR reporting. The IT landscape in HR management will therefore only 
partially become more uniform and much less so than the Commission could have decided to.

Agencies are also investigating the possibility to adopt a shared service solution supporting recruitment processes currently 
not covered by Sysper.

2.39. In the area of procurement, there has been a clear trend towards harmonisation of the e-tools in the recent 2 years. 
It started softly back in 2015-16 when e-Prior e-procurement suite designed by DIGIT in coordination with BUDG was 
created. Since then this suite of e-modules covering all the phases of the procurement cycle became more and more a 
standard to which the EU Agencies are adhering. In 2018 this trend further intensified with new e-submission modules and 
ABAC LCK module being introduced and open to Agencies. While still to be developed e-evaluation and e-award modules. 
Agencies step by step abandon their own isolated tools, some more quickly, other more slowly, but this trend is 
unstoppable.

2.42. The suggested efficiency gains that a delegation to the European Commission could lead to are in reality hard to 
achieve. It is the not the sum of the budget that decides the workload only, but the finalisation of the accounts in a tight 
window at the beginning of the year. The experience is that when having to conclude more than one set of accounts (i.e. 
with additional funding via delegation agreements) it requires almost double the manpower despite smaller amounts (and 
fewer transactions). By delegating to the Commission, each Agency is still required to have a so-called ‘antenna’ as there will 
still be accounting-related tasks to be implemented. Hence competencies related to accounting would have to be kept, and 
given this the specialisation the minor gain in released efforts cannot be redeployed to other tasks. As long as this is the 
case, the saving will not be a full-time equivalent. In addition hereto is the annual fee that has to be paid. Consequently few 
Agencies have chosen to delegate this task to the Commission.

2.43. The Network would like to underline that there is no background or risk analysis that can justify the conclusion 
that the accountants independence will increase by reporting directly to the Authorising Officer as opposed to an 
Authorising Officer by delegation. Some Agencies opted for the adoption of a Charter for the Accounting Officer including 
provisions for reporting to the Governing Board if required.
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CHAPTER 3

Statements of Assurance and other agency-specific audit results
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3.1. INFORMATION IN SUPPORT OF THE STATEMENTS OF ASSURANCE

Basis for opinions

3.1.1. We conducted our audit in accordance with the IFAC International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Codes of 
Ethics and the INTOSAI International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAIs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our report. We are independent in accordance 
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance

3.1.2. In accordance with Articles 310 to 325 of the TFEU and the agencies’ Financial Regulations, agencies’ 
management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of their accounts on the basis of internationally accepted 
accounting standards for the public sector and for the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying them. This 
includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Management is also 
responsible for ensuring that the activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are in 
compliance with the authorities which govern them. Agencies’ managements bear the ultimate responsibility for the legality 
and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts of the agencies.

3.1.3. In preparing the accounts, management is responsible for assessing an agency’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

3.1.4. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the agencies’ financial reporting process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the accounts and underlying transactions

3.1.5. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the accounts of the agencies are free from 
material misstatement and the transactions underlying them are legal and regular and to provide, on the basis of our audit, 
the European Parliament and the Council or the other respective discharge authorities with statements of assurance as to 
the reliability of the agencies’ accounts and the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying them. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit will always detect a material misstatement or non- 
compliance when it exists. These can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
accounts.

3.1.6. For revenue, we verify subsidies received from the Commission or cooperating countries and assess the agencies’ 
procedures for collecting fees and other income, if any.

3.1.7. For expenditure, we examine payment transactions when expenditure has been incurred, recorded and accepted. 
This examination covers all categories of payments (including those made for the purchase of assets) other than advances at 
the point they are made. Advance payments are examined when the recipient of funds provides justification for their proper 
use and an agency accepts the justification by clearing the advance payment, whether in the same year or later.

3.1.8. As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs and ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the accounts and of material non-compliance of the underlying 
transactions with the requirements of the legal framework of the European Union, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement or non-compliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal 
control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on an agency’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause an entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the accounts, including the disclosures, and whether the 
accounts represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the agencies to express an opinion 
on the accounts and transactions underlying them. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 
of the audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

— Considered the audit work of the independent external auditor performed on the agencies’ accounts as stipulated in 
Article 208(4) of the EU Financial Regulation (24), where applicable.

3.1.9. We communicate with the management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

3.1.10. From the matters communicated with the agencies, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the accounts of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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A g e n c i e s  f u n d e d  u n d e r  M F F  h e a d i n g  1 a  —  C o m p e t i t i v e n e s s  f o r  g r o w t h  a n d  
j o b s

3.2. AGENCY FOR THE COOPERATION OF ENERGY REGULATORS (ACER)

INTRODUCTION

3.2.1. The Agency for the Cooperation of Energy Regulators (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘ACER’), which is located in 
Ljubljana, was created by Regulation (EC) No 713/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council (25). The Agency's 
main task is to assist National Regulatory Authorities in exercising, at Union level, the regulatory tasks that they perform in 
the Member States and, where necessary, to coordinate their action. Under the REMIT regulation (26), the Agency was given 
additional responsibilities, together with national regulatory authorities, regarding the monitoring of the European 
wholesale energy market.

3.2.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (27).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 16 13

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 103 91

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: budget published in OJ.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.2.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (28) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (29) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).
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(27) More information on the Agency’s competences and activities is available on its website: www.acer.europa.eu.
(28) The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement 

of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
(29) The reports on implementation of the budget comprise the reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory 

notes.

http://www.acer.europa.eu


Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.2.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.

Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.2.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.2.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.2.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.2.8. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments, including 
the aspect of the timely (re-)validation of accounting systems. In October 2017 the Agency delegated its accounting 
function to the Commission’s Accounting Officer. Despite this significant change, the last validation of the accounting 
system was done in 2011.

OBSERVATIONS ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

3.2.9. In 2011, an additional task in the area of wholesale energy market monitoring (REMIT) was assigned to the 
Agency. In 2017, all the elements foreseen by the REMIT monitoring framework were in force for the first time. However, 
while initially a disaster data recovery site for REMIT was established in Maribor, Slovenia, this was moved in April 2017 to 
the Agency’s main data centre in Ljubljana. Consequently, the backup data now is stored at the same location as the original 
data. This causes a considerable risk to business continuity in case of major disasters, as data might get lost irrevocably.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.2.10. On 29 March 2017 the United Kingdom (UK) notified the European Council of its decision to withdraw from the 
European Union (Brexit). Unlike most of the other agencies, the Agency did not carry out a comprehensive analysis of the 
likely Brexit impact on its organisation, operations and accounts.

3.2.11. The Agency publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but usually not on the website of 
the European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.
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3.2.12. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (30), (31). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 
2017, the Agency had not yet introduced any of these tools.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.2.13. In 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on ‘Human Resources Management’ at 
ACER (32). The Agency prepared an action plan to address some potential areas for improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.2.14. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2014

According to the Seat Agreement between the Agency and the 
Slovenian government a European School will be established in 
Slovenia. However, more than four years after the agreement no 
European School has been set up.

Ongoing

2016

In its audit report dated May 2016, the Commission’s Internal Audit 
Service (IAS) highlighted a strong need to clarify roles and 
responsibilities and to analyse workload in the procurement cell in 
order to achieve more efficient processes and procedures. It also 
concluded that procurement planning and monitoring needs to be 
significantly improved. The Agency and IAS agreed on a plan to take 
corrective action.

Ongoing

2016

The Agency carried over 4,9 million euros, i.e. 86 % of committed 
appropriations for Title III operational expenditure (2015: 1,4 mil-
lion euros, i.e. 59 %). As was the case in previous years, carry-overs 
mainly relate to the implementation of the REMIT Regulation on 
wholesale energy market integrity and transparency with 4,7 million 
euros in 2016 (2015: 1,1 million euros). For Title II administrative 
expenditure the Agency carried over 1 million euros, i.e. 38 % of 
committed appropriations (2015: 0,8 million euros, i.e. 35 %).

N/A

2016

The increasing level of carry-overs is a matter of concern and in 
contradiction with the budgetary principle of annuality. It is directly 
linked to a concentration of procurement procedures finalised and 
contracts signed late in the year, leading to deliveries and/or 
payments in the following year. In 2016, 98 out of 299 contracts 
were signed in November and December (5 976 122,47 euros or 
40 % of the total value of contracts concluded in 2016). The Agency 
may consider introducing differentiated budget appropriations to 
better reflect the multi-annual nature of operations and unavoidable 
delays between the signature of contracts, deliveries and payments.

Ongoing
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.2.8. The Agency agrees with the finding and would like to clarify that the Agency is recording all its financial 
transactions in the financial system provided by the European Commission, which is updated, maintained and validated by 
the Commission. With the accounting services outsourced to the Commission as from October 2017, the Agency will 
accept the validation of the accounting system that will be provided by the Commission in 2018.

3.2.9. Ever since the ARIS Primary and Disaster Recovery sites were migrated to the internal ACER Data Centre in early 
April 2016 and integrated into one single site to optimise and advance performance and address increasing space 
requirements in June 2017, business continuity can no longer be ensured. However, it has to be noted that the current 
situation, in which business continuity cannot be guaranteed, has been forced onto the Agency by the significant reduction 
in its budget over the last two years. The Agency has repeatedly alerted the Commission and the Budgetary Authority of the 
severe consequences of the budgetary limitations it faces, but without any result in terms of additional resources. The 
Agency will continue to assess the possibility to re-establish a disaster recovery site for ARIS, but currently does not have 
the budget to do so in 2018. The re-establishment of the disaster recovery site would require the Agency to be provided 
with additional financial resources.

3.2.10. Given that the risks related to Brexit have been considered very low and limited, the possible impact of Brexit 
was only informally analysed by the management in 2017. In early 2018 the Agency conducted a comprehensive analysis 
on the impact of Brexit on its governance, operations and financial areas highlighting the impact and actions required.

3.2.11. In 2014 the Administrative Board of the Agency adopted Decision AB No 15/2014 on the language regime of 
the Agency. Despite this, the Agency still has to translate the vacancy notices published on the EPSO website in all official 
EU languages. Due to its severe financial resource limitations, repeatedly highlighted to the Budgetary Authority, the Agency 
cannot afford the cost of translation of every vacancy notice in all the EU official languages, in order for these notices to be 
published on the EPSO website. Still, in 2017, four of the nine vacancy notices, including two open calls, were published on 
the EPSO website and thus translated in all EU official languages. The remaining five vacancy notices for posts in 
operational departments were published only on the Agency website, as these were mainly of interest to candidates already 
working in the sector, who typically follow the activities of the Agency, including our website. This approach struck a 
pragmatic balance between reaching out to potential candidates and an efficient use of the limited resources.

3.2.12. The Agency is not yet using the Commission’s IT solution for e-invoicing, e-tendering and e-submission. In the 
course of 2018 the Agency will start with e-tendering which will subsequently be extended with the use of e-submission 
and e-invoicing during the course of 2019.

3.2.13. Following the report of the Commission’s Internal Audit Services (IAS) on ‘Human Resources Management’ the 
Agency has agreed with the IAS on an action plan and is currently implementing the recommended improvements.
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3.3. BODY OF EUROPEAN REGULATORS FOR ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS (BEREC)

INTRODUCTION

3.3.1. The Office of the Body of European Regulators for Electronic Communications (hereinafter ‘the Office’), which is 
located in Riga, was established by Regulation (EC) No 1211/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council (33). The 
Office’s main task is to provide professional and administrative support services to the Body of European Regulators for 
Electronic Communications (BEREC) and, under the guidance of the Board of Regulators, to collect and analyse information 
on electronic communications and to disseminate among National Regulatory Authorities regulatory best practices such as 
common approaches, methodologies or guidelines on the implementation of the EU regulatory framework.

3.3.2. The Table presents key figures for the Office (34).

Table

Key figures for the Office

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 4 4

Total staff as at 31 December (2) 27 27

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Office

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.3.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Office which comprise the financial statements (35) and the reports on the implementation of the 
budget (36) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.3.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Office for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Office at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.3.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.3.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

Other matter

3.3.7. In December 2016, the Office requested translations from CdT for four calls for expression of interest for the 
establishment of staff reserve lists, even though all posts authorised by the budgetary authorities in its establishment plan 
were filled. In our view, there was no justification for the translation request in December 2016. The related payment 
made in March 2017 amounted to 106 432,50 euros (i.e. 2,5 % of the 2017 budget).

3.3.8. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.3.9. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments, including 
the aspect of the timely (re-)validation of accounting systems. The Office delegated its accounting function to the 
Commission’s Accounting Officer in 2016. In 2017, the Office introduced a new paperless system. While these events 
caused significant modifications to the Office’s procedures and the accounting system, it was not re-validated since 2013.

OBSERVATIONS ON BUDGETARY MANAGEMENT

3.3.10. In December 2017, the Office signed both legal and budgetary commitments of 20 000 euros for a training 
planned for the end of March 2018. The financing of 2018 activities from the 2017 budget is in contradiction with the 
budgetary principle of annuality.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.3.11. In August 2015, the Office launched a call for tender to conclude a four-year multiple framework service 
contract in cascade with an estimated market volume of 3 million euros for the organisation and planning of events such as 
meetings, workshops, conferences, etc. The award criteria did not attach sufficient weight to the price element. 
Furthermore, the potential event costs were not covered by the competitive procedure, but only the tenderer’s management 
fee. The procurement procedure, therefore, did not ensure adequate competition on price and the contract may not 
represent the most economically advantageous offer.

3.3.12. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (37), (38). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. the Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 
2017 the Office had introduced e-tendering for certain procedures, but not e-invoicing and e-submission.

30.11.2018 EN Official Journal of the European Union C 434/39

(37) Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1271/2013, Article 79 e-Government.
(38) Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012, Article 95(2) e-Government.



3.3.13. On 29 March 2017 the United Kingdom (UK) notified the European Council of its decision to withdraw from the 
European Union (Brexit). Unlike most of the other agencies, the Office did not carry out a comprehensive analysis of the 
likely Brexit impact on its organisation, operations and accounts.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.3.14. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2014

The 2014 budget provision for contributions from EFTA’s (1) 
national regulatory authorities having observer status at BEREC 
did not materialise in the absence of agreements with EFTA 
countries.

Outstanding

(Not under the Office’s control)

2016

In March 2016 the Office launched a procurement procedure with 
the aim to sign one framework contract (FWC) with the two existing 
international schools in Riga for the children of its staff. While the 
technical specifications of the tender state that the Office would 
establish one multiple framework contract in cascade with two 
economic operators, the award criteria state that the choice of the 
school is with the parents. Consequently, the 400 000 euros 
framework contract signed in July 2016 is based on contradicting 
concepts, causing legal uncertainty to the Office and the schools. 
Moreover, in this specific case a FWC was unnecessary.

N/A

2016
Following reclassification, one staff member was assigned to a 
higher grade directly at step 2 instead of step 1, which is not in line 
with the EU Staff Regulations.

N/A

2016

In March 2016 the Office signed a 60 000 euros for the provision of 
human resources related professional support and consultancy 
services. The procurement procedure was exclusively based on price. 
The engagement of a consultant without considering competence 
and expertise as award criteria does not ensure best value for money.

N/A

2016

In 2016, the average employment period in the Office was 
2,58 years and staff turnover was high with 25 %. This situation 
affects the Office’s efficiency and poses risks to the implementation 
of its work programmes. A possible reason is the salary correction 
coefficient applied for the host state (73 % as at 1 July 2016).

Completed

2016

The Office’s founding regulation does not require periodical external 
performance evaluations. The Office should, together with the 
Commission, consider commissioning such an evaluation at least 
every five years, as is the case for most of the other Agencies. Any 
future revision of the founding regulation should introduce such a 
requirement.

Outstanding

(Not under the Office’s control)

(1) European Free Trade Association
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THE OFFICE’S REPLY

3.3.7. In view of the high staff turnover identified by the management as a risk factor to execute its work programme the 
Management Committee (MC) of the BEREC Office requested the establishment of reserve lists for minimum 75 % (39) of 
the job profiles in the Agency. To comply with the obligation to publish the calls for expression of interest (40) on EPSO 
website (41) BEREC Office needed to translate the documents in all official languages of the EU. The use of pre-established 
reserve lists enables the Agency to comply with the requirement of the MC to keep the vacancy rate below 15 % and to send 
job offers with 1 month from the establishment of a recruitment need. To reduce the high expenses on mandatory 
translations in the future, the BEREC Office plans to develop standard templates of calls and short specific parts for 
translations.

3.3.9. In 2016 BEREC Office outsourced its accounting services to the European Commission (EC). Therefore the EC 
Accounting Officer (within DG Budget) provides all services required by Articles 50 of the Framework Financial Regulation 
applicable to Agencies, including validation of local systems. The validation approach is currently under way and 
announced by the EC Accounting Officer via an official note under ref: Ares(2018)3149885 on 14 June 2018. The EC 
Accounting Officer’s services will conclude the process and issue a report on the results during the 4th quarter of 2018.

3.3.10. BEREC Office started preparation for the training event already in November 2017, having contacted the 
potential trainers and reviewing the availability of the venues. Therefore, it was necessary to sign the contract with the event 
organiser to ensure the availability of trainers and moderators and to secure the venue for the planned dates of the training. 
The contract was signed in December 2017 and consequently a budget commitment was opened prior to the contract 
signature, as required by the Financial Regulation. Experiences show that to organise a training event in the first quarter of a 
year is very challenging without a carry-over from the previous year so for future training events the BEREC Office will 
consider different timing.

3.3.11. The choice of a FWC was made in 2015. At that time a ‘cost-plus-fixed-fee contract’ was considered as compliant 
with the Financial Regulation since several cost-plus-fixed-fee contracts were and are still currently used by other EU 
institutions (e.g. travel agency or banking services).

Due to the specificities of the BEREC operation a large part of the expenses related to BEREC events covered by the BEREC 
Office are related to reimbursement of experts, mainly to public bodies established in the EU Member States (e.g. national 
regulatory authorities — NRAs). It should therefore be noted that the contractor has no influence on this type of 
expenditure. Further to the comments and valuable exchange of views with ECA, in the relaunch of the procurement the 
BEREC Office will consider also other types of FWCs, which did not exist under the legal framework in force in 2015.

3.3.12. The BEREC Office takes note on the Court’s observations and informs the latter that it is planning to implement 
these modules by the end on 2018, taking into consideration the budget availability of the Agency.

3.3.13. Currently the Agency does not employ UK nationals, who might be affected. The impact on the Agency 
workload could be assessed only after the final decision on the relations between the EU and the UK. Having in mind the 
fact that the BEREC Office budgets and staffing were not amended when Croatia joined the EU to address the additional 
expenditure and workload and considering the small budget of the BEREC Office, similar approach could be expected with 
the Brexit.
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(39) See paragraph 9 of MC (16) 136, Annual and Multiannual Programming of the BEREC Office Activities 2017-2019, 09.12.2016; 
https://berec.europa.eu/eng/document_register/subject_matter/berec_office/office_annual_work_programmes/6594-annual-and- 
multiannual-programming-of-the-berec-office-activities-2017-2019

(40) Referred to in the opinion as ‘vacancies’.
(41) Article 11, Decision MC/2015/3: Decision of the BEREC Office MC on laying down general implementing provisions on the 

procedure governing the engagement and use of temporary staff under Article 2(f) of the Conditions of Employment of Other 
Servants of the European Union.
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3.4. EUROPEAN CENTRE FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF VOCATIONAL TRAINING (CEDEFOP)

INTRODUCTION

3.4.1. The European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training (hereinafter ‘the Centre’, aka ‘Cedefop’), which is 
located in Thessaloniki, was established by Council Regulation (EEC) No 337/75 (42). Its core mandate is to serve the 
development of vocational training at Union level. In order to achieve this objective, it has the task of compiling and 
disseminating documentation on vocational training systems.

3.4.2. The Table presents key figures for the Centre (43).

Table

Key figures for the Centre

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 18 18

Total staff as at 31 December (2) 122 117

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Centre

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.4.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Centre which comprise the financial statements (44) and the reports on the implementation of the 
budget (45) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.4.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Centre for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Centre at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.
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(42) OJ L 39, 13.2.1975, p. 1.
(43) More information on the Centre's competences and activities is available on its website: www.cedefop.europa.eu.
(44) The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement 

of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
(45) The reports on implementation of the budget comprise the reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory 

notes.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.4.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.4.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.4.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE LEGALITY AND REGULARITY OF TRANSACTIONS

3.4.8. The management of two recruitment procedures for management positions was weak and the procedures are 
considered irregular. There was insufficient proof of the requested managerial experience and confidentiality requirements 
were not met, calling into question the equal treatment of candidates.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.4.9. The Centre publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but usually not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

3.4.10. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (46), (47). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the 
electronic version of the EU Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e- 
submission). By the end of 2017 the Centre had not introduced any of these tools.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.4.11. In November 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service (IAS) issued an audit report on the Centre’s Web- 
based services (48). The Centre prepared an action plan for any potential areas for improvement.
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(46) Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1271/2013, Article 79 e-Government.
(47) Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012, Article 95(2) e-Government.
(48) We did not verify the audit work.



THE CENTRE’S REPLY

COMMENTS ON THE LEGALITY AND REGULARITY OF TRANSACTIONS

3.4.8. We acknowledge the comment from the Court on the irregularity of the two recruitment procedures. Cedefop is 
carrying out an in-depth assessment of both procedures and is considering remedial measures both concerning the two 
procedures at stake and recruitment procedures in general to address the weaknesses identified by the Court.

COMMENTS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.4.9. Cedefop uses the EPSO platform in some cases. Cedefop publishes its vacancy notices on its own homepage as 
well as on the Inter-Agencies online platform which is accessible to all EU citizens and uses various channels to share 
vacancies such as ReferNet, Skillsnet, Governing Board as well as other means such as networks of economists etc. Cedefop 
publishes the vacancies of the Director and Deputy Director in EPSO and uses its social media for key positions. 
Considering the extra cost for the translation of the vacancy notices in all EU languages for the EPSO portal, Cedefop 
considers it is not proportional to the gain we stand to have.

3.4.10. Cedefop is in the process of joining the e-Tendering and e-Submission (modules of e-Prior platform) in autumn 
2018, which is in line with the deadline set in the Directive 2014/24/EU on public procurement for all Contracting 
Authorities to use electronic exchange of information with economic operators (http://ec.europa.eu/growth/single-market/ 
public-procurement/e-procurement_en).

In this regard Cedefop collaborates with DIGIT, the Directorate-General of the Commission responsible for the on-boarding 
of Contracting Authorities. The first open tendering procedure with e-Tendering and e-Submission will be launched in 
October 2018. All open procedures will be launched using the e-tools from then on.

The time of the launch of e-invoicing is depending on the decision of Cedefop management to deploy ABAC (which 
supports e-Invoicing as a module) or to continue with the in-house platform, Fibus (which will necessitate the development 
of a link to e-Invoicing platform).
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3.5. EUROPEAN AVIATION SAFETY AGENCY (EASA)

INTRODUCTION

3.5.1. The European Aviation Safety Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘EASA’), which is located in Cologne, was 
established by Regulation (EC) No 1592/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council (49) which was repealed by 
Regulation (EC) No 216/2008 (50). The Agency has been given specific regulatory and executive tasks in the field of aviation 
safety.

3.5.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (51).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 193 192

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 774 771

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.5.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (52) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (53) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.5.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.
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(49) OJ L 240, 7.9.2002, p. 1.
(50) OJ L 79, 19.3.2008, p. 1.
(51) More information on the Agency’s competences and activities is available on its website: www.easa.europa.eu.
(52) The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement 

of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
(53) The reports on implementation of the budget comprise the reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory 

notes.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.5.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.5.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.5.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.5.8. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments including 
the hierarchical position and independence of accounting officers. The superior of the Agency’s accounting officer is the 
Head of Finance Department. We see a need to strengthen the accounting officer’s independence by making him directly 
responsible to the Agency’s Director (administrative) and Management Board (functional).

OBSERVATIONS ON THE LEGALITY AND REGULARITY OF TRANSACTIONS

3.5.9. Framework contracts are agreements with suppliers to establish terms governing specific purchases during the life 
of the agreement. For the procurement of IT services for a volume of up to 22 million euros, the Agency chose to use 
framework contracts with three contractors in cascade. Under such procedure, a ranking of contractors (the cascade) is 
established resulting from a competitive procedure and all specific purchases have to follow this ranking. However, the 
terms used in the framework contract were not specific enough to allow fair competition and to justify a ranking of 
contractors for all future specific purchases. According to the rules of application of the Financial Regulation (54), in such 
circumstances a competitive procedure between the selected contractors must be used for the specific purchases.

3.5.10. According to the Agency’s Financial Regulation (55), procurements must be approved by the Management Board 
either in the Agency’s annual work programme or by an ad hoc financing decision. One IT framework contract for a 
maximum amount of 15 million euros has been procured and signed although the financing decision covered an amount of 
5 million euros only.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.5.11. In 2014, the Commission on behalf of more than 50 EU Institutions and bodies including EASA signed a 
framework contract with one contractor for the acquisition of IT hard and software and the provision of maintenance and 
support (IT services). The framework contractor acts as an intermediary between the Agency and suppliers that can deliver 
the IT services. While most of these IT services and related prices were defined in the framework contract resulting from the 
competitive procurement procedure, it also allows the purchase of IT services not specifically mentioned. In the case of one 
audited payment amounting to some 300 000 euros the Agency purchased, through the contractor, IT services without any 
competitive procedure. In 2017, total payments to the framework contractor amounted to 2 million euros.

3.5.12. The Agency publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would, increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.
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3.5.13. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (56), (57). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). According to 
information from the Commission, by the end of 2017 the Agency had introduced e-tendering and e-submission for certain 
procedures, but not e-invoicing.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.5.14. In 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on ‘The preparation of the European 
Plan for Aviation Safety’ by EASA (58). The Agency prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.5.15. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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(56) Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1271/2013, Article 79 e-Government.
(57) Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012, Article 95(2) e-Government.
(58) We did not verify the audit work.



ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

Although 2016 industry financed activities resulted in a deficit of 
7,6 million euros, budgetary results fluctuate over the years (1) and 
the Agency has accumulated a 52 million euros surplus from this 
category of activity. The Agency’s Founding Regulation establishes 
that Industry fees levied should be adequate to cover the Agency’s 
cost for the related certification activities. It does not, however, 
foresee an accumulated surplus.

Ongoing

2016

Over the period 2014 to 2016, the Agency spent 9,4 million euros 
(4,4 million euros in 2016) from its accumulated surplus in 
financing the 12,4 million euros refurbishment (and removal) cost 
for the Agency’s relocation to a new building. The Commission also 
contributed 3 million euros from the EU budget for this purpose. 
This financing split between industry and Union contributions was 
in line with the standard cost allocation methodology employed by 
the Agency and resulted in these works being financed, in large part 
from industry fees.

N/A

(1) In 2014 and 2015, there were surpluses of 15,3 million and 16,9 million euros, respectively.
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.5.8. The Agency takes note of the Court’s observation. The Agency has discussed this topic in the Network of Agencies 
forum to explore possibilities and to arrive at a common position. The Agency will implement the agreed common 
approach and will consider in any case clearly separate the accountant role from any operationalisation function as well as 
engaging the Management Board in the renewal and appraisal cycle.

3.5.9. In preparation for this procedure, the Agency performed a market prospectus and it concluded that the main IT 
service providers support all required services in the scope of this procedure. As a result, the Agency surmised that a 
multiple framework contract with re-opening of competition would have led to a high administrative complexity, which 
was considered disproportionate to a benefit it could potentially bring. As has been the case to date with high-value 
procurement procedures and as a result of the Court’s comment, going forward, the Agency will place increased 
consideration on the reopening of competitions in order to ensure enhance competition.

3.5.10. This framework contract intends to support the proof of concept and inception phase of a novel project 
(Data4Safety) for which the funding and structure has been evolving over months with a number of parties. The contract 
was for 15 million euro, however the financial commitments amount finally to a maximum 4 million euro. Thus, 
eliminating the possibility to make payments above this amount.

3.5.11. The Agency considered this approach to be in accordance with the principle of sound financial management 
when using the existing inter-institutional FWC. In the noted case, a remuneration of 24 816,60 euro was regarded as 
adequate compared to the volume of the purchase and the necessary effort. This facility was foreseen in the Framework 
contract and the Agency availed of such as outlined in the contract.

3.5.12. In 2015, the Management Board of the Agency decided (Decision no. 08-2015) that the working language 
regime at EASA with regard to the recruitment and selection procedures shall be English. This decision has been 
communicated to EPSO who does not accept this decision as an exception to their rules of publication of VNs in all 
languages and this decision is not proportional to the needs of the Agency. The network of Agencies has recently 
established an online platform for Agencies to publish their vacancy notices more widely. EASA routinely publishes 
external VNs on this new platform.

3.5.13. As noted by the Court, the e-submission tool for procurement procedures was implemented last year. For the e- 
invoicing, the business specifications have been finalised in 2017 and an IT solution is being sought within the constraints 
of resources and priorities of the Agency.
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3.6. EUROPEAN BANKING AUTHORITY (EBA)

INTRODUCTION

3.6.1. The European Banking Authority (hereinafter ‘the Authority’, aka ‘EBA’), which is located in London, was 
established by Regulation (EU) No 1093/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council (59). The Authority’s task is to 
contribute to the establishment of high-quality common regulatory and supervisory standards and practices, to contribute 
to the consistent application of legally binding Union acts, to stimulate and facilitate the delegation of tasks and 
responsibilities among competent authorities, to monitor and assess market developments in the area of its competence and 
to foster depositor and investor protection.

3.6.2. The Table presents key figures for the Authority (60).

Table

Key figures for the Authority

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 37 38

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 161 190

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Authority.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.6.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Authority which comprise the financial statements (61) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (62) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.6.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Authority for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Authority at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash 
flows, and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with 
accounting rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted 
accounting standards for the public sector.

30.11.2018 EN Official Journal of the European Union C 434/51

(59) OJ L 331, 15.12.2010, p. 12.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.6.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.6.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

Emphasis of matter

3.6.7. Without calling into question its opinion, the Court draws attention to the fact that the United Kingdom (UK) 
notified the European Council on 29 March 2017 of its decision to withdraw from the European Union. An agreement 
setting out the arrangements for its withdrawal is currently being negotiated. The accounts and related notes of the 
Authority, which is located in London, were prepared using the information available at the date of signature (3 May 
2018).

3.6.8. On 20 November 2017, the General Affairs Council of the European Union agreed to move the seat of the 
Authority to Paris, France. The removal is planned for the beginning of 2019 and the Authority’s accounts include 
provisions for related costs amounting to 6,7 million euros and disclose 11,2 million euros remaining future contractual 
payments as scheduled for the Office in London.

3.6.9. Furthermore, the Authority’s budget is financed by 40 % from European Union funds and by 60 % through 
direct contributions from EU Member States. A future decrease of the Authority’s revenue resulting from the UK’s 
decision to leave the EU is possible.

3.6.10. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.6.11. In four out of five audited open procurement procedures only one tenderer met the award criteria on quality and 
all other tenderers were excluded. This situation indicates that the Authority puts an over-emphasis on quality criteria. Such 
procedures do not allow the identification of the most economically advantageous solutions, which should show a fair 
balance between quality and price.

3.6.12. The Authority publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but usually not on the website 
of the European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to 
identify vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

3.6.13. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (63), (64). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission).By the end of 
2017 the Authority had introduced e-invoicing and e-tendering for certain procedures, but not e-submission.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE AND EXTERNAL EVALUATION REPORTS

3.6.14. In 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on ‘Supervisory Convergence — 
Colleges & Training’ (65). The Authority prepared an action plan to address any potential areas of improvement.
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(63) Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1271/2013, Article 79 e-Government.
(64) Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012, Article 95(2) e-Government.
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3.6.15. An external evaluation of the three European Supervisory Authorities (66) (authorities) was carried out in 2017 
on behalf of the Commission (67).

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.6.16. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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(66) EBA, the European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority and the European Security and Markets Authority.
(67) We did not verify the evaluation work.



ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2012

In order to cover higher school fees, the Authority grants staff whose 
children attend primary or secondary school an education 
contribution in addition to the education allowances provided for 
in the Staff Regulations. Total 2012 education contributions 
amounted to some 76 000 euros. They are not covered by the Staff 
Regulations and therefore irregular.

Completed
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THE AUTHORITY’S REPLY

3.6.11. When running procurement procedures, the EBA seeks to use all the tools at its disposal to maximise 
competition. In four of the five procedures the quality: price weighting was 60:40 and it was 50:50 in the other. We 
consider that the low level of participation in the financial evaluation cited by the Court was attributable to factors outside 
the control of the EBA, including low bidding interest (driven by exchange rate risk, contract size, high tendering costs and 
low profit margins) and the poor quality of technical proposals.

3.6.12. EBA publishes its vacancy notices in a wide variety of places: EBA webpage; Twitter and LinkedIn; EU Training; 
EuroBrussels and EurActiv; ESCB HRC network; Financial Times and similar (for higher-profile posts). In February 2018, 
EBA published 10 vacancy notices on EPSO in all EU languages. EBA believes that, by using the above channels for 
publishing vacancy notices, EBA is fully transparent and reaches the target audience among EU citizens.

3.6.13. The EBA will implement e-Submission in 2019, following training in and testing of the updates to the system 
implemented in the first semester of this year.
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3.7. EUROPEAN CHEMICALS AGENCY (ECHA)

INTRODUCTION

3.7.1. The European Chemicals Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘ECHA’), which is located in Helsinki, was set up by 
Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council (68). Its main tasks are to ensure a high level 
of protection of human health and the environment as well as the free movement of substances on the internal market 
while enhancing competitiveness and innovation. The Agency also promotes the development of alternative methods for 
the assessment of hazards relating to substances.

3.7.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (69).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 110 112

Total staff as at 31 December (2) 578 563

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.7.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (70) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (71) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.7.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.
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Emphasis of matter

3.7.5. Without calling into question its opinion expressed in paragraph 3.7.4., the Court would like to emphasise that 
the Agency is partly self-financed and receives a fee from every company requesting the registration of chemicals as 
required under the REACH Regulation (72). The applicable fees depend on the size of the companies (micro, small, 
medium, large) and the volume of chemicals (different thresholds) registered.

3.7.6. As laid down in the Implementing Regulation (73), the Agency calculates and invoices the fees on the basis of 
information provided by the companies at application. Since the first registrations in 2009 some 30 % of the companies 
claimed to be micro, small or medium size. The Agency spent considerable efforts to introduce a system of ex post 
verifications checking the information on the company size provided by those applicants. This allowed the Agency to 
identify that, based on the verifications completed thus far, some 55 % of the abovementioned companies who claimed 
to be of a micro, small or medium size (16 % of all companies) had categorised their size incorrectly resulting in lower 
fees. In order to mitigate this situation the Agency has invoiced over the years fee corrections amounting to some 
16,4 million euros following ex post verifications. However, there is a considerable verification backlog and the remaining 
amount of necessary fee corrections was unknown at the end of 2017 (74). This finding demonstrates the limitation of a 
system that relies excessively on self-declarations made by applicants.

According to the REACH Regulation, the verification of volumes declared by the companies is under the responsibility of 
Member States’ national enforcement authorities. Therefore, the Agency is not involved in the verification of this second 
element of the fee calculation.

Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.7.7. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.7.8. In our opinion, the payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and 
regular in all material respects.

3.7.9. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

3.7.10. The Agency’s ex post verifications have demonstrated that more than half of the companies who registered 
chemicals and claimed to be of a micro, small or medium size incorrectly declared their size (See Emphasis of Matter 
paragraph 3.7.5.). This can be partly explained by the Commission’s complex rules to define the company size (75) and 
partly by the financial incentive to understate it as registration fees are much higher for bigger companies. As the initial 
registration fees are charged on the basis of the declared company size, this can have a significantly negative impact on the 
Agency’s revenue if it goes undetected. While the Agency checks the claimed size for smaller companies through ex post 
verifications, there is a significant backlog of verifications which are only finalised up to 2012 (the years with the highest 
volumes of chemicals registered). There is an urgent need to speed up and finalise the ex post verification process for later 
years.
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(72) Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006.
(73) Article 13 of Commission Regulation (EC) No 340/2008 on the fees and charges payable to the European Chemicals Agency 

pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the Registration, Evaluation, 
Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH) (OJ L 107, 17.4.2008, p. 6).

(74) By the end of 2017, ex post verifications had been completed for registrations until 2012 but are ongoing for later years.
(75) Commission Recommendation of 6 May 2003 concerning the definition of micro, small and medium-sized enterprises (OJ L 124, 

20.5.2003, p. 36).



3.7.11. Whenever errors are found, the Agency invoices the difference between the fee originally paid and the fee 
ultimately due, as well as an administrative charge. As of 31 December 2017, the amount to be recovered stood at 
4,7 million euros, of which 3,2 million euros were related to overdue administrative charges. However, the Agency seems to 
encounter difficulties in recovering the administrative fees. The Agency recorded a bad debt provision of 2,8 million euros 
in its 2017 accounts (i.e. 600 000 euros higher than at year-end 2016).

3.7.12. The verification of volumes declared by the companies is under the responsibility of Member States’ national 
enforcement authorities and the Agency has no enforcement powers (See Emphasis of Matter paragraph 3.7.5.). Actions 
taken by national enforcement authorities are coordinated by the Forum for Exchange of Information on Enforcement. On 
6 December 2017, the Forum adopted new ‘Strategies and minimum criteria for enforcement of Chemical Regulations’, 
providing a framework for developing national enforcement strategies. The Agency’s ability to fulfil its mandate depends on 
the effectiveness of the practical implementation of this framework by the national authorities. In its General Report for the 
year 2017, the Agency informs that about two thirds of companies did not update the registered information on the 
volumes of chemicals they are dealing with. This undermines the effective implementation of the REACH Regulation and 
also affects the accuracy of fee calculation.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.7.13. The Agency publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but usually not on the website of 
the European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

OTHER COMMENT

3.7.14. ECHA fee revenue corresponds to the deadlines for the registration of chemicals in the EU set out in the REACH 
legislation (2010, 2013 and 2018). Consequently, the Agency does not levy recurrent fees and contends with a mismatch 
between relatively stable expenditure and more volatile and less predictable revenue, which complicates budgetary 
planning. The Agency is supported in managing this situation by a subsidy received from the Commission. As the third and 
last registration deadline for chemicals under the REACH Regulation expires in 2018, income from fees and charges is 
expected to drop from 2019 onwards and the Agency will become more reliant on subsidies from the EU budget to finance 
its operations.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.7.15. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2014

The expenditure for procedures associated with one new specific 
activity of the Agency, the implementation of the Regulation 
concerning biocidal products, was to be, in principle, covered by 
application fees for the registration of these products. However, fees 
collected in 2014 covered only 17 % of this expenditure and the 
remaining part was in fact financed by contributions to the Agency’s 
budget from the Union (6,3 million euros) and EFTA countries 
(0,2 million euros).

Ongoing (1)

2016

Carry-overs of committed appropriations remained high for Title III 
(REACH operational expenditure) at 10,1 million euros, i.e. 39 % 
(2015: 7,3 million euros, i.e. 32 %) and are even higher for Title IV 
(Biocides operational expenditure) at 1,3 million euros, i.e. 68 % 
(2015: 1,5 million euros, i.e. 74 %). Such high level of carry-overs is 
in contradiction with the budgetary principle of annuality. The 
Agency may consider increasing the use of differentiated budget 
appropriations to better reflect the multi-annual nature of 
operations and unavoidable delays between the signature of 
contracts, deliveries and payments.

Ongoing

2016

Under the Biocidal Products Regulation, ECHA contributes to the 
functioning of the market for biocidal substances and products. In 
its audit report dated November 2016 the Commission’s Internal 
Audit Service (IAS) concluded that the design and practical 
implementation of the internal control system in ECHA in relation 
to the Agency's processes and activities under the Biocidal Product 
Regulation is effective and efficient. Although no major weaknesses 
were identified, the IAS identified some scope for further 
improvement. The Agency and IAS agreed on a plan to take 
corrective action.

Ongoing

2016
Different from most other agencies, ECHA’s founding regulation 
does not explicitly require periodical external evaluations of its 
activities, which are key elements to assess performance.

Outstanding

(Not under the Agency’s control)

(1) In 2017, the Agency collected 8,1 million euros in revenue from Biocidal fees and charges (versus 7,6 million in 2016), covering 
65 % of the expenditure for biocides (versus 62 % in 2015 and 88 % in 2016). The remaining part was financed by contributions to 
the Agency’s budget from the Union (6,3 million euros) and EFTA countries (0,2 million euros).
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.7.10. The relevant legislation (REACH Fee Regulation (EC) No 340/2008) does not specify that the Agency should 
perform an ex post verification of each SME registrant’s size. The Agency’s Management Board endorsed on approach 
whereby SME registrants with the highest financial impact (that is, the largest quantity of registrations within the highest 
tonnage band) are prioritised. The Agency is presently verifying the SME size of those registrants who submitted their 
dossiers up to 2015 and, in 2017, the Agency also approached SME registrants from the United Kingdom to verify their 
company size prior to the United Kingdom withdrawal from the European Union. In future, the Agency will increasingly 
perform SME size verifications based on the cost-benefit principle.

3.7.11. The REACH Fee Regulation (EC) No 340/2008 does not provide the Agency with the necessary tools to enforce 
the collection of overdue administrative charges. The Agency proactively reminds debtors of their obligation to pay and, in 
the event that the reminder process is unsuccessful, engages local law firms to pursue the outstanding fees and charges 
directly in the Member States. The law firms have, to date, contacted 74 % of companies with overdue administrative 
charges and the outcome of this initiative will be subject to a cost-benefit analysis to determine next steps.

3.7.12. Member States have the main responsibility for the enforcement of the REACH/CLP Regulation and, specifically, 
the obligation to register chemicals. The Agency’s ability to fulfil its mandate, and collect the appropriate level of fee 
income, is subject to the effectiveness of the practical implementation of enforcement strategies by the national authorities. 
Discussions are taking place with the Commission to address this matter.

3.7.13. The Agency takes note of this preliminary observation which is a horizontal issue pertinent to a number of 
Agencies. The Agency, similar to other Agencies, publishes vacancy notices on its own website, in social media and on the 
website of the EU Agency Network (EUAN) (https://euagencies.eu/). In order to increase transparency, publicity and allow 
citizens to identify published vacancies, the Agency recommends that the European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO) 
website would promote the EUAN website.

3.7.14. This preliminary observation is correct. The Agency is funded from a combination of fees and charges income 
and a European Union balancing subsidy. The Agency has previously made a number of alternative funding proposals to 
the Commission, including the introduction of recurrent fees, as pertains in some other EU Agencies. The Agency notes that 
the REACH Review (COM(2018) 116 final), dated 5 March 2018, indicated that the Commission would assess all possible 
options to secure sustainable financing for the Agency in the future.
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3.8. EUROPEAN INSURANCE AND OCCUPATIONAL PENSIONS AUTHORITY (EIOPA)

INTRODUCTION

3.8.1. The European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority (hereinafter ‘the Authority’, aka ‘EIOPA’), which is 
located in Frankfurt, was established by Regulation (EU) No 1094/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council (76). 
The Authority’s task is to contribute to the establishment of high-quality common regulatory and supervisory standards 
and practices, to contribute to the consistent application of legally binding Union acts, to stimulate and facilitate the 
delegation of tasks and responsibilities among competent authorities, to monitor and assess market developments in the 
area of its competence and to foster the protection of policyholders, pension scheme members and beneficiaries.

3.8.2. The Table presents key figures for the Authority (77).

Table

Key figures for the Authority

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 21 24

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 139 151

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Authority.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.8.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Authority which comprise the financial statements (78) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (79) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.8.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Authority for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Authority at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash 
flows, and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with 
accounting rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted 
accounting standards for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.8.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.8.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

Other matter

3.8.7. Without calling into question its opinion, the Court draws attention to the fact that the United Kingdom (UK) 
notified the European Council on 29 March 2017 of its decision to withdraw from the European Union. An agreement 
setting out the arrangements for its withdrawal will be negotiated. EIOPA’s budget is financed by 40 % from European 
Union funds and by 60 % through direct contributions from EU Member States. A future decrease of the Authority’s 
revenue resulting from the UK’s decision to leave the EU is possible.

3.8.8. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.8.9. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments. In the 
Authority, the superior of the accounting officer is the Head of Corporate Support Department. We see a need to 
strengthen the accounting officer’s independence by making him directly responsible to the Authority’s Director 
(administrative) and Management Board (functional).

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.8.10. The Authority publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

INFORMATION ON EXTERNAL EVALUATION RESULTS

3.8.11. An external evaluation of the three European Supervisory Authorities (80) was carried out in 2017 on behalf of 
the Commission (81).
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THE AUTHORITY’S REPLY

3.8.9. The Accounting Officer’s reporting was until April 2018 to the Head of the Corporate Support Department and 
to the Management Board. This arrangement was deemed not to conflict with the hierarchical and functional independence 
of the Accounting Officer, given the final evaluation of the Accounting Officer’s annual performance was completed by the 
Management Board. This has been changed as of May 2018 to strengthen the Accounting Officer’s position with the new 
reporting lines as follows: the hierarchical reporting to the Executive Director and the functional reporting to the 
Management Board.

3.8.10. To publish vacancies on the EPSO website it is mandatory to translate the notices in all the 24 EU languages. As 
this has substantial budgetary implications EIOPA decided to increase the use of other media sources where most of the EU 
Agencies have their vacancies published. EIOPA is also using the Inter-Agency Job Advertisement Board, a joint platform 
developed by the Network of Agencies, to post vacancy notices accessible to all citizens. In addition, EIOPA is leading a joint 
procurement for advertising recruitment campaigns that will increase visibility and reach a wide EU audience.
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3.9. EUROPEAN INSTITUTE OF INNOVATION AND TECHNOLOGY (EIT)

INTRODUCTION

3.9.1. The European Institute of Innovation and Technology (hereinafter ‘the Institute’, aka ‘EIT’), which is located in 
Budapest, was created by Regulation (EC) No 294/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council (82). The Institute’s 
objective is to contribute to sustainable European economic growth and competitiveness by reinforcing the innovation 
capacity of the Member States and the European Union. The Institute awards grants to an increasing number of ‘Knowledge 
and Innovation Communities’ (KICs), linking the higher education, research and business sectors with one another and 
aiming thereby to boost innovation and entrepreneurship. KICs coordinate the activities of hundreds of partners. The grants 
provided by the Institute reimburse partners’ costs and costs stemming from the KICs’ coordination activities.

3.9.2. The Table presents key figures for the Institute (83).

Table

Key figures for the Institute

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 283 303

Total actual staff as at 31 December (2) 59 60

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Institute

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.9.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Institute which comprise the financial statements (84) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (85) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.9.4. In our opinion, the annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 of the Institute present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Institute at 31 December 2017 and the results of its operations, its cash 
flows, and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with the provisions of its Financial Regulation 
and the accounting rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted 
accounting standards for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.9.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of the payments underlying the accounts

3.9.6. In our opinion, the payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and 
regular in all material respects.

Other matters

3.9.7. In December 2016, shortly before the end of the eligibility period (1 January 2016-31 December 2016) the EIT 
signed amendments to the specific grant agreements (SGAs) with KICs EIT Digital, InnoEnergy, Health and Raw Materials. 
The amended SGA with Climate KIC was even signed in January 2017, after the end of the eligibility period. The increase 
in the single reimbursement rates (SRR) agreed in these amendments allowed the KICs to receive an extra 15 million 
euros in grant from the EIT for the same amount of approved eligible costs (6,0 million euros extra for Climate KIC, 
5,6 million to EIT Health, 2,2 million to KIC InnoEnergy and 1,2 million to EIT Raw Materials). That practice goes against 
the purpose of encouraging KICs to find own sources of financing and of incentivising the KICs to become gradually 
financially independent from the EIT. It could also affect fair competition between the KICs since the co-funding of 
expenditure also plays a role in the annual award decisions.

3.9.8. The amendments of the business plans for EIT InnoEnergy and EIT Digital also added retroactively some 
activities not foreseen in the initial business plans, with total values of some 3,3 million euros and 0,6 million euros, 
respectively. The activity added for EIT InnoEnergy is considered a substantial change to the initial business plan, based 
on which the initial maximum grant amount was awarded. Since the grant amounts awarded to the different KICs result 
from a competitive review of their initial business plan proposals, subsequent substantial changes affect the award 
decisions and the equal treatment of the KICs and are not compliant with Article 180(4) of the Rules of application of the 
Financial Regulation.

3.9.9. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.9.10. In the course of this years’ audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments including 
the aspect of the timely (re-)validation of accounting systems. In 2017 the Institute introduced a paperless system for 
payments. While this caused modifications to the Institute’s procedures and its accounting system, the accounting system 
was not re-validated since 2012.

OBSERVATIONS ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

3.9.11. In order to further strengthen its internal control system for grants to KICs the EIT introduced centralised ex ante 
checks for those KIC partners whose cost claims exceeded 325 000 euros. The checks were carried out by two audit firms 
on behalf of the EIT (86), providing certified financial statements (CFS) of KIC partners. The results of the ex post checks, 
which were carried out by a different audit firm contracted by the EIT, confirm the effectiveness and importance of the new 
CFS approach as most material errors found related to cost claims that had not been subject to these ex ante checks.
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3.9.12. The business continuity and disaster recovery plans of the EIT were adopted in 2013 and are outdated. For 
example, half of the members of the crisis management team no longer worked for the EIT in 2017. An update has been 
prepared for the last two years but has not been adopted yet.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.9.13. As in previous years, the KICs did not fully use the grant amounts awarded by the EIT. The accepted eligible costs 
of the KAVA of the five KICs which became operational before 2016 (first and second wave KCIs combined) turned out to 
be 15 % lower than estimated in the initial specific grant agreements signed in early 2016 (87). The main reasons for the 
unused funds were an incomplete implementation of the business plans, partly due to the late approval of grant agreements 
and the multi-annual nature of KICs activities, and higher than planned self-financing of management costs by some of the 
KICs. These funds were partially used to increase the initial single reimbursement rates (SRR) for KAVA eligible costs (See 
paragraph 3.9.7). In particular, the second wave KICs (EIT Health and Raw Materials) encountered delays in the start of their 
activities. Amongst the first wave KICs, especially Climate KIC has underperformed according to the EIT’s assessment 
reports.

3.9.14. Following its performance assessment of the implementation of the business plans, the EIT calculated some 
performance corrections. These corrections, however, have had no financial impact for any of the KICs. In compliance with 
the Horizon 2020 grant calculation methodology, EIT applies only the higher of the financial and performance corrections. 
While this methodology seems appropriate for individual Horizon 2020 projects, it is less appropriate for the grants to the 
KICs, which finance a wide range of very different activities. It is doubtful whether it is justified to offset performance 
corrections in, as an example education activities, by financial corrections to for instance innovation projects.

3.9.15. In 2017 all KICs have adopted sustainability strategies in line with the EIT guidance, which was an important 
step towards a more sustainable future of the KICs. However, revenue generated by the first-wave KICs remains very low 
(between 2 and 6 % of the cost of the KAVA) and progress was limited in 2017. The co-funding from the KIC partners also 
remains low (and lower than foreseen in the initial specific grant agreements signed): EIT grants continue to finance KAVA 
by 62 % to 90 %, depending on the KIC.

3.9.16. The EIT publishes vacancy notices on its own website and on DG HR website, but usually not on the website of 
the European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

3.9.17. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (88). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a comprehensive IT 
solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. It launched tools for electronic invoicing in 2010 (e- 
invoicing), for electronic tendering in the electronic version of the EU Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the 
electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 2017 the Institute had introduced e-invoicing for 
certain procedures, but not e-tendering and e-submission.

OTHER OBSERVATIONS

3.9.18. The current interim Director of the EIT took office in July 2014. A selection procedure for the nomination for a 
new Director was launched in 2016 but was unsuccessful. No new recruitment procedure has since been launched. The 
occupation of this post ad interim for such a long period is at odds with the Staff Regulations which limits the duration to a 
maximum of one year.

3.9.19. According to section 5.1 of the Statutes of the EIT, ‘the staff of the EIT shall consist of personnel employed 
directly by the EIT under fixed-term contracts’ and the conditions of employment of other servants of the EU applies to 
them. As a result, the EIT can only offer their temporary agents fixed-term contracts with a maximum duration of five years, 
extendable once for another five years. Those staff members who joined the EIT shortly after its creation in 2009 will reach 
the maximum ten years in 2020, which could potentially hamper the continuity of the operations and of the administration 
in coming years.
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(87) And still 6 % lower than estimated in the amended SGAs signed in December 2016 and January 2017.
(88) Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1271/2013, Article 79 e-Government.



INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS AND ON EXTERNAL EVALUATION REPORTS

3.9.20. The Commission’s Internal Audit Service (IAS) in 2017 carried out and audit of the Institute’s ‘Monitoring of 
Grant Agreements’ (89). The Institute prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for improvement.
3.9.21. An interim evaluation of the EIT over the period 2011-2015 was carried out in 2016-17 on behalf of the 
Commission (90).

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.9.22. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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(89) We did not verify the audit work.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2012 Grant agreements did not set individual thresholds for specific cost 
categories (i.e. staff costs, sub-contracting, legal services, etc. Completed (1)

2014

The Institute overestimated its budgetary needs for 2014 by 
13,1 million euros, i.e. 5,6 % (2013: 3,4 million euros, i.e. 2,5 %) 
and only 220 million of the 233,1 million euros available were 
committed. The low implementation rate is mainly related to non- 
used appropriations for grants (11,4 million euros) to fund KIC 
activities. The KIC’s business plans, on the basis of which grant 
agreements were signed, did not require the use of total 2014 
appropriations available to the Institute. The appropriations not 
used will be re-entered in the Institute’s budgets for the years 2015- 
2017 as stipulated in the Institute’s Financial Regulation.

Ongoing (2)

2014
While the KICs are to develop strategies for financial sustainability, 
to date, and in the fifth year of their existence, they remain fully 
dependent on financing by the Institute and KIC partners.

Ongoing (3)

2014

Since its creation in 2009, the Institute has suffered from high staff 
turnover and instability at management level. Two of the three Head 
of Unit posts have been vacant since 2013. One is occupied ad 
interim since 2013 which is in contradiction with the Staff 
Regulations that stipulate a maximum period of one year. The 
other is currently occupied by the COO who also serves as the 
interim Director and who thus fulfils three roles at the same time.

Completed

2015

The Court in its Special Report 4/2016 concluded that the funding 
condition that the EIT contribution to the KICs shall not exceed 25 % 
is of little or no added value, and removing it would alleviate much 
of the operational and financial reporting burden of the KIC 
partners (4).

Ongoing

2015

The Certificate of Financial Statement (‘CFS’) requested from KIC 
partners claiming reimbursement of more than 325 000 euros shall 
contribute to the Institute’s ex ante verification of cost statements. 
However, the quality of these certificates varies significantly, limiting 
the assurance that can be obtained from them and requiring the 
Institute to carry out additional checks.

Completed
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2015

The EIT founding regulation provides that ‘the EIT shall mobilise 
funds from public and private sources and use its resources in 
accordance with this Regulation. It shall in particular seek to raise a 
significant and increasing proportion of its budget from private 
sources and from income generated by its own activities’. In spite of 
the said provision that clearly refers to the EIT budget, the 
contribution from the Horizon 2020 financial envelope accounted 
for 99 % of its 2015 budget.

Outstanding (5)

2015

Even though the Institute is allowed to re-enter unused appropria-
tions (appropriations not committed during the year or de- 
committed by the year end) in the budgets of the following three 
years, it had not adapted its process in time to re-enter 
26,6 million euros available from the 2014 grant agreements in 
the 2015-2017 budgets. These appropriations result from the lower 
than expected use of funds by KICs.

Completed

2015

The original target set by the Commission for the Institute to obtain 
financial autonomy was 2010. However it obtained only partial 
financial autonomy in June 2011 under the condition of continued 
ex ante approval of grant related transactions and of procurements 
above 60 000 euros by its (parent) Directorate-General Education 
and Culture.

Completed

2015

The Institute funds the EIT Digital Master’s programme in which 16 
European universities participate. The model for reimbursing the 
universities’ costs combines a lump sum maximum 8 000 euros per 
student (following the Erasmus Mundus programme provisions) plus 
actual costs including flat rate based indirect costs. On average a 
total of 15 000 euros per student was paid to the universities in 
2015 on this basis (including the lump sum). However, the model 
has never been formally defined and does not allow a distinction 
between activities covered by the lump sum and those covered by 
the actual costs. The Institute should move towards a clear and 
formally defined model based on a single method for declaring costs 
such as a substantiated single lump-sum.

Ongoing (6)
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2015

The principle of sound financial management was breached when a 
KIC partner procured public relations services with daily rates 
ranging from 800 euros to 3 250 euros per person, which were fully 
reimbursed by the Institute (7).

N/A

2015

The Institute used a Commission framework contract (‘FWC’) for the 
organisation of innovation conferences taking place in 2015 and 
2016. Under this FWC services were subcontracted for which prices 
were not set in the FWC. The prices agreed for these services range 
from 800 euros per day for a junior consultant to 2 250 euros per 
day for a senior consultant (almost four times the price agreed in the 
FWC for a senior manager). The cost of services procured at such 
prices amount to more than 100 000 euros per conference.

N/A

2016

The Court found weaknesses related to ex post verifications of 
procurement procedures carried out by KIC LEs. At least for one KIC 
LE the selection of procurement procedures to be verified was not 
representative for the population. In addition, the Court concluded 
differently on the legality and regularity of two procurement 
procedures. In these cases the Institute accepted the direct award or 
excessive extension of contracts.

Completed

2016

The Commission’s Internal Audit Service (IAS) in its audit report 
‘Grant Management: Transition to Horizon H2020’ dated December 
2016 concluded that the Institute has successfully adapted its 
processes to the rules of Horizon 2020, and in particular the Rules 
for Participation and that the Institute’s controls over the start-up 
process have been generally effective in supporting new KICs. The 
IAS also concluded that urgent actions are needed to secure a robust 
application of the H2020 legislative framework and to further 
improve the start-up process of new KICs. The Institute and the IAS 
agreed on an action plan to take corrective actions.

Ongoing

2016

The level of carry-overs for committed appropriations was high for 
Title II at 0,4 million euros, i.e. 40 % (2015: 0,4 million euros, i. 
e.44 %). These carry-overs mainly relate to contracts for IT services 
going beyond year-end and for meeting costs for which invoices had 
not yet been received.

N/A
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

The grants for the 2015 period were awarded only in April 2015 
and the GA were signed in June and July 2015. For the 2016 period, 
grants were awarded and GA signed in April 2016. Despite an 
improvement in 2016, these delays in grant award decisions and 
signatures create uncertainty and undermine partners’ willingness to 
commit resources and to start activities at the beginning of the year.

Ongoing

2016

The latest calls for new KICs, for which the thematic areas were 
defined in the Strategic Innovation Agenda of the EIT for the years 
2014 to 2020 showed a limited competition. The 2014 call for two 
new KICs (Health and Raw Materials) led to only seven proposals. 
The 2016 call for two additional KICs (Food and Added-Value 
Manufacturing) received three proposals, whereby the single 
proposal for Added-Value Manufacturing KIC was not selected for 
quality reasons.

N/A

2016

The Institute’s Director changed four times between its creation in 
2008 and July 2014. Since August 2014 the position of the 
Director, and another managerial position since February 2013, 
have been filled on an ad interim basis. This is not only in 
contradiction with the one year maximum period set for interim 
placements in the Staff Regulations, but also the frequent changes 
and long interim solutions cause uncertainty to stakeholders and 
strategic continuity.

Ongoing (8)

2016

The Institute is an important player in the Horizon 2020 
programme, with 2,4 billion euros of budget allocated for the 
period 2014-2020. The Commission has created a Horizon 2020 
Common Support Centre in order to ensure coherence amongst 
bodies implementing the programme covering aspects like legal 
services, IT tools, grant management, dissemination and exploitation 
of research results, etc. However, as distinct from other bodies like 
Commission executive agencies and public private partnerships, the 
Institute has no direct access to the Support Centre but needs 
approval on a case by case basis from its Commission Parent DG. 
This limitation affects the efficiency of the Institutes operations.

Completed
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

The coordination and representation of the KICs is carried out by 
KIC LEs which are almost fully financed by the Institute. The Court 
in its audit gave particular attention to the procurement procedures 
carried out by these entities which it considers to be a high risk area. 
Under the 2015 Grant Agreements (GA) KIC LEs and/or KIC 
Partners must ensure that any procurement achieves best value for 
money or, where appropriate, is made at the lowest possible price. 
For all contracts exceeding 60 000 euros, the GA stipulates that KIC 
LEs and/or KIC Partners have to invite at least three economic 
operators for tender and to document the procurement procedure 
demonstrating its transparency. The Court audited a sample of 
procurement procedures for a value of some 7 million euros carried 
out by KIC LEs which were fully financed by the EIT. The audit 
showed significant weaknesses such as direct award of contracts, 
absence of essential elements in tenders, significant extensions of 
initial contracts in time and/or volume, contracts unlimited in time 
and/or volume or quality/price weightings neutralising competition 
on price. The 2016 payments related to these irregular procurement 
procedures amounted to 2,2 million euros. The Institute had also 
identified the procurement weaknesses for one KIC LE and put in 
place an action plan to improve all KIC LEs’ future procurement 
procedures.

Ongoing

2016

Despite the large increase in the budget from 309 million euros 
(2008-2013) to 2,4 billion euros (2014-2020) and the rise of KICs 
from three to six at the end of 2016, the Institute’s authorised 
number of posts did not change significantly (see Table 2). The 
Court in its Special Report 4/2016 (9) pointed to the risk that the 
Institute will not have sufficient capacity to deal with the expanded 
workload. The Institute’s interim Director referred to this risk in the 
Institute’s Annual Activity Report for the year 2015.

Outstanding
(Not under the Institute’s control)

(1) In particular, ceilings for management costs have been set since the 2016 grant agreements.
(2) Budgetary needs for 2016 were overestimated by 13,1 million euros, i.e. 5,0 % (2015: 25 million euros, i.e. 9,4 %) and only 

249,9 million euros of the 263 million euros available were committed. The appropriations not used can be re-entered in the 
budgets for 2017-2019.

(3) The EIT financed on average 90 % of eligible costs declared by the KIC's in the 2015 grant agreements. The amounts raised by the 
KICs from different sources reached 2,5 % of the EIT funding Requested.

(4) Special Report 4/2016: The European Institute of Innovation and Technology must modify its delivery mechanisms and elements of 
its design to achieve the expected impact.

(5) EIT still interprets the EIT Regulation differently as described in its 2015 reply.
(6) On average a total of 17 000 euros per full year student was paid to the universities in 2016 on the basis of the model described 

which combined actual costs and lump sums .The model has been formally defined at the end of 2016 and will be applicable from 
2017.

(7) In 2016 (2015 grant transactions) the EIT reimbursed an amount of 410 000 euros related to that contract.
(8) The managerial post was filled in February 2018. The Commission launched the recruitment procedure for the Director in June 

2018.
(9) Special Report 4/2016: The European Institute of Innovation and Technology must modify its delivery mechanism and elements of 

its design to achieve the expected impact.
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THE INSTITUTE’S REPLY

3.9.7. The EIT wishes to clarify that amendment requests to the SGA can be submitted at any time during the eligibility 
period in line with the EIT-KIC Framework Partnership Agreements (FPA). The KICs’ amendment requests were subject to a 
technical and financial assessment by the EIT and ex ante approval by the European Commission. As a result, amendments 
were signed in December 2016. In the case of EIT Climate-KIC, the approval of the amendment request was formally 
communicated to the KIC on 21 December 2016, i.e. within the eligibility period. As regards the increase in the Single 
Reimbursement Rates (SRRs), the EIT points out that no additional grant was paid to the KICs as a result of the amendments 
of the 2016 SGAs. The total final grant paid (241,8 million euro) was significantly lower than the amount initially awarded 
(274,9 million euro). As regards encouraging KICs to find own sources of financing and incentivising them to become 
financially sustainable, we refer to our reply to paragraph 3.9.15. As part of the assessment of the amendment requests, the 
EIT had verified, in consultation with the European Commission, that the adjustment of the SRRs is in line with the 
applicable legal basis and does not affect the equal treatment of KICs. The possibility to adjust the SRR was available to all 
KICs on equal terms.

3.9.8. As regards the second observation, the EIT is of the position that the amendments were in line with Article 180 
(4) of the Rules of Application of the Financial Regulation, as they did not call into question the grant award decisions and 
were not contrary to the equal treatment of applicants. It is important to note that there is no provision defining a 
materiality threshold as to what change of an action would be considered ‘substantial’ for the purposes of assessing whether 
the change affects the award of the grant. Whether the inclusion of new activities is in line with the said provision 
necessitates a case-by-case assessment, based on the relevance and impact of the activities for the entire KIC Business Plan. 
The EIT carried out this assessment before approving the amendment requests and concluded that the amendments did not 
call into question the grant award decisions. As every KIC had the possibility to introduce new eligible activities in their 
amended Business Plans on equal terms, the equal treatment of KICs was also ensured. Finally, the EIT points out that in 
case of EIT InnoEnergy the sole activity in question represented only 3,9 % of the amended estimated budget of the KIC 
Business Plan. In the case of EIT Digital, this proportion was 0,6 %.

3.9.10. The EIT is currently in the process of outsourcing its accounting function to the Accounting Officer of the 
Commission. If deemed necessary by DG Budget, this process will entail a re-validation of the EIT’s accounting systems.

3.9.12. The updates to both the Business Continuity Plan and the Disaster Recovery Plan will be adopted by the EIT in 
2018.

3.9.13. Specific Grant Agreements for 2016 with EIT Health and EIT RawMaterials were signed later than planned, as 
the Framework Partnership Agreements needed to be signed first. Specific Grant Agreements in 2017 and 2018 were 
systematically signed in February, enabling KICs to start their activities early in the year. Innovative actions are dynamic and 
fast-reacting in nature and cannot be linearly planned. Certain innovation projects or plans may turn out to have less 
potential than expected and have to be cancelled during the implementation of the grant agreements. Moreover, several of 
the operational activities of the KICs, such as Masters and Doctoral education programmes or long-term research and 
innovation projects, are by nature multiannual. The EIT intends to address this issue by moving towards signing multi- 
annual grant agreements with KICs in the post-2020 period, provided that commitment appropriations for the EIT budget 
are allocated in multi-annual tranches accordingly.

3.9.14. Indeed, the EIT fully followed the grant calculation methodology stipulated in the Horizon 2020 legal basis and 
the EIT will continue to comply with the applicable legislation in the future.

3.9.15. Financial sustainability of KICs is a unique ambition of the EIT-KIC model and it is one of the most challenging 
aspects of the EIT’s mission. While this was a distant objective for KICs in the past, some of the Innovation Communities 
already provide significant co-funding to finance their activities and generate substantial revenues compared to their budget. 
For example, EIT Digital provided 26 % co-funding (or 22 million euro) to finance their KIC added-value activities in 2016, 
in addition to reporting more than 200 million euro of KIC complementary activities carried out and financed by their 
Partner organisations. Another example is EIT Health that collected over 6 million euro in revenues in their first year of 
operations, a substantial sum compared to the total EIT funding received (ca. 19 million euro).

3.9.16. The EIT is currently considering the option to publish vacancy notices on the website of EPSO, considering also 
the costs of having to translate vacancy notices to all official languages of the EU, which is a pre-condition to publication on 
the EPSO website. Nevertheless, the average number of candidates applying to EIT vacancy notices has significantly 
increased in the past years, mainly due to the active use of social media by EIT in promoting new vacancies.
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3.9.17. The EIT intends to adopt the e-tendering and e-submission tools after conclusion of the necessary agreements 
with the European Commission, for which preparatory actions are ongoing.

3.9.18. The European Commission published the vacancy for the EIT Director position on 1 June 2018 (91).

3.9.19. The first staff members joined the EIT in 2010 and will therefore reach the maximum ten years in 2020. 
Nevertheless, the EIT is aware of the risk, which has also been flagged in the 2017 Annual Activity Report of the EIT. The 
EIT requested formally the legal opinion of the European Commission by letter of 14 May 2018.
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3.10. EUROPEAN MARITIME SAFETY AGENCY (EMSA)

INTRODUCTION

3.10.1. The European Maritime Safety Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘EMSA’), which is located in Lisbon, was set 
up by Regulation (EC) No 1406/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council (92). The Agency's tasks are to ensure 
a high level of maritime safety and to prevent pollution by ships, provide the Commission and the Member States with 
technical assistance, and monitor the implementation of Union legislation, as well as to evaluate its effectiveness.

3.10.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (93).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 71 79

Total staff as at 31 December (2) 246 250

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.10.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (94) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (95) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.10.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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(92) OJ L 208, 5.8.2002, p. 1.
(93) More information on the Agency's competences and activities is available on its website: www.emsa.europa.eu.
(94) The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement 

of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
(95) The reports on implementation of the budget comprise the reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory 

notes.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.10.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.10.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.10.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

3.10.8. In 2014, the Commission on behalf of more than 50 EU Institutions and bodies, including the Agency, signed a 
framework contract with one contractor for the acquisition of software licences and the provision of maintenance and 
support. The framework contractor acts as an intermediary between the Agency and suppliers that can address the Agency’s 
needs. For these intermediary services the framework contractor is entitled to uplifts of two to nine percent of the suppliers’ 
prices. In 2017, total payments to the framework contractor amounted to 1,7 million euros. The Agency did not 
systematically check prices and uplifts charged with the suppliers’ quotes and invoices issued to the framework contractor.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.10.9. The Agency publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

3.10.10. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (96), (97). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. It launched tools for electronic invoicing 
in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU Official Journal in 
2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 2017 the Agency had 
introduced e-invoicing and e-submission for certain procedures, but not e-tendering.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE AND EXTERNAL EVALUATION REPORTS

3.10.11. In 2017 the Commission’s Internal Audit Service (IAS) issued audit reports on ‘Project-Financed Actions’ and 
‘Human Resources Management’ (98). The Agency prepared action plans to address any potential areas for improvement.

3.10.12. An external evaluation of EMSA’s performance in the period 2011 to 2016 was carried out in 2017 on behalf 
of the Commission (99). The Agency prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.10.13. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

In 2014 the Agency concluded a framework contract amounting to 
3,5 million euros for the purchase of IT-related goods and services 
over a six-year period. The Agency underestimated the needs and 
likely contract value, leading to an 80 % consumption of the 
contract at the end of 2016. A new procurement procedure has to 
be launched four years earlier than expected, resulting in additional 
administrative costs.

N/A

2016

In 2016 the Agency concluded seven framework contracts for the 
purchase of oil pollution response systems. Each framework contract 
(representing a lot in the procurement procedure) covered a specific 
type of equipment. The procurement procedure was launched under 
the assumption that the total value of the seven frameworks 
contracts would be 7 million euros. However, this assumption 
underestimated the Agency’s needs and seven framework contracts 
for an amount of 7 million euros each were signed, leading to a total 
value of the contracts of 49 million euros.

N/A

30.11.2018 EN Official Journal of the European Union C 434/77



THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.10.8. The Agency will remind the relevant Project Officers to consistently perform the necessary checks on the prices 
charged by the provider and/or if the correct uplifts are applied. EMSA will also request the leading Contracting Authority 
in this FWC to ask the Contractor, as a general rule, to always provide proof of market price/uplift when replying to any 
requests for quotation.

3.10.9. Following a court decision ruling EPSO decided that only vacancy notices provided in all official EU languages or 
the specific languages defined by the legal act establishing the Agency can be published on the EPSO EU website. As a result 
of the high translations costs related to this new policy (around EUR 19 000 per vacancy) EMSA —as many other 
Agencies — does no longer make use of the EPSO services for announcing its vacancies. This issue was addressed by a 
number of agencies to EPSO in December 2015. EMSA would welcome a solution which — whilst ensuring sufficient 
transparency — also accords with the principle of sound financial management. EMSA endeavours to give a wide publicity 
to its vacancies by posting job openings on different social media platforms attending a wide public. It is to be noted that 
most of the EMSA vacancies are addressed to technical experts for whom EMSA’s website is a reference.

3.10.10. In 2017, EMSA has done a comprehensive preparation in order to adjust all relevant internal procedures to use 
e-procurement. EMSA can confirm that — as from the beginning of 2018 — the Agency introduced the e-procurement 
modules. The deadline for EU bodies to use the e-procurement is October 2018.
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3.11. EUROPEAN UNION AGENCY FOR NETWORK AND INFORMATION SECURITY (ENISA)

INTRODUCTION

3.11.1. The European Union Agency for Network and Information Security (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘ENISA’), which 
is located in Athens and Heraklion (100), was created by Regulation (EC) No 460/2004 of the European Parliament and of 
the Council (101) which, following different amendments was superseded by Regulation (EU) No 526/2013 (102). The 
Agency's main task is to enhance the Union’s capability to prevent and respond to network and information security 
problems by building on national and Union efforts.

3.11.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (103).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 11 11

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 69 70

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.11.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (104) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (105) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.11.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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(103) More information on the Agency's competences and activities is available on its website: www.enisa.europa.eu.
(104) The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement 

of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
(105) The reports on implementation of the budget comprise the reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory 

notes.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.11.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.11.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.11.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.11.8. The new accounting officer of the Agency took over duties on 1 December 2017. The hand-over process was 
improperly carried out and did not meet the requirements of Article 55 of the Rules of application. In particular, there was 
no hand-over report transmitted to the new accountant.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.11.9. The Agency publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

3.11.10. On 29 March 2017 the United Kingdom (UK) notified the European Council of its decision to withdraw from 
the European Union (Brexit). Unlike most of the other agencies, the Agency did not carry out a comprehensive analysis of 
the likely Brexit impact on its organisation, operations and accounts.

INFORMATION ON EXTERNAL EVALUATION REPORT

3.11.11. In 2017 a study on the external evaluation of the Agency’s performance during the period 2013-2016 was 
carried out on behalf of the Commission (106).

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.11.12. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2015

In 2016 the Agency plans to relocate some administrative staff from 
Heraklion to Athens while its basic Regulation provides that staff 
primarily engaged in the administration of the Agency should be 
based in Heraklion.

Ongoing

2016

Commitment appropriations carried over are high for Title II 
(administrative expenditure) with 0,3 million euros, i.e. 25 % (2015: 
0,15 million euros, i.e. 22 %) of committed appropriations. This 
high level mainly results from transfers made from Title I (staff 
expenditure) and Title III (operational expenditure) and primarily 
relate to investments in IT and a service car near year end.

N/A

2016

As required by the Agency’s Financial Regulation, external 
evaluations of ENISA’s performance were prepared for 2014 and 
2015, with the final reports being delivered in October 2015 and 
May 2016, respectively. The evaluation of 2014 concluded that the 
core operational activities carried out under the Work Programme 
2014 have a clear connection to the legal mandate of ENISA and the 
Agency’s effectiveness was assessed as good. However, it identified 
room for improvement in relation to the division of the Agency 
between Heraklion and Athens which leads to cumbersome work 
processes and a lack of communication and cooperation. The 2015 
evaluation concluded that ENISA’s work and outputs are responding 
to a need for Network Information Security across the EU and 
within Member States and that the Agency effectively meets its 
stakeholders’ expectations. However, the report highlighted that 
there is a need for improving communication between ENISA and its 
stakeholders, who find ENISA’s mandate and outreach too limited. 
The Agency is implementing an action plan agreed with the 
Management Board in response.

N/A

2016

In 2016, the Agency moved eight additional staff to Athens, 
reducing the number of staff in Heraklion to 14 (1). As highlighted in 
the Court’s 2013 Report, it is likely that costs could be further 
reduced if all staff were centralised in one location.

Ongoing

(1) According to ENISA, at the end of 2017 this number has further reduced to 11 members of staff.
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.11.8. While the hand-over to the new accounting officer was never formalised, informal meetings have taken place 
with previous acting accounting officer to transfer knowledge. Updated training on SAP was also received by the new 
accounting officer to provide a good understanding of the accounting system. Nevertheless, ENISA will implement 
corrective actions to ensure that adequate hand-over between in- and out-going staff members.

3.11.9. All vacancies published by EPSO need to be translated in all EU official languages. Unfortunately, given its 
limited budget, ENISA cannot afford to bear this cost. However, the Agency is using traditional and social media and has 
agreed to collaborate to the creation of an inter-agency portal to mitigate the risks linked to the publication of vacancies as 
many of the decentralised agencies are facing the same problem.

3.11.10. ENISA has not performed a formal operational and financial impact analysis of Brexit as it should not have any 
significant direct impact on ENISA’s budget, operation and administration. Nevertheless, relevant internal processes have 
been revised (i.e. procurement and recruitment) in the Brexit context.
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3.12. EUROPEAN UNION AGENCY FOR RAILWAYS (ERA)

INTRODUCTION

3.12.1. The European Union Agency for Railways (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘ERA’), which is located in Lille and 
Valenciennes, was created by Regulation (EC) No 881/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council, which was 
replaced by Regulation (EU) 2016/796 of the European Parliament and of the Council (107). The Agency's task is to enhance 
the level of interoperability of railway systems and to develop a common approach to safety in order to contribute to 
creating a more competitive European railway sector with a high level of safety.

3.12.2. The Table below presents key figures for the Agency (108).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 28 31

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 155 164

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.12.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (109) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (110) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.12.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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(107) OJ L 220, 21.6.2004, p. 3, and OJ L 138, 26.5.2016, p. 1. In accordance with the latter Regulation, the Agency’s original name, the 
European Railway Agency, was changed to the European Union Agency for Railways.

(108) More information on the Agency's competences and activities is available on its website: www.era.europa.eu.
(109) The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement 
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.12.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.12.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.12.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.12.8. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments including 
the hierarchical position and independence of accounting officers. In December 2016, the Accounting Officer of the 
Agency, in addition to this function, has also been appointed as Head of Finance and Procurement Sector ad interim. In this 
additional function, he is responsible for the management of staff entrusted with the initiation and verification of 
commitments and payments. These financial actors are identified in the Agency’s Financial Regulation as falling under the 
responsibility of the Authorising Officer. However, the principle of segregation of duties between the Authorising Officer 
and the Accounting Officer implies that both functions are mutually exclusive.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.12.9. In 2014, the Commission on behalf of more than 50 EU Institutions and bodies including the Agency signed a 
framework contract with one contractor for the acquisition of IT hard and software and the provision of maintenance and 
support (IT services). The framework contractor acts as an intermediary between the Agency and suppliers that can deliver 
the IT services. While most of these IT services and related prices were defined in the framework contract resulting from the 
competitive procurement procedure, it also allows the purchase of IT services not specifically mentioned. In the case of one 
audited payment amounting to some 47 000 euros the Agency purchased, through the contractor, IT services without any 
competitive procedure or prior market research. In 2017, total payments to the contractor amounted to 1,1 million euros.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.12.10. In 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on the Agency’s ‘Human Resources 
and Competency Management’ (111). The Agency prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.12.11. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2013

The Agency is located in Lille and Valenciennes. As the Court 
mentioned in its Specific Annual Report for the financial year 2006, 
it is likely that costs could be reduced if all operations were 
centralised in one location. This might also facilitate a comprehen-
sive seat agreement with the host Member State thereby clarifying 
the conditions under which the Agency and its staff operate.

Ongoing

(Not under the Agency’s control)
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.12.8. The Agency is undergoing a major re-organisation to respond to its new tasks. As part of this and in line with 
the action plan agreed with the IAS, a proper segregation of duties for the accounting officer shall be put in place.

3.12.9. As recognised by the Court the contract was used according to the contractual provisions as laid down in the 
DIGIT framework contract DI07360. Any further considerations as regards sound financial management shall be notified 
to the contract manager, namely DG DIGIT.

C 434/86 EN Official Journal of the European Union 30.11.2018



3.13. EUROPEAN SECURITIES AND MARKETS AUTHORITY (ESMA)

INTRODUCTION

3.13.1. The European Securities and Markets Authority (hereinafter ‘the Authority’, aka ‘ESMA’), which is located in 
Paris, was established by Regulation (EU) No 1095/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council (112)

3.13.2. . The Authority’s task is to improve the functioning of the EU internal financial market by ensuring a high, 
effective and consistent level of regulation and supervision, promoting the integrity and stability of the financial systems 
and strengthening international supervisory coordination in order to ensure the stability and effectiveness of the financial 
system.

3.13.3. The Table presents key figures for the Authority (113).

Table

Key figures for the Authority

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 39 42

Total staff as at 31 December (2) 204 226

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Authority.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.13.4. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Authority which comprise the financial statements (114) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (115) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.13.5. In our opinion, the accounts of the Authority for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Authority at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash 
flows, and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with 
accounting rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted 
accounting standards for the public sector.
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(112) OJ L 331, 15.12.2010, p. 84.
(113) More information on the Authority’s competences and activities is available on its website: www.esma.europa.eu.
(114) The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement 

of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
(115) The reports on implementation of the budget comprise the reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory 

notes.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.13.6. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.13.7. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

Other matter

3.13.8. Without calling into question its opinion, the Court draws attention to the fact that the United Kingdom (UK) 
notified the European Council on 29 March 2017 of its decision to withdraw from the European Union. An agreement 
setting out the arrangements for its withdrawal will be negotiated. The Authority’s budget is financed by 27 % from 
European Union funds, by 42 % through direct contributions from EU Member States and by 29 % from fees received 
from supervised entities (Credit Rating Agencies and Trade Repositories), and 2 % others sources. The departure of the 
UK might affect the Authority’s activities since the most significant supervised entities are currently located there. A 
future decrease of the Authority’s revenue resulting from the UK’s decision to leave the EU is possible.

3.13.9. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.13.10. The Authority publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not always on the website 
of the European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to 
identify vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE AND EXTERNAL EVALUATION REPORTS

3.13.11. In 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on ‘Peer Reviews of National 
Competent Authorities in ESMA’ (116). The Authority prepared an action plan.

3.13.12. An external evaluation of the three European Supervisory Authorities (117) (authorities) was carried out in 
2017 on behalf of the Commission (118).
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THE AUTHORITY’S REPLY

3.13.7. ESMA acknowledges the issue and continues to monitor the progress on the Brexit negotiations.

3.13.9. EPSO decided to publish ESMA vacancy notices (VN) on its website only if the VNs are available in 24 languages. 
In 2017, the translation costs (5 VNs out of 16), borne by ESMA amounted to 32 431 euro. ESMA considers that the cost of 
translating each VN in 23 languages is not justified in terms of sound financial management and decided to use other media 
where most of the EU Agencies have their vacancies published.
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3.14. EUROPEAN AGENCY FOR SAFETY AND HEALTH AT WORK (EU-OSHA)

INTRODUCTION

3.14.1. The European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘EU-OSHA’), which is located 
in Bilbao, was created by Council Regulation (EC) No 2062/94 (119). The Agency's task is to collect and disseminate 
information on national and Union priorities in the field of health and safety at work, to support national and Union 
organisations involved in policymaking and implementation, and to provide information on preventive measures.

3.14.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (120).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 17 15

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 65 64

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.14.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (121) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (122) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.14.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.14.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.14.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.14.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.14.8. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments including 
the hierarchical position and independence of accounting officers. The superior of the Agency’s accounting officer is the 
Head of Resource and Service Centre. We see a need to strengthen the accounting officer’s independence by making him 
directly responsible to the Agency’s Director (administrative) and Management Board (functional).

OBSERVATIONS ON BUDGETARY MANAGEMENT

3.14.9. Carry-overs for Title II (administrative expenditure) and Title III (operational expenditure) were high with 40 % 
for each title or 3,5 million euros in total, which is in contradiction with the budgetary principle of annuality. There is no 
evidence that these carry-overs are related to expenditure planned during the budgeting process. As an example, in 
December 2017 the Agency ordered IT equipment and office furniture for an amount of 220 000 euros, of which 
80 000 euros were transferred from Title III to Title II just before ordering.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.14.10. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (123), (124). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the 
electronic version of the EU Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e- 
submission). By the end of 2017, the Agency had not introduced any of these tools.

3.14.11. On 29 March 2017 the United Kingdom (UK) notified the European Council of its decision to withdraw from 
the European Union (Brexit). Unlike most other agencies, the Agency did not carry out a comprehensive analysis of the 
likely Brexit impact on its organisation, operations and accounts.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.14.12. An overview of the corrective actions taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.

30.11.2018 EN Official Journal of the European Union C 434/91

(123) Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1271/2013, Article 79 e-Government.
(124) Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012, Article 95(2) e-Government.



ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

The level of committed appropriations carried over to 2017 was 
high for Title II (administrative expenditure) at 417 279 euros, i.e. 
30 %, (2015: 364 740 euros, i.e. 26 %). These carry-overs mainly 
concern IT services which had not yet been fully delivered or been 
invoiced by the end of the year. The committed appropriations 
carried over under Title III amounted to 3 370 616 euros, i.e. 43 % 
(2015: 3 383 052 euros, i.e. 41 %). These carry-overs mainly 
concern research projects and studies with a duration of more than 
one year. The Agency may consider introducing differentiated 
budget appropriations to better reflect the multi-annual nature of 
operations and unavoidable delays between the signature of 
contracts, deliveries and payments.

Ongoing

2016

In 2014 the Agency signed a framework contract (FWC) for the 
provision of IT consultancy services in the period 2014 to 2017 for 
a total amount of 1,1 million euros. Although specific contracts 
signed in 2016 to implement this FWC clearly define project 
deliverables, consultants were engaged on a ‘time & means’ basis 
where price is not fixed and directly linked to the delivery, but 
instead results from the number of working days spent. Moreover in 
2016 some 50 % of the IT consultancy services were carried out 
offsite the Agency’s premises, limiting the Agency’s means to 
monitor the efficient implementation of the contracts. Payments 
made under this framework contract in 2016 amounted to some 
0,4 million euros.

Outstanding

2016

The Agency’s founding Regulation does not explicitly require 
external evaluations of its activities. The Commission’s proposal 
for a new founding Regulation includes the obligation of performing 
an evaluation every five years.

Ongoing

(Not under the Agency’s control)
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.14.8. For organisational reasons the Accountant is assigned within RSC (Resource and Service Centre) in the 
organisational chart, and physically located in the area of the financial staff. However, the Accountant reports directly to the 
Director (not to the Head of RSC), in order to ensure his/her independence.

3.14.9. Carry-overs for Title III mainly concern large scale research projects with a duration of more than one year and 
are related to the 2017 annual work programme. In respect of Title II, carry-overs mainly concern services that are 
contracted for a period covering two calendar years.

In respect of the EUR 0,2 million, it should be noted that since 2014 and the Agency’s move to new premises, which has 
generated savings of 0,6 million euro/year, the Title II budget has been fixed at a reduced level of 1,4 million euro. In 2017, 
an amending budget adopted in June further decreased the appropriations of Title II by 60 000 euro because of a decrease 
in the local authorities’ contribution to EU-OSHA’s infrastructure budget.

During the year the Agency decided to carry out on an internal office space re-organisation and associated fitting out works 
which had not been foreseen at the time of the budget process. Most of the IT purchases concerned were planned for 2018 
(and documented as such in the DB 2017 and further budget phases) but were finally committed in 2017 (EUR 100 000) as 
funds were available.

As from B2019 onwards, a list of possible additional IT purchase(s) — in the case of availability of appropriations due to, 
for example, favourable price renegotiation — will be annexed to the Programming Document.

The transfer between titles (in line with the provisions of the Framework Financial Regulation) was communicated to the 
Governing Board, Parliament and Council.

3.14.10. Since the end of 2016, the Agency has been giving electronic access via its website to all the procedures 
launched (ex ante publicity for low and medium value contracts and contract notice publication), providing additionally 
specific email addresses for procurement.

In 2018, target date October, the Agency will introduce e-tendering for the phase of publication and management of 
information requests until the date of submission of tenders.

3.14.11. In the meantime, the Agency has carried out an analysis of the likely Brexit impact on its organisation, 
operations and accounts
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3.15. EUROPEAN FOUNDATION FOR THE IMPROVEMENT OF LIVING AND WORKING CONDITIONS (EUROFOUND)

INTRODUCTION

3.15.1. The European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (hereinafter ‘the Foundation’, 
aka ‘Eurofound’), which is located in Dublin, was established by Council Regulation (EEC) No 1365/75 (125). The 
Foundation’s task is to contribute to the planning and establishment of better living and working conditions in the Union by 
increasing and disseminating knowledge which is relevant to this subject.

3.15.2. The Table presents key figures for the Foundation (126).

Table

Key figures for the Foundation

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 21 20

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 104 100

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Foundation.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.15.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Foundation which comprise the financial statements (127) and the reports on the implementation 
of the budget (128) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.15.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Foundation for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Foundation at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash 
flows, and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with 
accounting rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted 
accounting standards for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.15.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.15.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.15.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.15.8. In the course of this year’s audit of the EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments, 
including the hierarchical position and independence of accounting officers. In the Foundation, the superior of the 
accounting officer is the Head of Administration and Finance. We see a need to strengthen the accounting officer’s 
independence by making him directly responsible to the Foundation’s Director (administrative) and Governing Board 
(functional).

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.15.9. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (129), (130). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). According to 
information from the Commission, by the end of 2017 the Foundation had introduced e-invoicing and e-tendering for 
certain procedures, but not e-submission.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.15.10. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

In its Report on the annual accounts for 2014, the Court reported 
underpayments to staff for the period 2005 to 2014 in relation to 
the transition to the new EU Staff Regulations in 2005. Although the 
reasons for the underpayments (2014: non-respect of minimum 
guaranteed salaries; 2015: wrong multiplication factor on salaries) 
are different, the Court has again found underpayments 
(43 350 euros) and some overpayments (168 930 euros), affecting 
30 active and previous staff members. Eurofound corrected all 
underpayments, but will not recover the overpayments (this is in 
line with Article 85 of the current Staff Regulations). The 
Foundation should analyse again any possible mistakes in relation 
to the transition to the 2005 Staff Regulations and carry out a full 
evaluation of its payroll function.

Ongoing

2016

In its audit report dated December 2016, the Commission’s Internal 
Audit Service (IAS) highlighted a need to improve the Foundation’s 
management of projects, mainly in relation to governance 
arrangements, monitoring and reporting. The Foundation and the 
IAS agreed on a plan to take corrective action.

Ongoing

2016

The level of committed appropriations carried over increased for 
Title III (operational expenditure) at 2,8 million euros, i.e. 43 % 
(2015: 2,1 million euros, i.e. 31 %), mainly in relation to projects 
(studies and pilot schemes) going beyond the year end. The high 
level of carry-overs is in contradiction with the budgetary principle 
of annuality. The Foundation may consider introducing differen-
tiated budget appropriations to better reflect the multi-annual 
nature of operations and unavoidable delays between the signature 
of contracts, deliveries and payments.

Ongoing

2016

The Foundation’s founding regulation does not explicitly require 
external evaluations of its activities. The Commission’s proposal for 
a new Founding Regulation includes the obligation of performing an 
evaluation every five years.

Ongoing
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THE FOUNDATION’S REPLY

3.15.8. The Governing Board is satisfied with the current level of the Accounting Officer’s independence, in particular 
his already existing entitlement to directly report to the Chair in accordance with Art. 6.1 of the Charter of the Accounting 
Officer and the Board’s existing involvement in the appointment process. However, a new Founding Regulation currently 
discussed between the Institutions, will likely foresee the role of Appointing Authority assigned to the Governing Board 
rather than the Director. This will allow Eurofound to reassess the matter of greater independence of the Accounting Officer 
in the future.

3.15.9. Both e-Submission and e-Prior are part of the e-procurement modules developed by DG DIGIT. Two pilot 
agencies have, however, experienced significant problems with the software. In addtion, the e-procurement software is 
currently only available for open tenders (but not for negotiated tenders), of which Eurofound has very few per year. 
Therefore, Eurofound will continue to monitor the developments and is prepared to make the investment in e-procurement 
once satisfied with the software’s stability and functionality.
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3.16. EUROPEAN GNSS (GLOBAL NAVIGATION SATELLITE SYSTEM) AGENCY (GSA)

INTRODUCTION

3.16.1. The European GNSS (Global Navigation Satellite System) Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘GSA’), which was 
relocated from Brussels to Prague as of 1 September 2012 (131), was set up by Regulation (EU) No 912/2010 of the 
European Parliament and the Council (132), repealing Council Regulation (EC) No 1321/2004 (133) on the establishment of 
structures for the management of the European satellite radio navigation programmes and amending Regulation 
(EC) No 683/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council (134). The European GNSS Authority set up under 
Council Regulation (EC) No 1321/2004 officially took over all tasks previously assigned to the Galileo Joint Undertaking on 
1 January 2007 which are continued by the Agency as ‘European GNSS Agency’ within the scope of Regulation (EU) 
No 912/2010, as amended. In addition, the Commission entrusted the exploitation of the European Geostationary 
Navigation Overlay Service (EGNOS) to the Agency through a delegation agreement.

3.16.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (135).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 626 704 (2)

Total staff as at 31 December (3) 160 166

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Of which 676 million euros received through delegation agreements with the Commission.
(3) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.16.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (136) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (137) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).
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(134) OJ L 196, 24.7.2008, p. 1.
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Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.16.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.

Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.16.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.16.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

Emphasis of matter

3.16.7. On 15 December 2016 the Agency signed a Framework Contract on the exploitation of the Galileo satellite 
system during the period 2017 to 2027, amounting to 1,5 billion euros. The contract was awarded following a public 
procurement procedure. One of the tenderers involved has launched legal proceedings against the Agency at the 
European Court of Justice, challenging the outcome of the procurement procedure. The ruling of the European Court of 
Justice will decide on the legality and regularity of the procurement procedure for the framework contract and all related 
specific contracts and future payments. The Agency disclosed and explained the matter in the financial statements 2017, 
together with the information that in 2017 49 million euros (7 % of the 2017 budget including amounts received 
through delegation agreements) have been paid under the framework contract.

Other matter

3.16.8. Without calling into question its opinion, the Court draws attention to the fact that the United Kingdom (UK) 
notified the European Council on 29 March 2017 of its decision to withdraw from the European Union. The negotiations 
to reach an agreement setting out the arrangements for its withdrawal are currently ongoing. The Agency operates both 
Galileo Security Monitoring Centre (GSMC) and Galileo ground stations that are located in UK territory. The Agency’s 
financial statements report, under the chapter Events after the reporting date, the Commission decision of transferring 
the GSMC back-up site from the UK to Spain, adopted on 24 January 2018.

3.16.9. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.16.10. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments, 
including the aspect of the timely (re-)validation of accounting systems. The Agency was relocated and its mission redefined 
in 2013. Its Financial Regulation was revised in 2014 and the Agency delegated its accounting function to the 
Commission’s Accounting Officer in 2015. While these events caused significant modifications to the Agency’s procedures, 
the accounting system has not been re-validated since 2012 (138).
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OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.16.11. The Agency publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and Agencies collectively.

3.16.12. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (139), (140). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for electronic tendering in the electronic version of the EU Official Journal in 
2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 2017 the Agency was 
not yet using any of these tools.

INFORMATION ON EXTERNAL EVALUATION REPORTS

3.16.13. A mid-term Evaluation of the Galileo (141) and EGNOS programmes and of the Agency’s performance in the 
period 2014-2016 was carried out in 2017 on behalf of the Commission (142).

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.16.14. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2014 There is no insurance coverage for fixed tangible assets (net book 
value 1,0 million euros). Ongoing

2015

The last validation of the accounting systems was performed in 
2012. The promised validation due to the expected major changes of 
processes and information flow following the Agency’s relocation 
has not occurred. The new accountant plans to perform the next 
validation in 2020.

Ongoing

2015

The Agency has put in place Business Continuity Plans for the 
security sites in France, the United Kingdom and the Netherlands. 
However, there is no Business Continuity Plan in place for the 
Headquarters in Prague and the Agency in its entirety.

Ongoing

2015

The Agency’s 2015 Annual Work Programme (AWP) was only 
adopted in March 2015 and the adoption of its 2014-2020 Multi- 
annual Work Programme is outstanding. The late adoption of key 
planning documents puts the achievement of the Agency’s 
objectives at risk.

Ongoing (1)

2015 In 2015, the Agency had a high staff turnover with 14 staff 
members leaving and 26 joining. N/A

2016

In its audit report dated November 2016, the European Commis-
sion’s Internal Audit Service (IAS) concluded that no Agency-wide 
annual risk assessment exercise was conducted in 2016 and the 
Agency’s significant risks are not included in its planning documents 
or Activity reports. In addition, the IAS also noted that the 
terminology used for the various elements of the performance 
measurement system is not consistent, therefore hampering 
performance monitoring. The Agency and IAS agreed a plan to 
take corrective action.

Ongoing

2016

The level of carry-overs for committed appropriations was high for 
Title II (administrative expenditure) at 2,8 million euros, i.e. 46 % 
(2015: 2,5 million euros, i.e. 42 %). These carry-overs mainly relate 
to IT services provided in 2016 for which invoices were not 
received.

N/A

(1) The Decision adopting the European GNSS Agency programming document 2018-2020 was taken on 21 March 2018.
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.16.10. The GSA agrees with the observation of the Court. In 2015 the GSA outsourced its accounting services to the 
European Commission, therefore the EC Accounting Officer (within DG Budget) provides all services required by Article 50 
of the Framework Financial Regulation applicable to Agencies, including the validation of local systems. The validation 
approach is currently subject to discussion and planning within the DG Budget services.

3.16.11. The publication of vacancy notices in the EPSO platform requires them to be translated into all EU official 
languages, whereas English is the sole working language of the Agency and publishing vacancies in English is seen as a 
useful pre-selection first step towards ensuring that our working language is understood to start with. Further, translating 
vacancies in all EU official languages would represent additional financial and time constraints on the Agency, the benefit of 
which — also given the above reasoning — is not conclusive. Instead, the GSA intends to publish all vacancy notices on the 
Inter-Agencies portal, which is considered equivalent to EPSO from the Agencies perspective and providing a sufficient level 
of transparency to EU citizens. In addition, the Agency also publishes its vacancy notices in specialised space sector 
websites.

3.16.12. TED e-Notices (provided by the Publications Office) for the publication of contract notices, contract award 
notices, corrigendum notices, modification notices, etc. is currently in use in the GSA whenever applicable as per 
Article 264 RAP. The Agency as well intends to use the TED e-Tendering system for the creation and publication of calls for 
tenders. In this respect, the GSA is currently coordinating with the Publications Office in order to register and create a 
system account.

With regard to high-value tenders (above the thresholds of Article 118(1) FR) the GSA is currently undertaking the 
necessary administrative steps to use the ‘e-Submission’ module of the ‘e-Prior’ information system developed by the 
European Commission (provided by DG DIGIT), in order to ensure that the electronic system which will be established for 
the submission of all tenders shall respect all the requirements set out in FR and RAP. It is noted that the ‘e-Submission’ 
module currently supports only open procedures and, therefore, the GSA shall use it only for such procedures. In this 
respect, the GSA has already held a first coordination meeting with DG DIGIT and is currently in the process of finalising 
and signing a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with DG DIGIT in order to set the framework of e-Submission and 
kick-off its implementation.
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A g e n c i e s  f u n d e d  u n d e r  M F F  h e a d i n g  2  —  S u s t a i n a b l e  g r o w t h :  n a t u r a l  
r e s o u r c e s

3.17. EUROPEAN ENVIRONMENT AGENCY (EEA)

INTRODUCTION

3.17.1. The European Environment Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘EEA’), which is located in Copenhagen, was 
established by Council Regulation (EEC) No 1210/90 (143). The Agency is responsible for setting up an observation network 
to provide the Commission, the Parliament, the Member States and, more generally, the public with reliable information on 
the state of the environment. This information should, in particular, enable the European Union and the Member States to 
take action to safeguard the environment and assess the effectiveness of such action.

3.17.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (144).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 50,5 70

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 208 212

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency; includes both core and non-core budget.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.17.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (145) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (146) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.17.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.17.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.17.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.17.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.17.8. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, the Court analyses the accounting environments, including 
the hierarchical position and independence of accounting officers. The superior of the Agency’s accounting officer is the 
Head of Administrative Services. We see a need to strengthen the accounting officer’s independence by making her directly 
responsible to the Agency’s Director (administrative) and Management Board (functional).

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.17.9. The EEA was confronted with significant delays in the implementation of the 2016 action plan of one the 
European Topic Centres (ETC ICM, In land Coastal and Maritime Waters). As a result, the EEA rejected some deliverables, as 
well as part of the costs claimed by the ETC. The correction in the amount of the final payment also shows the further 
improvement of the financial and performance checks for grants to the ETCs.

3.17.10. Some weaknesses were identified in several public procurement procedures. The tender specifications used by 
the Agency for different calls for tenders did not specify any minimum requirements for the selection criteria with respect to 
economic and financial capacity. As a result, these criteria cannot fulfil their objective of determining whether a bidder has 
the necessary capacity to implement the contract.

3.17.11. The price competition for several high-value calls for tender was exclusively based on the daily rates offered for 
certain profiles, and not on the estimated time needed to complete the tasks. Framework contracts were signed with one 
tenderer only whereas a reopening of competition between different tenderers would lead to better results for the specific 
contracts.

3.17.12. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (147), (148). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 
2017 the Agency had introduced e-invoicing and e-tendering for certain procedures, but not e-submission.

3.17.13. Several weaknesses were noted in the recruitment procedures organised by the Agency. In particular, the 
minutes of the selection committee did not provide sufficiently detailed justifications for the choices made. There is a need 
to better define the criteria used at each stage of the selection procedure and the role of each member of the selection 
committee, in order to strengthen transparency and equal treatment of candidates.
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3.17.14. The Agency publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively. The main reason provided by the 
agency is high translation cost for EPSO publications since this requires translations in all EU official languages.

OBSERVATIONS ON BUDGETARY MANAGEMENT

3.17.15. In order to implement the Copernicus delegation agreement with the Commission, the Agency entered into 
several Copernicus-related legal commitments before having received the pre-financing from the Commission. Although 
these commitments were covered by an exception report signed by the Agency Director, such procedure is at odds with the 
Rules of Application of the Financial Regulation. Timely pre-financing payments by the Commission are essential to allow 
the implementation of delegation agreements.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.17.16. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

The Agency updated its Security Policy in 2016 but many other 
internal procedures are outdated. The senior management approved 
an action plan which includes the review and update of the business 
continuity plan. The Agency also intends to review its document 
management policy which it adopted in 2009 in line with the new 
Security Policy. Similarly, the Agency envisages to review and update 
its internal control standards, where necessary.

Completed

2016

The Commission’s Internal Audit Service (IAS) carried out a 
performance audit on the 2015 State of the Environment Report 
(SOER) preparation processes. In its audit report of July 2016, the 
IAS concluded that the SOER processes were generally fit for 
purpose. The Agency and the IAS however agreed on a plan to 
further improve them.

N/A

2016

In 2014 the Commission, on behalf of more than 50 EU Institutions 
and bodies (including the Agency) signed a framework contract 
(FWC) with one contractor for the acquisition of software, licences 
and the provision of related IT maintenance and consultancy. The 
framework contractor acts as an intermediary between the Agency 
and suppliers that can address the Agency’s needs. For these 
intermediary services the framework contractor is entitled to uplifts 
of two to nine percent of the suppliers’ prices. The FWC explicitly 
stipulates that it does not confer any exclusive right to the 
contractor. In 2016 the Agency used this FWC to purchase software 
licences for a total of 442 754 euros. Most of these purchases were 
for products belonging to a particular category that should only be 
used on an exceptional basis, for which prices were neither quoted 
during the tender process nor in the FWC. This procedure does not 
ensure sufficient competition and the application of the most 
economical solution. Moreover the uplifts charged by the frame-
work contractor were not adequately checked. The largest order 
concerned the renewal of software licences provided by an exclusive 
Scandinavian reseller (112 248 euros). In this instance, there was no 
justification for the use of the FWC which resulted in an unnecessary 
uplift cost.

Ongoing
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

COMMENTS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.17.8. The Agency has discussed the Court’s observation with the Accountant and is confident that the fact that the 
Accountant is an official with a high grade (AD12) and with direct access to the Management Board ensures functional 
independence.

COMMENTS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.17.9. The Agency appreciates the acknowledgement that its management of ETCs has further improved, both in terms 
of financial and operational verification. To prevent a repeat of the problem in 2017 in the case of ETC/ICM, the task in 
question has been removed from the annual action plan and internalised at the Agency. The Agency strives to maintain and 
improve the current level of checks of ETC grants.

3.17.10. The Agency confirms that it has modified the requirements associated with the verification of the financial 
capacity of tenders in the course of 2017, which now consists of requesting tenderers to provide information on financial 
ratios (liquidity, solvency and profitability) and in setting a requirement of a minimum turnover equivalent to at least two 
times the estimated annual contract value, in accordance with the provisions in Article 147(1)(a) of the RAP.

3.17.11. The Agency reiterates that the choice of awarding framework contracts to single contractors is deliberate and 
with due consideration to the limited competition prevailing on the relevant markets as well as the nature and the 
complexity of the services to be procured. When placing specific contracts under the framework contracts, the Agency 
considers not only the contractually agreed daily rates, but also the estimated number of days required to perform the tasks 
in order to calculate the estimated budget for a particular specific contract. Only then are negotiations with the contractor 
on the details of its offer initiated, always with a view to achieve best value for money. With a reopening of competition, the 
Agency will have no leverage to negotiate further the offers with the contractors.

3.17.12. Following the Management Board decision of 9 November 2015 to implement an e-Procurement solution at 
the EEA, the Agency has introduced e-invoicing for certain procedures in the course of 2014 and is now in the process of 
extending it to all its procedures, whereas e-Tendering is been implemented since 1 January 2015 for all open calls for 
tenders. The on-boarding process for e-Submission started in December 2017 and the first call for tenders using that 
module was launched on 18 June 2018 (EEA/COM/18/002 — Provision of publishing services for the EEA).

3.17.13. The Agency takes note of the Court’s observation and confirms that it is in the process of adapting its selection/ 
recruitment procedures on the following aspects:

(a) add a ‘time-stamp’ (not only a date) for each action undertaken at the different stages (preliminary screening, screening, 
interview and written test) in the relevant documents;

(b) produce systematically expected answers to the pre-defined questions for interview and written test at the preliminary 
screening stage;

(c) implement an electronic (paperless) procedure with a view to improve reporting.

3.17.14. The Agency was prohibited by EPSO from publication because of not fulfilling the required condition of 
translation of every vacancy notice in all official languages. However, the Agency has neither the budget nor the resources 
to satisfy EPSO’s request. Moreover, in addition to the translation of every vacancy notice, applications will have to be dealt 
with in all languages as well, which is a prohibitively high extra cost. Like most other EU agencies, the Agency has therefore 
been looking for an alternative to the EPSO website and is using since May 2018 an equivalent website for its publications 
which is developed and maintained by the EU Agencies Network, namely the ‘Agencies Job Advertisement Board’. The 
Agency is furthermore using LinkedIn and its own website and Facebook pages to ensure maximum exposure.
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COMMENTS ON BUDGETARY MANAGEMENT

3.17.15. Prior to entering into the Copernicus Delegation Agreement (DA) with DG GROW, the Agency highlighted that 
the pre-financing terms were in conflict with the Financial Regulation (Article 7 RAP of the 2014 FR). Initially, DG GROW 
responded sympathetically, but a change to the DA was prevented by DG BUDG, who are responsible for the standard 
template for DAs. On commencement of the DA, the Agency continued to report the problems and its need to regularly file 
exceptions to be able to continue operational activity, which eventually triggered DG GROW to amend the pre-financing 
terms of the DA in August 2017 and provide additional pre-financing in November 2017.
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3.18. EUROPEAN FISHERIES CONTROL AGENCY (EFCA)

INTRODUCTION

3.18.1. The European Fisheries Control Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘EFCA’), which is located in Vigo, was 
established by Council Regulation (EC) No 768/2005 (149). The Agency’s main task is to organise the operational 
coordination of fisheries control and inspection activities by the Member States in order to ensure an effective and uniform 
application of the rules of the common fisheries policy.

3.18.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (150).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 10 17

Total staff as at 31 December (2) 64 72

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.18.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (151) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (152) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.18.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.18.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.18.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.18.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

Information on internal audit service and external evaluation reports

3.18.8. In November 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on the Agency’s ‘IT 
Governance and Project Management’ (153). The Agency and the IAS agreed on a plan to take corrective action.

3.18.9. In 2017 an external evaluation of the Agency was carried out on behalf of the Administrative Board (154). The 
Agency prepared a plan to implement its recommendations.
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THE AGENCY'S REPLY

The Agency has taken note of the Court's report.
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A g e n c i e s  f u n d e d  u n d e r  M F F  h e a d i n g  3  —  S e c u r i t y  a n d  c i t i z e n s h i p

3.19. EUROPEAN UNION AGENCY FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT TRAINING (CEPOL)

INTRODUCTION

3.19.1. The European Union Agency for Law Enforcement Training (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka CEPOL), located in 
Budapest, was established by Regulation (EU) 2015/2219 of the European Parliament and of the Council (155) replacing and 
repealing Council Decision 2005/681/JHA (156). The Agency’s task is to function as a network and to bring together the 
national police training institutes in the Member States to provide training sessions, based on common standards, for senior 
police agents.

3.19.2. The Table below presents key figures for the Agency (157).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 10 9

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 51 53

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.19.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (158) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (159) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.19.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.19.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.19.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.19.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.19.8. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments, including 
the aspect of the timely (re-)validation of accounting systems. The Agency delegated its accounting function to the 
Commission’s Accounting Officer in 2014. In 2014, the Agency was also relocated and in 2016 its mandate was redefined. 
While these events caused modifications to the Agency’s procedures, the accounting system has not been re-validated since 
2013.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.19.9. In December 2016 the Agency signed a four-years framework contract of 1,6 million euros for the provision of 
temporary staff with one economic operator. The only competitive criterion for the procurement procedure was price. A 
framework contract with multiple suppliers selected on the base of price and quality criteria would have been preferable to 
support the timely delivery of high quality services.

3.19.10. On 29 March 2017 the United Kingdom notified the European Council of its decision to withdraw from the 
European Union (Brexit). The Agency did not carry out any analysis of the likely Brexit impact on its organisation, 
operations and accounts, as most of the other agencies did.

3.19.11. The Agency publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

3.19.12. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (160), (161). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 
2017 the Agency had introduced e-invoicing and e-tendering, but not e-submission.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.19.13. In 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on ‘Needs assessment, Planning and 
Budgeting of Training activities’ at CEPOL (162). The Agency prepared an action plan to address potential areas for 
improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.19.14. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

Carry-overs of committed appropriations were high for Title II 
(expenditure for support activities) at 140 055 euros, i.e. 30 % 
(2015: 212 456 euros, i.e. 49 %). They mainly refer to IT consulting 
and IT related goods and services ordered late in the year.

N/A

2016

There is a high staff turnover which may impact business continuity 
and the Agency’s ability to implement the activities foreseen in its 
work programme. In 2016, 11 staff members left the Agency, while 
21 were recruited. The low number of applications, particularly 
from Member States other than the host state, puts at risk the 
Agency’s ability to recruit suitable candidates. Between 2013 and 
2016 staff from the host state increased from 1 to 16, representing 
31 % of total staff in 2016. Possible reasons for the limited number 
of applications from other Member States are the salary correction 
coefficient applied for the host state (69 %) and competition with 
another EU body located in Budapest.

Ongoing
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.19.8. CEPOL agrees with the observation of the Court. In 2014 CEPOL outsourced its accounting services to the 
European Commission, therefore the EC Accounting Officer (within DG Budget) provides all services required by 
Articles 50 of the Framework Financial Regulation applicable to Agencies, including validation of local systems. The 
validation approach is currently subject to discussion and planning within DG Budget services.

3.19.9. The Agency has taken note of the Court's comments although not sharing the same opinion. The quality criteria 
were embedded in the technical specifications and tenderers not confirming their ability to comply with them were to be 
disqualified. The choice to award a single framework contract is based on prior experience and specificities of the national 
labour market. Nevertheless, CEPOL will give due consideration to the Court’s recommendations for future procurements, 
as applicable.

3.19.10. The Agency has taken note of the Court's comments. Brexit has been discussed in management meetings; the 
discussions in NAPO (inter-agency network for Procurement Officers) and IALN (inter-agency legal network) as well as the 
communications received from the Commission were followed closely. The risks for CEPOL were assessed as limited, 
although not formally documented.

3.19.11. The Agency has taken note of the Court's comments. The estimated costs of translation of vacancy notices in 
all EU languages, as required for publication on the EPSO website, is considered to be too high in relation to expected 
benefits. As from 2018, CEPOL will publish all vacancies also on the interagency job board that has been developed by the 
EU Agencies Network.

3.19.12. The Agency has taken note of the Court's comments and confirms progress is made in cooperation with DG 
DIGIT to introduce e-submission.

3.19.13. The Agency confirms progress was made towards implementation of the action plan, of which 2 out of 4 
recommendations were assessed as implemented by the Internal Audit Service.
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3.20. EUROPEAN ASYLUM SUPPORT OFFICE (EASO)

INTRODUCTION

3.20.1. The European Asylum Support Office (hereafter ‘the Office’ or ‘EASO’), located in Valletta, was established by 
Regulation (EU) No 439/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council (163) with the aim of enhancing practical 
cooperation on asylum matters and helping Member States fulfil their European and international obligations to give 
protection to people in need. Since 2015, the Office has provided support to Greece and Italy in the context of the 
migration crisis.

3.20.2. Table 1 presents key figures for the Office (164).

Table 1

Key figures for the Office

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 53 79

Total staff as of 31 December (2) 125 200

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff, and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Office.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.20.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Office, which comprise the financial statements (165) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (166) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.20.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Office for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Office at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.

C 434/116 EN Official Journal of the European Union 30.11.2018

(163) OJ L 132, 29.5.2010, p. 11.
(164) More information on the Office’s competences and activities is available on its website: www.easo.europa.eu.
(165) The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement 

of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
(166) The reports on implementation of the budget aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory notes.

http://www.easo.europa.eu


Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.20.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Basis for an adverse opinion on the legality and regularity of the payments underlying the accounts

3.20.6. Paragraphs 3.20.9 to 3.20.31 describe material and systematic instances of non-compliance of payments with 
the Office’s Financial Regulation and other applicable rules and provisions, mainly related to public procurement and 
recruitment procedures underlying payments. The systematic nature of non-compliances demonstrates an inadequate 
internal control system. The combined error from non-compliant payments amounts at least to 7,7 million euros or 
10,3 % of the Office’s total payments made in 2017.

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.20.7. In our opinion, because of the significance of the matters described in the paragraph ‘Basis for an adverse 
opinion on the legality and regularity of the payments underlying the accounts’, the payments underlying the accounts 
for the year ended 31 December 2017 are materially affected by error.

Emphasis of matter

3.20.8. As from the end of 2017, the human resources situation at the Office has deteriorated exponentially. For the 
Office’s management, out of 10 head of unit posts, 4 were vacant and out of 27 head of sector posts, 18 were vacant. In 
the Administrative Department, out of 4 head of unit posts, 3 were vacant and out of 10 head of sector posts, 5 were 
vacant. This creates considerable managerial challenges to the Office. Furthermore, by the end of May 2018, 129 
temporary staff posts were occupied while 78 were still vacant. As for contract staff, 71 posts were occupied and 13 were 
still vacant. The Office currently does not have the administrative capacity to fill such a high number of vacancies (See 
Table 2). Overall, this situation causes a significant risk to the continuation of the Office’s operations at the current scale.
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Table 2

The Office’s organigram at the beginning of June 2018
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OBSERVATIONS ON THE LEGALITY AND REGULARITY OF PAYMENTS AND RELATED INTERNAL CONTROLS

There are major risks inherent to the nature of the Office’s activities

3.20.9. Since 2016, the Office has been facing an unprecedented expansion of tasks and activities to provide Member 
States with operational and technical assistance in the context of the migration crisis. This is mirrored by a budget increase 
from initially 19 million euros in 2016 to 79 million euros after the second amendment to the 2017 budget. The number 
of procurement procedures increased from 87 in 2015 to 140 in 2017. The number of payments increased by 225 % from 
2 578 in 2015 to 8 381 payments in 2017.

3.20.10. The Office is one of the few multi-location EU agencies. Besides the headquarters in Malta, where 179 statutory 
staff are based, the Office manages two major support operations in Greece and Italy involving 747 experts from Member 
States and Associate Countries, 202 cultural mediators (interpreters), 178 interim staff and 21 of the Office’s own statutory 
staff in 2017.

3.20.11. As we addressed already in our special report 2017/06 ‘EU response to the refugee crisis: the “hotspot” 
approach’ the Office is highly dependent on sufficient resources being made available by Member States. A particular 
obstacle to the efficiency of operations is the very short deployment period (6 to 8 weeks) of Member State’s experts.

The extraordinary operational challenge caused by the migration crisis was not mitigated by a solid governance 
structure and effective internal controls

3.20.12. When launching in 2015 the operations in support of Greece and Italy, the Office faced a situation where 
resources provided for deployment operations by Member States were insufficient. Even before, the Office had faced 
difficulties filling the staff posts in its establishment plan. Since 2014, one recurring observation was that the Office 
suffered from high staff turnover. We have consistently stressed in our previous annual reports that such situations create a 
considerable risk to the achievement of the objectives set in the annual and multi-annual work programmes. Despite the 
Office’s repeated attempts (36 recruitment procedures and 100 new contracts in 2017), it did not succeed in recruiting and 
retaining enough staff (see also the emphasis of matter, paragraph 3.20.8.).

3.20.13. The extraordinary operational challenge caused by the migration crisis was not mitigated by a solid governance 
structure. The Management Board did not establish an internal audit capability within the Office and the operations in 
Greece and Italy were not covered by any internal audit activity. Until the end of 2017, the Management Board’s supervision 
of financial management was limited.

3.20.14. The Office has neither an internal legal service nor a systematic internal review of legal documents. The Office 
outsources most of the legal issues (mainly staff and procurement issues) without clear internal decisions or guidelines 
defining who is authorised to outsource what kind of matters, to which law firm and under which conditions. While the 
Office uses at least 8 different law firms, there is no comprehensive register of all related contracts, cases and opinions.

3.20.15. The Office lacks an adequate verification of legal services to ensure that services are used for the purpose of 
defending the Office only and not to defend the interests of individuals. The related procedures to protect against conflict of 
interests are not always effective. In general, using the services of external lawyers diminishes the possibility to stop disputes 
at the pre-litigation state.

3.20.16. Matters stated in paragraphs 3.20.13. and 3.20.14. expose the Office to risks of financial losses or reputational 
damages. The Office is carrying out an internal inquiry into these matters.

Lack of internal controls led to numerous instances of material non-compliance

Payments for interim services

3.20.17. In 2017, payments for interim services amounted to 7,7 million euros. In the absence of a competitive public 
procurement procedure, the contract for interim services in Greece was considered irregular by the Court in its 2016 audit. 
Nevertheless, the Office still paid 4,8 million euros under this irregular contract in 2017.
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3.20.18. The procurement procedures carried out in 2017 for interims in Malta (in 2017 payments amounted to 
1,0 million euros) were poorly managed (e.g. short deadlines for submission of offers, lack of transparency when extending 
the deadlines), affecting competition as one of the main public procurement principles. As a result, the procurements had to 
be relaunched a number of times because there were no offers.

3.20.19. The Office did not carry out an adequate assessment of needs and of alternative solutions before entering into 
multi-million euros contracts. The monitoring of contracts for compliance with national rules on temporary employment 
was poor, which exposed the Office to significant financial and reputational risks. In addition, there were significant 
weaknesses in the verification of timesheets from interims and irregularities identified. The Office is carrying out an internal 
inquiry into this matter.

Payments for staff expenditure

3.20.20. In 2017, payments in respect of staff amounted to 13,5 million euros. We found serious weaknesses in four of 
the fourteen recruitment procedures audited.

3.20.21. As an example, the Office did not issue a vacancy notice to fill a senior adviser post, but instead recruited 
directly from a reserve list established for the post of head of department which is irregular. The Office also systematically 
extended deadlines for applications without neither formally approving this nor documenting the reasons. The number of 
applications received by the initial deadlines did not always justify the need for the extensions.

3.20.22. Some recruitment procedures for administrative officers were not suitable for the grade advertised. In the 
recruitment procedure for the position of a manager in the administration department, the vacancy notice was more 
restrictive than those for the same posts in other departments. In another procedure, the Office did not adequately 
document the eligibility checks of candidates.

Payments for rent and related works

3.20.23. Total rent paid for all offices at their different locations amounted to two million euros in 2017. We found that 
the Office had entered into the lease contracts for the extension of the Malta headquarters and several new offices in Athens, 
Lesvos and Chios without having carried out an adequate local market analysis.

3.20.24. In June 2017, the Office entered into a lease agreement for office space in Lesvos. The Office also accepted a 
contract with the lessor — without any competition — for the works to adapt the rented building to the Office’s needs. The 
value of the works contracts (0,7 million euros during the first months of the lease) was several times the annual value of 
the lease contract. Investing a considerable amount of money in premises that are rented entails considerable financial and 
operational risks.

3.20.25. In 2018, the Office decided to terminate a lease agreement for office space in Chios and works contracts related 
to it. The Office is currently pursuing to limit the financial exposure resulting from the termination.

Payments for travel expenditure

3.20.26. A contract amounting to 4 million euros for travel services was considered irregular by the Court in its 2016 
audit. The contract was awarded to a tenderer who did not fulfil all selection criteria. The Office still paid 1,5 million euros 
in 2017 on the basis of this irregular contract.

3.20.27. In 2017, the Office noted significant weaknesses in the acceptance of travel services, in particular, the lack of 
supporting documents proving such travel services were indeed requested or delivered. The Office is carrying out an 
internal inquiry into this matter.

Other payments

3.20.28. In addition, other services such as for cleaning services, security services, interpreters and consultants based on 
public procurement procedures were systematically affected by similar weaknesses. We found significant weaknesses in the 
assessment of the Office’s needs; the drafting of tender specifications; the choice of the type of contract, the procurement 
procedures followed; the deadlines set for the submission of tenders; the evaluation and award methods (i.e. the weighting 
of price versus quality criteria); the amendments and extensions of contracts; the execution of contracts and the verification 
of services provided. Such weaknesses affect the principles of competition, transparency, equal treatment and non- 
discrimination of tenderers. They may eventually prevent the Office from obtaining best value for money procurements. 
The following paragraphs provide some examples of the above weaknesses.
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3.20.29. In 2017, the Office awarded a service contract directly for consultancy services for the implementation of the 
action plan on Greek islands. The public procurement procedure was awarded to a single preselected economic operator 
without applying any of the procurement procedures laid down in the Financial Regulation. Therefore, the public 
procurement procedure and all related payments (992 000 euros) were irregular.
3.20.30. Since 2016, the Office has made several amendments to the original contract signed in 2016 with one law firm 
for an initial amount of 5 000 euros, increasing it to 259 000 euros in 2018. Total payments for the contract amounted to 
98 332 euros in 2017, partly relating to consultancy services for which a competitive public procurement procedure was 
required. The consultancy related amendments and payments were therefore irregular.
3.20.31. The implementation of the 120 000 euros contract signed in 2013 (amended to 132 000 euros in 2017) for 
the organisation of four to six major events at one international hotel over a span of four years was not in line with the 
contract’s initial purpose. The Office used the contract for approximately 50 smaller events instead. Therefore, the 
implementation of the contract was irregular.

OBSERVATIONS ON BUDGETARY MANAGEMENT

3.20.32. According to arrangements between the European Union and the Kingdom of Norway, the Swiss 
Confederation, and the Principality of Liechtenstein (also referred to as associated countries) for their participation in 
the Office, the associated countries participate fully in the work of the Office and are entitled to receive support actions 
from the Office. In 2016, the Office received a grant from the Commission to ensure adequate capacity-building in Greece, 
to support the implementation of the European Union — Turkey Statement and to accelerate substantially the 
implementation of relocation in order to ease the heavy burden that presently weighs on Greece. All these activities are the 
core business of the Office, supporting actions of common interest. The Office used the grant to pay commitments for 
these activities amounting to 6,4 million euros in 2016 and 1,7 million euros in 2017. However, the Office did not include 
these amounts in the calculation of contributions from associated countries. If they would be included, associated countries 
would have to pay 0,5 million euros more.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.20.33. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's comments from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2013
Of the total number of payments, 446 (18 %) were made after the 
time limits set in the Financial Regulation. The average delay for late 
payments was 21 days.

Ongoing (1)

2013 Six of the 16 internal control standards have not been fully 
implemented. N/A (2)

2014
The Office made 1 062 (28,6 %) payments after the time limits set in 
the Financial Regulation. The average delay for late payments was 24 
days.

Ongoing

2014

The Office has a high staff turn-over, 14 staff left the Office in 2014, 
including four in key positions. This high turn-over of staff causes a 
considerable risk to the achievement of the objectives set in the 
annual and multi-annual work programme.

Outstanding

2014

According to a decision by the Executive Director, participants in 
meetings organised by EASO are classified in one of the three 
categories (A, B or C) for cost reimbursements. Total 2014 
reimbursements to meeting participants amounted to 
997 506 euros. Category ‘A’ participants, who are supposed to 
assume a specific duty in the meetings, receive a flat rate 
reimbursement for travel and daily subsistence costs, whereas 
Category ‘B’ participants receive a flat rate reimbursement for travel 
costs only. Category ‘C’ participants are not eligible for any 
reimbursement. The number of participants classified as recipients 
of category ‘A’ reimbursements increased from 61 % in 2013 to 69 % 
in 2014. There is no documentation justifying the classification of 
participants in the three categories.

Ongoing

2016

Two of the three tenderers participating in one audited procurement 
procedure for the provision of travel services under a framework 
service contract amounting to 4 million euros for the period 2016 
to 2020 were asked to provide additional information in relation to 
the same selection criteria. Although neither of them submitted the 
requested information (CVs of the persons to perform the task at 
EASO’s premises), only one of them was excluded from the 
procedure for this reason. The other one was awarded the contract 
on the basis that the relevant CVs would be provided following the 
award of the contract. The procurement procedure therefore did not 
comply with the principle of equal treatment and the contract was 
awarded to a tenderer who did not fulfil all selection criteria. The 
framework contract and associated 2016 payments, amounting to 
920 561 euros, are therefore irregular.

Outstanding in 2017 (3)
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

In February 2016 the Office directly awarded a framework contract 
(FWC) for interim services to support it in its response to the 
migration crisis for a period of 12 months amounting to 3,6 million 
euros. The FWC was awarded to a single preselected economic 
operator without applying any of the procurement procedures laid 
down in the EU Financial Regulation The award was therefore not in 
compliance with the relevant EU rules and associated 2016 
payments, amounting to 592 273 euros, are irregular.

Outstanding in 2017 (4)

2016

In August 2016 the Office launched an open procedure (five lots) to 
award a FWC to cover its needs for cultural mediators/interpreters in 
different countries. The total amount of the FWC for the four lots 
signed and audited (Lots 2 to 5) was 60 million euros over four 
years. These four lots were awarded to the same tenderer as first 
contractor-in-cascade. This contractor met the financial require-
ments of the selection criteria (1 million euros annual turnover) 
except for one of the three prior years, for which an availment 
contract was signed with a non-profit organisation which 
committed to make its ‘turnover’ available to the contractor. The 
Financial Regulation permits reliance on financial and economic 
capacities of other entities. However, in this case it is not clear how 
the ‘turnover’ of this entity can be made available, nor given the 
nature of its activities whether it can support the delivery of the 
services to be provided. The Office should have rejected the offer as 
it did not demonstrate compliance with the tenderers economic and 
financial capacity requirements. In consequence the framework 
contract and all related payments are irregular (no payments made in 
2016).

N/A

2016

The special meeting of the European Council on 23 April 2015 and 
the 10 point plan on migration adopted by the Foreign and Interior 
Affairs Ministers on 20 April 2015 called upon Member States to 
ensure fingerprinting of all migrants. To meet this requirement there 
was an urgent need to increase the fingerprinting capacity of the 
Greek authorities. The Commission assigned this task to the Office. 
It necessitated the purchase and subsequent donation to the Greek 
State of 90 fingerprint-scanning machines and 90 compatible 
computers (equipment) for an amount of 1,1 million euros under a 
grant agreement between the Commission and the Office . The grant 
agreement required delivery of the equipment to the IT Division of 
the police in Athens and from there distribution to the hotspots 
located on the Greek Islands. The description of the action required 
Office staff to be on the spot to ensure a proper delivery, installation 
and subsequent ownership transfer to the Greek police. However, 
Office staff were not on the spot to meet this requirement and 
confirmation from the relevant Greek authorities that the equipment 
had been delivered to the hotspots in February and early March 
2016 and is being used for its intended purpose was only received in 
July 2017.

Completed
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

Contracting authorities shall request in writing details of the 
constituent elements of the price or cost, if these appear to be 
abnormally low, and shall give the tenderer the opportunity to 
present its observations (5). For two of the lots (Lots 3 and 5) 
procuring cultural mediators/interpreters in different countries (see 
also paragraph 21), the Office received financial offers which were 
50 % and 31 % respectively lower than the next lowest offers. Whilst 
this is indicative of the offers being abnormally low, the Office did 
not consider it necessary to request any further explanation from the 
tenderer in this regard.

N/A

2016

In its audit report dated October 2016, the Commission’s Internal 
Audit Service (IAS) highlighted that there is no adequate planning 
for procurement procedures for administrative expenditure and that 
the monitoring of procedures and specific contracts concluded 
under framework contracts is weak. The Office and the IAS agreed 
on a plan to take corrective action.

Ongoing (6)

2016

In 2016 the Office faced several challenges in its operating 
environment, including not only a substantial increase in its budget 
and expansion of its tasks, but also a significant increase in the 
number of transactions, a change of the accounting officer 
(accountant) with several interim solutions and the introduction of 
a paperless workflow system. This situation of considerable change 
and instability was neither mitigated by a re-validation of the 
accounting system nor by introducing a system of regular ex post 
verifications of transactions.

Completed (7)

2016

In 2014, the Commission on behalf of more than 50 EU Institutions 
and bodies including the Office signed a framework contract with 
one contractor for the acquisition of software licences and the 
provision of maintenance and support. The framework contractor 
acts as an intermediary between the Office and suppliers that can 
address the Office’s needs. For these intermediary services the 
framework contractor is entitled to uplifts of two to nine percent of 
the suppliers’ prices. In 2016, total payments to the framework 
contractor amounted to 534 900 euros. The Office did not 
systematically check prices and uplifts charged with the suppliers’ 
quotes and invoices issued to the framework contractor.

Ongoing (8)

2016

An external evaluation of the Office’s performance in the period 
2011 to 2014 was prepared on behalf of the Commission and the 
final report was delivered in December 2015. It confirmed the 
relevance of the Office’s mission and tasks and concluded an overall 
effective implementation of its key tasks and that the majority of 
expected results had been achieved. The evaluation also referred to a 
need to increase the efficiency of operations and to further ensure 
cooperation and coherence of activities with other EU and 
international institutions and bodies working on migration issues. 
The Office is implementing an action plan agreed with the 
Management Board in the light of its extended mandate, with the 
final implementation report planned for June 2017.

N/A

C 434/124 EN Official Journal of the European Union 30.11.2018



Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

The Office purchased and installed 65 containers to be used as 
mobile offices on the Greek and Italian hot-spots for a total amount 
of 852 136 euros. Some of the containers were placed in a location 
where similar containers not belonging to the Office were later 
destroyed by riots. The Office has not covered the containers against 
this risk with an insurance contract.

N/A (9)

2016

The Office has not recovered all its due receivables in a timely 
manner. VAT reimbursements for the years 2014 (180 919 euros) 
and 2015 (245 960 euros) remained unrecovered at the end of 
2016.

Ongoing (10)

2016

The level of committed appropriations for Title II (administrative 
expenditure) carried over was high at 2,5 million euros, i.e. 43,9 % 
(2015: 1 076 583 euros, i.e. 36,9 %). The carry-overs mainly relate 
to IT infrastructure, translations and publications, business con-
sultancy and Management Board meeting cost for which contracts 
were signed towards the end of 2016 and/or invoices were only 
issued in 2017.

N/A

(1) The late payment ratio decreased from 65 % in January 2017 to 10 % in December 2017, whilst the total number of transactions 
increased in 2017 by 72 % compared to 2016.

(2) Internal control standards were changed by the Commission to the Internal control framework.
(3) The new contract for the provision of travel agency services was signed in March 2018.
(4) The new contract for the provision of interim services for EASO in Greece was signed in March 2018.
(5) Article 151 of Commission delegated Regulation (EU) No 1268/2012 on the rules of application of Regulation (EU, Euratom) 

No 966/2012 on the financial rules applicable to the general budget of the Union (OJ L 362, 31.12.2012, p. 1).
(6) The implementation of the recommendations has been reported by the Office to IAS as ‘ready for review’ in September 2017.
(7) The accounting system was validated in May 2018. Ex post verifications of transactions are outsourced to private audit companies.
(8) The Office plans to introduce systematic checks for every quotation above 135 000 euros made after 1 January 2018. So far, none of 

the transactions referenced are above this threshold.
(9) The quotations requested by the office have not been provided by the insurance companies.
(10) The Office has submitted VAT claims for all periods up to 31 December 2017 to the Maltese Tax Authorities. In 2017, a total amount 

of 203 277 euros of VAT (2014 and Q3 2016) was recovered.
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THE OFFICE’S REPLY

EASO thanks the Court for the very useful report received. This report identifies a series of weaknesses, EASO is taking 
these extremely seriously and has started putting corrective measures in place.

At the same time EASO is grateful that the Court recognises the extremely difficult situation the agency was under during 
the reference period, namely the unprecedented expansion of tasks that EASO needed to carry out to support Member 
States and contribute in the implementation of EU-level initiatives, including relocation and EU TR statement, the budget 
increase, the exponential increase in payments as well as the increase in procurement procedures (increase in number and 
complexity). On top of this, EASO needs to manage multi locations without many management positions being in place 
(heads of department, heads of unit and heads of sectors).

In this reply, EASO will elaborate on some of the observations made by the Court, however the agency globally accepts the 
report and its findings.

3.20.6. and 3.20.13. With regard to the systemic nature of non-compliance in EASO, the Agency — under new 
leadership — has started to take the necessary steps to ensure that compliance is front and centre in the culture and conduct 
of all its activities. This includes an objective, honest and frank internal control ‘self-assessment’.

3.20.13. EASO accepts that, in the past, governance and internal control structures, which fall within its responsibility, 
have not received the attention necessary to provide adequate assurance of legality and regularity. Again, under new 
leadership, building the structures and systems to ensure legality and regularity are systematised and assured (and that 
reporting is similarly accurate and comprehensive) is a top priority.

3.20.6., 3.20.8. and 3.20.12. The Court rightly highlights the deterioration and inadequacy of the HR situation in EASO, 
which also stands as a handicap to the proper functioning of the internal control system. The current HR situation 
represents one of the greatest challenges the Agency is facing to overcome the weaknesses identified in ECA’s observations, 
as those can be seen as largely symptomatic of the lack of resources to operate in a structured and regular fashion. EASO is 
facing this challenge head on, and on the basis of a solid recruitment plan based on a needs assessment exercise is urgently 
recruiting to fill management positions and other key roles (operational and administrative).

The Agency is also investing in staff satisfaction in order to address the issue of staff turnover. While it has to be 
acknowledged that the coefficient plays an important role here due to it being low in comparison with the rather high cost 
of living in Malta, EASO recognises that more needs to be done to improve staff satisfaction. Some measures are already 
being implemented such as flexible ways of working, improved internal communication and the organisation of staff 
events.

3.20.9. and 3.20.19. ECA correctly illustrates the challenges and speedy growth experienced by EASO in absolute 
numbers of financial transactions and procurement procedures. These numbers are stark in themselves, but in fact, do not 
adequately reflect the pressures in finance and procurement. These numbers do not take account of other associated facts 
and activities swelling the pressure on procurement, including the following two examples:

— The use of Externally Remunerated Experts (Article 204 and 287 FR), which presents a substantial amount of work in 
the procurement sector. This is set to grow in the coming years with the Agency relying on [Medical] Experts in support 
of Medical Country of Origin Information tasks.

— Market specific difficulties and limitations related to our geographical areas of activity. Rural areas of Italy and Greece 
are not vibrant in terms of a competitive market for provision of services and products to EASO. EASO is even an 
atypical customer, in terms of size, for economic operators in Malta, who largely do not have the capacity to meet the 
requirements of EASO’s larger contracts.

3.20.10. to 3.20.12. and 3.20.19. The ECA report importantly recognises the fact that EASO is one of few ‘multi- 
location’ Agencies. This characteristic is fundamental in understanding the relatively high burden on administrative support 
as well as the highly complex environment for implementing functioning internal control structures. It should also be noted 
that EASO is unusually reliant on contractors as a result of its operational activities, geographical spread and (as correctly 
identified by ECA) the limitations on deployment of MS experts. This is a multiplication factor on the tasks associated with 
procurement and finance (including decentralised financial actors), as Operational Bases in Greece, Italy and Cyprus, as well 
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as hotspots in Greece and Italy require their own cross section of contracts (lease agreements, cleaning, security, water, as 
well as critical contracts such as interim and interpretation services). Again, human resources will be key, and EASO (in 
recognition of the multiplication factor of being ‘multi-location’) is currently assessing the possibility to allocate the 
resources necessary to provide adequacy, quality as well as assurance of legality and regularity to the full procurement and 
financial cycles and an assessment of decentralisation through a consultancy.

3.20.14., 3.20.15. and 3.20.16. EASO recognises and accepts the need for an internal legal capability. The post of Senior 
Legal Officer will be published soon. In addition, it is accepted without reservation that legal support shall always be strictly 
in the interest of the Agency, and not individual persons (although not mutually exclusive). EASO recognises that the 
engagement of external legal services have not been adequately controlled. As stated in the ECA report, internal inquiries 
continue into this matter and the results will be communicated to ECA.

3.20.17. and 3.20.26. EASO accepts the comments. The referenced irregular contracts for interim services and travel 
agency services have been replaced by EASO during 2017. The rectification of this situation was initiated immediately after 
ECA identified their irregularity in their audit of 2016 (ECA report received in September 2017). Unfortunately, based on 
the timelines, and the fact that EASO replaced the contracts as quickly as possible after they were found to be irregular, 
payments under the contract did indeed occur in 2017.

3.20.18. and 3.20.19. EASO accepts the comments, and reiterates that such problems can be seen as symptomatic of 
inadequate resources and lack of internal control and governance factors, all identified by ECA in the report.

3.20.23. to 3.20.25. EASO accepts the comments.

3.20.27. As referred to in the ECA report, an internal inquiry continues into the matter.

3.20.29. to 3.20.31. EASO accepts the comments.

3.20.32. Concerning the final point of the report (Art. 43) the agency has doubts based on the fact that EASO operates 
as agreed with DG BUDG during 2016. The agency has gone back to DG BUDG on this issue to clarify the case once more 
and will not hesitate to react immediately should DG BUDG change their former communicated position.
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3.21. EUROPEAN CENTRE FOR DISEASE PREVENTION AND CONTROL (ECDC)

INTRODUCTION

3.21.1. The European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC — hereinafter ‘the Centre’), which is located in 
Stockholm, was established by Regulation (EC) No 851/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council (167). The 
Centre’s main tasks are to collect and disseminate data on the prevention and control of human diseases and to provide 
scientific opinions on this subject. The Centre is also required to coordinate the European network of bodies operating in 
this field.

3.21.2. The Table presents key figures for the Centre (168).

Table

Key figures for the centre

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 58 58

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 260 279

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Centre.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.21.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Centre which comprise the financial statements (169) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (170) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.21.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Centre for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Centre at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.
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(168) More information on the Centre’s competences and activities is available on its website: www.ecdc.europa.eu.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.21.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.21.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.21.7. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court’s observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2015

The Court found various weaknesses affecting the transparency of 
the audited procurement procedures, such as lack of a clear link with 
the Centre’s annual work programme, insufficient substantiation of 
the estimated contract value and absence of a financial benchmark 
(threshold) to assess the tenderer’s financial capacity.

Completed

2016

In May 2015, the Centre’s Director ad interim was appointed by a 
Management Board decision. As of 31 December 2016, this posting 
exceeded the one year maximum period stipulated in the Staff 
Regulations by eight months. This has also resulted in 15 additional 
ad interim arrangements for other staff.

Completed (1)

2016

In its audit report dated October 2016, the Commission’s Internal 
Audit Service (IAS) highlighted that, while acknowledging the 
Centre’s ongoing efforts to strengthen its internal procurement 
controls, there are still significant weaknesses in the procurement 
process. The IAS concluded that the planning and the monitoring of 
procurements are weak and that procurements are not always 
covered by the Annual Work Programme or financing decision. 
Reference is also made to the Court’s Report on the annual accounts 
of the Centre for the financial year 2015 and the reported 
weaknesses affecting the transparency of procurement procedures. 
The Centre and IAS agreed on a plan to take corrective action.

Completed (2)

2016

As in previous years carry-overs of committed appropriations were 
high for Title III (operating expenditure) at 7,9 million euros, i.e. 
41 % (2015: 7,5 million euros, i.e. 42 %). The carry-overs mainly 
relate to multiannual projects in the areas of scientific advice 
(2,4 million euros), surveillance (1,3 million euros), public health 
training (1,4 million euros) and public health IT (2,1 million euros). 
The Centre may consider introducing differentiated budget appro-
priations to better reflect the multi-annual nature of operations and 
unavoidable delays between the signature of contracts, deliveries and 
payments.

N/A

(1) Following a selection procedure, the Director ad interim has been appointed Director in 2017.
(2) The centre has implemented new IT tools to improve the planning and monitoring of the procurement process.
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THE CENTRE’S REPLY

The Centre has taken note of the Court’s report.
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3.22. EUROPEAN FOOD SAFETY AUTHORITY (EFSA)

INTRODUCTION

3.22.1. The European Food Safety Authority (hereinafter ‘the Authority’, aka ‘EFSA’), which is located in Parma, was 
established by Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council (171). The Authority’s main 
tasks are to supply the scientific information needed for Union legislation to be drawn up concerning food and food safety, 
to collect and analyse data that allow risks to be identified and monitored, and to provide independent information on these 
risks.

3.22.2. The Table presents key figures for the Authority (172).

Table

Key figures for the Authority

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 79 81

Total staff as at 31 December (2) 443 443

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Authority.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.22.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Authority which comprise the financial statements (173) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (174) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.22.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Authority for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Authority at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash 
flows, and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with 
accounting rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted 
accounting standards for the public sector.
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of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
(174) The reports on implementation of the budget comprise the reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory 

notes.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.22.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.22.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.22.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.22.8. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, the Court analyses the accounting environments, including 
the hierarchical position and independence of accounting officers. The superior of the Authority’s accounting officer is the 
Head of Administration/Corporate Services. We see a need to strengthen the accounting officer’s independence by making 
him directly responsible to the Agency’s Director (administrative) and Management Board (functional).

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.22.9. In May 2017, the Authority awarded, on behalf of nine agencies participating in the open call for tender, three 
framework contracts in cascade, covering a wide range of audit services. While inter-agency procurements provide a good 
opportunity to improve administrative efficiency, framework contracts with reopening of competition for each specific 
contract are more appropriate than cascades to support good value for money for procurements where the concrete 
services to be delivered are not known when the call is launched.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.22.10. In 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on ‘The process for Evaluation of 
Regulated Products: Assessment Phase in Pesticides Authorisation’ (175). The Authority is preparing an action plan to 
address any potential areas for improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.22.11. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2015
The Authority has not yet put in place a clear and comprehensive 
financial ex post control strategy covering all areas of operations and 
specifying the frequency and scope of such controls.

Completed

2016

In its audit report dated November 2016 the Commission’s Internal 
Audit Service (IAS) concluded that the controls in place for IT 
project management are adequate, but referred to significant 
weaknesses in relation to IT governance. It recommended updating 
EFSA’s IT governance policy, to introduce an organisation-wide IT 
risk management framework and risk register and to separate the 
information security function from the IT Unit. EFSA agreed with 
the IAS on a plan to take corrective actions.

Completed
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THE AUTHORITY’S REPLY

3.22.4. EFSA welcomes the unqualified opinions issued by ECA on the reliability of the accounts and on the legality and 
regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts. This evidences that the control system in place at EFSA adequately 
ensures overall compliance.

3.22.8. To ensure the independence of the accounting officer, the formal requirement set by the EFSA Financial 
Regulations is translated into the following EFSA reality: The EFSA Management Board appointed the current accounting 
officer in 2008. The accounting officer reports to the Head of the Bus Department and to ensure the functional 
independence of the accounting officer in the performance appraisal workflow, the Head of BuS Department is the 
reporting officer and the Chair of the Audit Committee the Countersigning officer. The accounting officer may at any time 
be suspended temporarily or definitely from his duties by the Management Board.

3.22.9. As for reopening versus cascading mechanisms in framework contracts, there is no obligation to use the 
reopening model and both models can be fit for purpose depending on the specific scenario. In the EFSA’s view, reopening 
competition is more appropriate for standardised services and is used in EFSA contracts covering statistical services, 
systematic literature review and audience research. EFSA uses the cascading model in a context where a long term 
contractual relationship is more important. In the particular case of the framework contract on external audit services, 
mainly to ensure (i) an adequate understanding of EFSA’s activities, (ii) a consistent audit methodology and, (iii) credibility at 
all governance levels. EFSA has control of the budget for proposals put forward by the contractor in the cascading model. 
When receiving an offer in line with the required specification, EFSA has the right to negotiate and recalibrate the offer 
received exercising therefore control on budget beyond assignment and timing. EFSA could trigger the cascading 
mechanism if the contractor is unable to propose the team, budget and timing meeting EFSA needs.

3.22.10. EFSA will duly implement the agreed action plan following the IAS Audit on the Evaluation of Regulated 
Products: Assessment Phase in Pesticides Authorisation.
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3.23. EUROPEAN INSTITUTE FOR GENDER EQUALITY (EIGE)

INTRODUCTION

3.23.1. The European Institute for Gender Equality (hereinafter ‘the Institute’, aka ‘EIGE’), which is located in Vilnius, was 
established by Regulation (EC) No 1922/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council (176). The Institute’s task is to 
collect, analyse and disseminate information as regards gender equality and to develop, analyse, evaluate and disseminate 
methodological tools in order to support the integration of gender equality into all Union policies and the resulting national 
policies.

3.23.2. The Table presents key figures for the Institute (177).

Table

Key figures for the Institute

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 8 8

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 45 45

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract agents and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Institute.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.23.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Institute which comprise the financial statements (178) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (179) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.23.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Institute for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Institute at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector
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notes.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.23.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.23.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.23.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE LEGALITY AND REGULARITY OF TRANSACTIONS

3.23.8. At the end of financial year 2017, the Institute was a defendant in four cases related to three procurement 
procedures which were brought to the General Court by unsuccessful tenderers. In each of these cases, the applicant 
requested the annulment of the award decision and the award of damages. Total damages claimed in those four cases 
amount to 700 000 euros or 9 % of the Institute’s yearly budget. In line with the assessment of the Institute’s external 
lawyer, a provision of 75 000 euros or 1 % of the Institute’s yearly budget, has been recoded to address the likely losses. The 
rulings of the General Court in each of these cases will decide on the legality and regularity of the procurement procedures 
for these contracts and the future payments.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.23.9. In 2016, the Institute organised a call for tender for travel services. The tender specifications and the evaluation 
process did not provide sufficient guarantees ensuring best value-for-money. The award formula and the pricing mechanism 
were not appropriate since they did not allow a proper assessment of the offers submitted by the bidders. The framework 
contract was signed for a maximum period of four years and a maximum amount of 700 000 euros. Payments made in 
2017 amounted to 137 000 euros.

3.23.10. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (180), (181). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). According to 
information from the Commission, by the end of 2017 the Institute had introduced e-invoicing for certain procedures, but 
not e-tendering and e-submission.

3.23.11. The Institute publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.23.12. In 2017 the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on ‘Stakeholder relations management 
and external communication’ by EIGE (182). The Institute prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for 
improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.23.13. An overview of the corrective actions taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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(180) Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1271/2013, Article 79 e-Government.
(181) Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012, Article 95(2) e-Government.
(182) We did not verify the audit work.



ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

The level of committed appropriations carried over remained high 
for Title III (operational expenditure) at 1,7 million euros, i.e. 51 % 
(2015: 2,2 million euros, i.e. 60 %), mainly in relation to studies 
going beyond the year end. The Institute may consider introducing 
differentiated budget appropriations to better reflect the multi- 
annual nature of operations and unavoidable delays between the 
signature of contracts, deliveries and payments.

Completed

2016

In 2016 the Institute launched an open call for tender for a 
framework contract on the maintenance and update of its gender 
statistics tools and resources for a maximum amount of 1,6 mil-
lion euros. The call was split into two lots without indicating the 
respective amounts per lot. Following a question from one tenderer, 
the Institute clarified on its website that the maximum amount per 
lot was estimated at 800 000 euros. However, two separate 
framework contracts were signed with the same tenderer for a 
maximum amount of 1,6 million euros per lot and an option to 
further increase the amounts by up to 50 % per lot, allowing the 
Institute to sign specific contracts over the maximum duration of 
the FWC (four years) for up to 4,8 million euros or three times the 
amount announced in the contract notice. Furthermore, price 
competition in the call for tender was based on daily rates only and 
not also on the time needed to complete the tasks, not allowing to 
identify and choose the most economically advantageous offers 
and to ensure best value for money. These weaknesses might have 
affected competition. Payments made in 2016 amounted to 
87 920 euros. In reaction to the audit, the Institute signed 
amendments to both FWC, reducing the maximum amounts to 
800 000 euros each (with a potential increase by maximum 50 %).

Completed

2016

The invitation to tender under a negotiated procedure with a single 
tenderer to procure maintenance and support for IT tools and 
databases capped the maximum price for all three defined outputs at 
81 000 euros (excluding VAT), specifying that any offer exceeding 
this amount would not be considered. Having received a tender for 
two of the three requested outputs, the Institute signed a service 
contract for a price of 97 410 euros. Payments made in 2016 
amounted to 73 057 euros.

N/A
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

In January 2016, the Institute published its external evaluation. It 
concluded that the Institute’s activities were consistent with its 
mandate and that its administration scores relatively well in terms of 
governance and efficiency. However, the evaluation included several 
recommendations to improve the Institute’s operations, for instance 
by setting clearer priorities, better targeting its outputs, developing 
synergies with relevant external actors and also by strengthening the 
role of its Management Board and clarifying the role of the Experts’ 
Forum. The Institute has started to implement an action plan 
addressing the recommendations.

Ongoing
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THE INSTITUTE’S REPLY

3.23.8. EIGE takes note of the comment. EIGE has examined the weaknesses and, irrespective of the General Court’s 
decisions in these cases, will adjust the procurement procedures to minimise the risk of future legal cases and potential 
dissatisfaction among unsuccessful tenderers.

3.23.9. EIGE takes note of the comment and underlines that internal controls are in place to check and control the 
pricing of flight and hotel offers submitted by the contractor. EIGE will raise this issue with the EU Agencies Network in 
order to exchange the best practices. In addition, EIGE expressed interest to participate in a joint procurement procedure 
organised by the Commission services (PMO). Following the award of this contract, EIGE intends not to renew its existing 
framework contract for provision of travel, accommodation and related services.

3.23.10. EIGE takes note of the comment. EIGE is implementing relevant e-procurement modules: e-submission (which 
includes TED e-notices and e-tendering platforms) and e-invoicing in compliance with the timelines set by the European 
Commission (EC). E-submission and e-invoicing modules are planned to be fully implemented in EIGE in 03 and 04 of 
2018. EIGE examined a possibility of optional implementation of e-submission and e-invoicing modules before the 
deadlines which were set by the EC. Taking into consideration the limited number of procedures and the high cost of the 
services, EIGE decided to decline this option in line with the cost efficiency and proportionality principles.

3.23.11. EIGE takes note of the comment. Taking into consideration the financial restrains for providing vacancy titles in 
all 24 official EU languages and the fact that the specificity of some job vacancies is better addressed through other vacancy 
advertising channels, EIGE is of the opinion that the channels currently used for publication of its vacancies ensure proper 
transparency and publicity.

3.23.12. In line with the recommendations of the audit report EIGE has prepared an action plan that is regularly 
monitored and updated. The agreed timeline to implement all actions is 31 December 2018 and the implementation is well 
advanced.
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3.24. EUROPEAN MEDICINES AGENCY (EMA)

INTRODUCTION

3.24.1. The European Medicines Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘EMA’), which is located in London, was 
established by Council Regulation (EEC) No 2309/93, which was replaced by Regulation (EC) No 726/2004 of the 
European Parliament and of the Council (183). The Agency operates through a pan-EU network and coordinates the 
scientific resources made available by the national authorities in order to ensure the evaluation and supervision of medicinal 
products for human or veterinary use.

3.24.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (184)

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 305 331 (1)

Total staff as at 31 December (2) 768 766

(1) Adopted budget. The final budget depends on the fees and charges generated in 2017.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.24.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (185) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (186) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.24.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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(183) OJ L 214, 24.8.1993, p. 1, and OJ L 136, 30.4.2004, p. 1. In accordance with the latter Regulation, the Agency’s original name, the 
European Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal Products, was changed to the European Medicines Agency.

(184) More information on the Agency’s competences and activities is available on its website: www.ema.europa.eu.
(185) The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement 

of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
(186) The reports on implementation of the budget comprise the reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory 

notes.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.24.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.24.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

Emphasis of matter

3.24.7. Without calling into question its opinion, the Court draws attention to the fact that the United Kingdom (UK) 
notified the European Council on 29 March 2017 of its decision to withdraw from the European Union. An agreement 
setting out the arrangements for its withdrawal is currently being negotiated. The accounts and related notes of the 
Agency, which is located in London, were prepared using the information available at the date of signature (1 June 2018).

3.24.8. On 20 November 2017, the General Affairs Council of the European Union agreed to move the seat of the 
Agency to Amsterdam, The Netherlands. The removal to temporary premises is planned for the beginning of 2019 and 
the Agency’s accounts include provisions for related costs amounting to 18,6 million euros.

3.24.9. Moreover, the lease agreement for the Agency’s current premises in London sets a rental period until 2039 
with no exit clause. The notes to the accounts disclose an amount of 489 million euros remaining rent until 2039, of 
which a maximum amount of 465 million euros corresponding to the lease period after the Agency’s planned move to 
Amsterdam is disclosed as a contingent liability.

3.24.10. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.24.11. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of their accounting environments, 
including the hierarchical position and independence of their accounting officers. In the Agency, the superior of the 
accounting officer is the Head of Finance. We see a need to strengthen the accounting officer’s independence by making her 
directly responsible to the Agency’s Director (administrative) and Management Board (functional).

3.24.12. Furthermore, since 2014 the Agency has undergone two major re-organisations and in parallel new major 
tasks were assigned to the Agency (see paragraphs 3.24.15 to 3.24.17.). While these events caused modifications to the 
Agency’s procedures and its accounting system, no re-validation of the accounting system was carried out since 2013.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.24.13. The Agency publishes vacancy notices on its website, but not on the website of the European Personnel 
Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency and publicity and allow citizens to identify vacancies published 
by the different European agencies collectively.
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3.24.14. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (187), (188). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 
2017, the Agency had introduced e-tendering for certain procedures, but not e-invoicing and e-submission.

Management of consulting services

3.24.15. In the course of last year’s audit we did an analysis of the Agency’s management of consulting services. The 
work included reviewing two selected projects linked to the implementation of the Regulations on Pharmacovigilance 
(Regulation (EU) No 1027/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council (189)) and Clinical Trials (Regulation (EU) 
No 536/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council (190)) which necessitated the establishment of complex pan- 
EU network systems requiring extensive technical IT development. Since there was no increase in the Agency’s staff 
establishment plan that could enable it to build-up the necessary expertise in-house, the Agency used consulting firms to 
address the tasks. However, the excessive use of consulting firms led to a critical dependency of the Agency on this external 
expertise. We also reported that control over project development and implementation was inadequate and that projects 
were considerably delayed and costs were escalating.

3.24.16. In the course of 2017 the Agency implemented several measures to improve the situation. A comprehensive 
policy to govern engagements of consulting firms was put in place. In order to get projects back under the Agency’s own 
control, functions that must be kept in-house and cannot be externalised were defined. Also, the Agency is moving to the 
use of fixed price rather than time & means based consulting contracts, allowing for a better cost management. 
Furthermore, a more adequate procedure for the authorisation of project changes was put in place.

3.24.17. However, to reduce the Agency’s critical dependence on consulting firms will take time and the impact of the 
measures taken can only be seen over the years. One of the two major projects audited in 2016, the Pharmacovigilance 
project (Eudravigilance Database Adverse Drug Reactions) has been completed in 2017 with an additional cost of some 
0,5 million euros. The Clinical Trials project is still ongoing with no GO-LIVE date defined and a budget that was again 
increased in 2017 by additional 4,9 million euros (191).

Initial date for 
GO-LIVE

GO-LIVE date 
planned 

31 December 
2016

Actual/planned 
GO-LIVE date 
31 December 

2017

Initial Budget
(euros)

Budget as at 
31 December 

2016
(euros)

Budget as at 
31 December 

2017
(euros)

Eudravigilance 
Database Ad-
verse Drug Re-
actions

Q3 2015 Q4 2017 Q4 2017 3,7 million 14,3 million 14,8 million

Clinical Trials & 
EU Database

Q1 2017 Q3 2018 Not defined 6,1 million 24,3 million 29,2 million

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.24.18. The Commission’s Internal Audit Service in 2017 carried out an audit of the Agency’s ‘Implementation of the 
pharmacovigilance fees Regulation’ (192), (193). The Agency prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for 
improvement.
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(187) Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1271/2013, Article 79 e-Government.
(188) Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012, Article 95(2) e-Government.
(189) OJ L 316, 14.11.2012, p. 38.
(190) OJ L 158, 27.5.2014, p. 1.
(191) In 2018 the Clinical Trials project was merged with a new project (SUSAR — CTIS — Clinical Trials Information Systems) with an 

estimated total budget of 34,3 million euros.
(192) Regulation (EU) No 658/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council (OJ L 189, 27.6.2014, p. 112).
(193) We did not verify the audit work.



FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.24.19. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2014

The Agency’s fee regulation provides due dates for the collection of 
fees from applicants and the Agency’s related payments to National 
Competent Authorities (1). These due dates were not respected for 
most of the transactions audited by the Court.

Ongoing (fee collection)

Completed (payments to NCAs)

2014

In 2014, the Agency carried out an administrative procedure against 
its Information, Communication and Technology (ICT) manager. 
Significant weaknesses in management control were reported, 
implying considerable operational and financial risks to the Agency. 
An action plan to address the issue was established and 
implemented. However, the effectiveness of the measures taken 
has yet to be evaluated by the Agency.

Completed

2014

One of the Agency’s tasks is to distribute appropriate pharmacov-
igilance information to Member States and to the general public. 
This information is collected from individual national authorities 
and verified with the pharmaceutical companies concerned. 
However, the Agency is largely dependent on controls and 
inspections carried out by Member States’ authorities. These 
determine the completeness and accuracy of information dissemi-
nated to the public.

N/A

(Not under the Agency’s control)

2016

Since the introduction of a new IT accounting system in 2011, 
reporting on commitment workflow and consumption has not been 
sufficiently transparent. Although the matter was repeatedly 
addressed to the Agency, no corrective action has been taken.

Ongoing

2016

The Agency concluded Corporate Rate Agreements for the provision 
of accommodation for experts with 25 hotels in London without 
using a competitive procurement procedure. For six hotels, 
payments made in 2016 were above the Financial Regulation’s 
threshold for which an open or restricted competitive procurement 
procedure is required. The six Corporate Rate Agreements and the 
related 2016 payments, amounting to some 2,1 million euros are 
therefore irregular.

Ongoing

2016

In 2014 the Commission, on behalf of more than 50 EU Institutions 
and bodies (including the Agency) signed a framework contract with 
one contractor for the acquisition of software, licences and the 
provision of related IT maintenance and consultancy. The frame-
work contractor acts as an intermediary between the Agency and 
suppliers that can address the Agency’s needs. For these inter-
mediary services the framework contractor is entitled to uplifts of 
two to nine percent of the suppliers’ prices. In 2016, total payments 
to the framework contractor amounted to 8,9 million euros. The 
Agency did not systematically check prices and uplifts charged with 
the suppliers’ quotes and invoices issued to the framework 
contractor.

Completed
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

Since 2014 the Agency has undergone two major re-organisations 
including the internal re-allocation of top and middle management 
positions. The re-allocation of key staff in the area of IT and 
administration was not successful, causing material risk of instability 
to the Agency and its operations. Moreover, there is no system in 
place to analyse skills availability, identify gaps and to recruit and 
allocate appropriate staff.

Completed

2016

Consultancy

In addition to the annual audit work carried out for all agencies, the 
Court did an analysis of the Agency’s use of consulting services in 
relation to two major projects.

The Agency has been tasked by Parliament and Council with the 
implementation of the Regulations on Pharmacovigilance (Regula-
tion (EU) No 1027/2012) and Clinical Trials (Regulation (EU) 
No 536/2014) which necessitate the establishment of complex pan- 
EU network systems. This requires extensive technical IT develop-
ment and participation, as well as input from multiple stakeholders, 
and in particular Member States.

These tasks were assigned to the Agency when it was expected to 
reduce staff in accordance with the Inter-Institutional Agreement on 
budgetary discipline adopted on 2 December 2013. There was no 
increase in the Agency’s staff establishment plan that would enable it 
to built-up the necessary expertise in the areas of business and IT 
development.

Extensive use of external consultants

Given that the Agency had just 13 staff employed in the I-Delivery 
Department, it engaged consulting companies in the areas of 
business analysis, information technology, project management and 
quality assurance. In the second quarter of 2016 the Agency had 
131 consultants on site and an additional 60 consultants off site.

The Agency therefore is critically dependent on external expertise 
since the start of the projects, yet there is no policy in place to 
govern the use of consultants. For instance, the profiles the Agency’s 
own staff should occupy are not defined (Project Management, 
Business Analysis, Business Architects, Solution Architects, Data 
Architects, etc.). Such profiles have at times been assigned to 
external consultants.

Inadequate control over project development and implementation

When the Agency was entrusted with the new tasks in 2012 and 
2014 it did not have an adequate methodology in place to manage 
projects of such scale. A new methodology was introduced in 2014 
which had to be considerably refined in September 2016.

Ongoing
(See paragraphs 3.24.15.-3.24.17.)
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

In a number of instances alterations from the planned activities or 
approach occurred before they were authorised via a formal change 
request. Such practice not only impairs management’s ability to 
supervise and monitor project development and implementation but 
can also undermine projects’ coherence.
Until mid-2016 all external consultants were engaged on the basis of 
time and means contracts although project deliverables were clearly 
defined. Also, a considerable part of the consulting engagements was 
carried out in another Member State since all London-based external 
resources had been exhausted. This limited the Agency’s ability to 
monitor the implementation of the projects in a timely manner. 
Quality issues identified upon receipt of deliverables required 
rectification for which additional cost was charged to the Agency.
Delay and escalating cost
The Agency has experienced delays and escalating costs in 
developing the systems. Frequent changes in project scope, budget 
and deadlines were due mainly to evolving system requirements 
taking into account changing needs of Member States (2). There is no 
certainty yet regarding final costs and go-live dates. See examples in 
the table below for two major projects:

Initial date 
for GO-LIVE

Current 
planned date 
for GO-LIVE

Initial Budget 
(euros)

Budget as at 
31 October 

2016  
(euros)

Eudravigi-
lance Data-

base Ad-
verse Drug 
Reactions

Q3 2015 Q4 2017 3,7 million 14,3 million

Clinical 
Trials & EU 

Database

Q1 2017 Q3 2018 6,1 million 24,3 million

2016

The founding Regulation requires an external evaluation of the 
Agency and its operations by the Commission every ten years. The 
last evaluation report was issued in 2010. Such a long time span 
does not ensure timely performance feedback to stakeholders.

Ongoing

(1) Agency’s fee regulation, Articles 10(1) and 11(1).
(2) Telematics governance bodies where Member States are represented to elaborate and endorse requirements of future IT systems.
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.24.8. The Agency takes note of the comment.

3.24.9. The Agency takes note of the comment.

3.24.11. The Agency takes note of the comment of the Court and is considering what changes could be introduced. The 
Agency follows the requirements of EMA Financial Regulation: it is already the case that the Management Board appoints 
the accounting officer in accordance with Article 50(1) of EMA Financial Regulation and the Board has also adopted 
detailed charter of tasks and responsibilities of the accounting officer. Risks in relation to independence are mitigated by 
this framework. The representation letter signed by the accounting officer and the Executive Director reinforces further such 
independence.

3.24.12. The validation of the Agency’s accounting systems has been launched in March 2018.

3.24.13. EMA provides the necessary level of transparency and publicity by publishing on or having access to EMA 
website, LinkedIn, Interagency job advertisement board, specialised publications depending on profiles. As a result, EMA 
receives a lot interest from candidates across the Union, some selection procedures having reached more than 1 000 
candidates.

Moreover, the general implementing provisions on the procedure governing the engagement and use of temporary staff 
foresee that the selection notices of temporary agents falling within Article 2(f) of the CEOS may be published only in the 
working languages of the agencies, while those agencies that have not adopted a working language shall publish the 
selection notices in all official languages of the EU. EMA’s working language has been established as being English since June 
2015 by an Executive Director’s decision, supported by the Management Board. However, EPSO has informed EMA that, in 
order to publish via the EPSO website, EPSO still requires the EMA to translate vacancy announcements into all official EU 
languages and make these language versions available on the EMA website.

It is of note that publications of vacancies in all EU languages has a significant impact on selection procedure times lines 
and higher cost.

3.24.14. By the end of 2017 the Agency had introduced e-tendering for all procedures above the directive threshold and 
email tender procedures for procedures below the directive threshold. The Agency has not introduced e-invoicing and e- 
submission, but in September 2017 the Agency signed a Memorandum of Understand with the European Commission for 
access to and the use of e-submission and is awaiting a date from the European Commission for the same.

3.24.16. The Agency welcomes the Court's recognition that several important measures have been implemented by the 
Agency to respond to their 2016 audit observations in relation to the management of consulting services.

3.24.17. For the two projects audited, it is recognised that Clinical Trials needed an additional budget because of the 
complexity of the stakeholder eco-system and of the requested system to be built. This change request was requested and 
approved through the portfolio governance structure, and the status of the project has been discussed in full detail with the 
EMA Management Board.

3.24.18. The Agency takes note of the comment.
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3.25. EUROPEAN MONITORING CENTRE FOR DRUGS AND DRUG ADDICTION (EMCDDA)

INTRODUCTION

3.25.1. The European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (hereinafter ‘the Centre’, aka ‘EMCDDA’), which 
is located in Lisbon, was created by Council Regulation (EC) No 302/93 (194). The Centre’s main task is to collect, analyse 
and disseminate information as regards drugs and drug addiction in order to prepare and publish information at European 
level that is objective, reliable and comparable. The information is intended to provide a basis for analysing the demand for 
drugs and ways of reducing it, as well as, in general, phenomena associated with the drug market.

3.25.2. The Table presents key figures for the Centre (195).

Table

Key figures for the Centre

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 15 16

Total staff as at 31 December (2) 101 111

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Centre.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.25.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Centre which comprise the financial statements (196) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (197) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.25.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Centre for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Centre at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.
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of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
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notes.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.25.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.25.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.25.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.25.8. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of their accounting environments, 
including the hierarchical position and independence of their Accounting Officers. In the Centre, the superior of the 
accounting officer is the Head of Administration/Corporate Services. We see a need to strengthen the Accounting Officer’s 
independence by making him directly responsible to the Centre’s Director (administrative) and Management Board 
(functional).

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.25.9. The Centre publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

3.25.10. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (198), (199). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 
2017 the Centre was not yet using any of these tools.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.25.11. In 2017 the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on the Centre’s ‘Management of Data 
Collection, Validation and Quality Assurance’ (200). The Centre prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for 
improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.25.12. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.

C 434/150 EN Official Journal of the European Union 30.11.2018

(198) Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1271/2013, Article 79 e-Government.
(199) Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012, Article 95(2) e-Government.
(200) We did not verify the audit work.



ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2015

In 2012 the Centre signed a framework contract with a maximum 
amount for signing specific contracts of 250 000 euros, which was 
specified in the contract notice. However, the Centre did not respect 
this ceiling. By the end of 2015 the total payments made under this 
contract amounted to 382 181 euros; i.e. exceeded it by 50 %. The 
payments made above the ceiling indicate that the Centre’s 
procedure for monitoring framework contracts should be improved.

N/A (1)

2016

For two framework contracts with maximum values of 
135 000 euros and 650 000 euros one of the Centre’s employees 
acted as Authorising Officer by delegation when appointing the 
evaluation committee, taking the award decisions and signing the 
contracts. However, the delegation granted by the Authorising 
Officer was limited to 130 000 euros and did not explicitly refer to 
framework contracts. Payments made in 2016 amounted to 
35 310 euros.

N/A

2016

In its audit report of January 2016, the Commission’s Internal Audit 
Service (IAS) highlighted a strong need to improve the Centre’s 
management of IT projects. The IAS concluded in particular that 
there is no overarching long-term strategic vision for the IT systems 
supporting the Centre’s core operational processes, that its IT project 
management methodology was only partially adapted to its needs 
and that the process to manage system requirements is inadequate. 
The Centre and the IAS agreed on a plan to take corrective action.

Ongoing

(1) The contract was closed and there were no payments in 2017.
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.25.8. In the EMCDDA’s view the current organisational setting has not affected the independence of the EMCDDA 
accounting officers. Indeed this independence has been consistently ensured in accordance with the relevant rules, in 
particular via the appointment of the accounting officers by the EMCDDA Management Board, the functional reporting and 
accountability of these officers to the Board, and the diligent application of the rules on the segregation of the duties of the 
different EMCDDA financial actors. In this context, the EMCDDA is ready to follow up on the recommendation of the 
Court, while ensuring that this follow up is proportionate to the size of the organisation and preserves the effectiveness and 
efficiency of its functioning.

3.25.9. As a standard procedure, the EMCDDA also publishes its vacancy notices by means of dissemination to the 
members of its governing bodies, to the Reitox National Focal Points and to the other EU agencies. Furthermore, the next 
EMCDDA selection processes are also going to be published on the Inter-Agency Job-Advertisement Portal, the online 
shared platform developed by the network of EU agencies to increase the public visibility of agencies’ recruitment processes. 
In this context the EMCDDA will assess the cost-benefit of a further publication via EPSO portal.

3.25.10. The EMCDDA is complying with the ‘e-procurement’ related requirements in accordance with the relevant EU 
legal framework and the timetable established in this context for the rollout of ‘e-procurement’ in the EU. Indeed since 
August 2015 the EMCDDA has set up, in cooperation with the relevant EC services, the technical configuration/ICT tool 
required for ‘e-invoicing’ (as made available by EC/DG DIGIT for the execution of DIGIT’s framework contracts). 
Furthermore, since 2017 the EMCDDA has planned the preparatory operations required to be able to use ‘e-tendering’ and 
‘e-submission’ from October 2018, as required by the abovementioned legal framework. The execution of this plan is in 
progress and the EMCDDA expects to meet this deadline with no major problems.
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3.26. EUROPEAN AGENCY FOR THE OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT OF LARGE-SCALE IT SYSTEMS IN THE AREA OF 
FREEDOM, SECURITY AND JUSTICE (EU-LISA)

INTRODUCTION

3.26.1. The European Agency for the operational management of large-scale IT systems in the area of freedom, security 
and justice (eu-LISA), hereinafter ‘the Agency’, which is located in Tallinn, Strasbourg and St. Johann im Pongau, was 
established by Regulation (EC) No 1077/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council (201). The core mission of this 
Agency is to fulfil the operational management tasks for the Second Generation Schengen Information System (SIS II), the 
Visa Information System (VIS) and the European System for the comparison of fingerprints (Eurodac).

3.26.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (202).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 82 79

Total staff as at 31 December (2) 144 152

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.26.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (203) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (204) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.26.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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(201) OJ L 286, 1.11.2011, p. 1.
(202) More information on the Agency’s competences and activities is available on its website: www.eulisa.europa.eu.
(203) The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement 

of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
(204) The reports on implementation of the budget comprise the reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory 

notes.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.26.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.26.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.26.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.26.8. In 2017 the Agency encountered difficulties in attracting sufficient competition for several middle-value 
procurement procedures. In each of the procedures audited, the Agency did not receive more than one offer.

3.26.9. EU-LISA currently manages three separate, non-integrated large-scale IT systems (SIS II, VIS and Eurodac) all 
dealing with data in the Union’s policy area of freedom, security and justice. Such approach may prevent the Agency from 
realizing economies of scale and synergies between the different systems. Current considerations to extend the Agency’s 
mandate to the management of several additional IT systems in coming years make this matter even more acute. The 
Agency should, in consultation with the Commission and Member States, prepare a detailed cost-benefit analysis to support 
a discussion on the future development strategy for the systems.

3.26.10. The project for the construction of a new building on the Strasbourg site suffered considerable delays. 
Although the Agency had already paid the full price for construction works in 2016, the construction works were still not 
finalised by the end of 2017 and only some 70 % of the works were covered by the accepted works progress reports. Part of 
the Agency’s staff has nevertheless already moved to the new building still under construction while the works were still 
ongoing. The Agency and the contractor blame each other for the delays and the contractor in December 2017 submitted a 
financial claim to the Agency and filed a court case. The Agency is considering its own legal claim against the 
contractor (205).

3.26.11. The Agency publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

3.26.12. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (206), (207). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 
2017 the Agency had introduced e-invoicing and e-tendering for certain procedures, but not e-submission.

Consulting

3.26.13. Given the nature of its operations, the Agency uses consultancy services mainly in relation with IT projects. 
According to the agencies records, in 2017 IT projects were implemented within the budgets and timeframes set. For the 
few evolutive maintenance projects that were slightly behind schedule exception reports were prepared.
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3.26.14. For the development and implementation of IT projects the agency applies an outsourcing model where some 
90 % of the related work is carried out by contractors. There are three main IT framework contracts in place with three 
consortia, one for each system. Payments made in 2017 under these framework contracts amounted to 3 million euros for 
Eurodac, 16 million euros for SIS II and 13 million euros for VIS. Although all phases of IT projects from the definition of 
requirements and milestones to the go-life of new system components are owned by and under control of the Agency, a 
model under which the evolution and development activities for such sensitive IT systems is outsourced to such an extent 
creates considerable risks of over-reliance and dependency on contractors. This is even more the case since the number of 
potential contractors to deal with systems of that scale and requirements is limited for operational and security reasons.
3.26.15. At the same time, the small number of staff in key operational units, in particular in the ‘Application 
Management and Maintenance’ unit (AMM), creates significant risks for the continuity of operations. In the second half of 
2017, the head of the AMM unit also occupied ad interim the posts of ‘Head of the Operations Department’ and ‘Head of the 
Operations and Infrastructure Unit’, thereby combining the three highest management posts in the Operations Department, 
which creates further continuity risks.
3.26.16. The framework contracts (FWCs) signed with the respective consortia for the operation of the main IT systems 
do not only cover normal maintenance but also evolutive maintenance for which the price cannot be calculated on the basis 
of the price quotes attached to the FWC, which creates a risk of overpayment. For the calculation of prices for the specific 
contracts, the Agency applies a combination of fixed price and quoted time and means approach aiming at sound cost 
control. For the VIS contract, the Agency also applied IFPUG (208), a standard methodology using function points for the 
determination of price for development activities. The agency may consider using IFPUG also for the other systems.

OBSERVATIONS ON BUDGETARY MANAGEMENT

3.26.17. The Agency entered into global commitments for a total amount of 69,9 million euros, to cover future 
expenditure related to new tasks and IT systems which were initially foreseen to be entrusted to the Agency in 2017 but for 
which the legal basis was not yet adopted by year-end (Eurodac recast and Dublin allocation system) or only shortly before 
(Entry/Exit system Regulation adopted on 30 November 2017). The corresponding payment appropriations were reduced 
by two amending budgets by 85,6 million euros, from 153,3 million euros in the initial voted budget to 67,7 million euros 
in the final adopted budget.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.26.18. In December 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service (IAS) issued a report on ‘Audit on the controls 
over the procurement process in eu-LISA’ (209). The Agency has prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for 
improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.26.19. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2013

According to the Agency’s Founding Regulation, countries asso-
ciated with the implementation, application and development of the 
Schengen acquis and Eurodac-related measures must make a 
contribution to the Agency’s budget. Although Schengen associated 
countries were using the systems managed by the Agency in 2013 
the Commission’s negotiations were still ongoing.

Ongoing

(Not under the Agency’s control)

2015

The Agency signed a two million euros framework contract for the 
procurement services by a contractor (procurement services), for 
training, coaching and learning services from third party providers 
(training services). The contractor identifies suitable training services 
for any specific request, and provides a quote for the training 
services plus a fee for its own procurement service (uplift). However, 
the framework contract fails to specify that the procurement services 
should be in compliance with the procurement provisions in the 
Agency’s financial rules. Therefore the current process of submitting 
quotes for approval by the Agency does not ensure that the services 
are procured in compliance with all requirements of the financial 
rules.

Outstanding

2015

Arrangements with Schengen Associated Countries (Switzerland, 
Liechtenstein, Iceland and Norway) defining detailed rules for their 
participation in the work of the Agency, including provisions on 
voting rights and their contribution to the Agency’s budget, have 
still not been concluded. In their absence, Schengen Associated 
Countries contribute to Title III (operational expenditure) of the 
Agency’s budget following a provision in the association agreements 
signed with the EU. However they do not yet contribute to activities 
under Titles I and II (salaries and other administrative expenditure) 
of the Agency’s budget.

Ongoing

(Not under the Agency’s control)

2015

The audited procurement procedures showed that the Agency 
engaged in contractual agreements or negotiations with a single 
contractor without precisely defining the services requested. This 
limits competition and increases dependence upon the contractor. 
The Agency should conclude agreements with multiple suppliers or 
define the services required more precisely, whenever possible.

Outstanding

2016

In 2016 the Agency received and accepted supplies amounting to 
2,8 million euros without having budget and legal commitments 
(contracts) in place. These were made retroactively in order to 
regularise the purchases.

N/A
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

In its audit report of July 2016, the Commission’s Internal Audit 
Service (IAS) concluded that the overall design and practical 
implementation of processes ensures that eu-LISA operates the SIS 
II, VIS and Eurodac IT systems in a way that allows the continuous 
and uninterrupted exchange of data between the national authorities 
using them. Although the IAS did not highlight any very important 
issues, it considered that there is room for improving the efficiency 
of the processes in relation to configuration management and 
change management, release and test management, problem 
management, as well as service and incident management. The 
Agency and the IAS agreed on a plan to take corrective actions.

Ongoing

2016

Appropriations carried over under Title II (administrative expendi-
ture) are high with 5 million euros, i.e. 63 % of committed 
appropriations (2015: 9 million euros, i.e. 50 %). They mainly 
concern building maintenance and consultancy services to be 
delivered in 2017. Such high level of carry-overs to cover next year’s 
activities is in contradiction with the budgetary principle of 
annuality.

N/A

2016

In June 2015, the Agency signed a construction contract for its 
premises in Strasbourg for an amount of 21,5 million euros. Stage 
payments were agreed as the main payment method. However, in 
order to increase budget consumption, the Agency amended the 
contract in July 2015 to make advance payments the preferred 
method. By November 2016 the Agency had paid the full contract 
amount although less than half of the works had been completed.

Ongoing

2016

In one of its meetings held in 2016 the Commission’s representative 
in the Agency’s Management Board addressed the issue of the 
increasing maintenance costs. While there are several arguments to 
explain this, such as the continued development and increased 
functionalities of the systems, the Court identified procurements 
where the Agency did not check for the most economical solution. 
For example, the Agency purchased a new software licence for an 
amount of 4,6 million euros under a framework contract (FWC) 
without checking that the framework contractor, who acted as an 
intermediary between the Agency and potential software suppliers, 
had found the best price.

N/A

2016

In May 2016 the Agency signed a FWC with a Consortium for 
194 million euros for the further development and maintenance of 
the Visa Information System (VIS) and of the Biometrics Matching 
System (BMS) for a maximum period of six years. The contract was 
awarded through a public procurement procedure. One main 
requirement for tenderers to be accepted was having commercial 
access to the BMS technology. However, since the company that 
developed the BMS technology was not contractually obliged to 
grant commercial access to any interested tenderer, there was a 
potential risk for the competiveness of the procedure.

N/A
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

An external evaluation of the Agency was carried out on behalf of 
the Commission from March to December 2015 and results were 
presented in the final evaluation report in March 2016. The 
evaluation concluded that the Agency contributes to the operational 
management of large-scale IT systems in the area of freedom, 
security and justice and effectively fulfils its tasks. In order to 
improve operational management further, the evaluators made 64 
recommendations, seven of which are considered to be critical and 
11 very important. The Agency has prepared a plan to address the 
recommendations that is under implementation.

N/A
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.26.8. The Agency acknowledges the comment. For middle-value procurement, the Agency systematically publishes ex 
ante notices on its website in accordance with Article 103(2) of Financial Regulation.

3.26.9. In December 2017, the Commission put forward two proposals for a Regulation establishing a framework for 
interoperability between EU information systems (in the borders and visa areas as well as in the police and judicial 
cooperation, asylum and migration areas). Moreover, revision of mandate of the Agency (in the final stages to be adopted) 
establishes the responsibility for the development of interoperability actions subject to the adoption of the relevant 
legislative proposals. The Agency has so far supported the discussions at The High Level Expert Group on information 
systems and interoperability with technical expertise and knowhow. At the same time, a study (ongoing) was undertaken in 
order to have a clear picture related to the future architecture for interoperable IT systems. The study comprises also an 
impact assessment and migration as well as integration plan for interoperability components of existing and future systems.

3.26.10. The Agency confirms the delay in the implementation of construction project in Strasbourg. Please note that 
prepayments to the contractor were covered with sufficient bank guarantees, which are released progressively upon 
acceptance of works.

Relocation of staff to the new office building was done upon preliminary acceptance of works. Construction works 
continue in the other building and are related to the data centre.

The Agency signed a contract with an external law company to acquire legal support for this construction contract. They 
analysed the contractor’s claim and, on behalf of eu-LISA, registered a statement of defence to the Administrative Court in 
Strasbourg. The Court’s decision is pending.

3.26.11. The Agency acknowledges the comment. Please note that the Agency also publishes vacancy notices on the EU 
Agencies Network and EU-Training websites. However, additional financial resources are required for this purpose in order 
to comply with EPSO’s language regime requiring translation of vacancy notices into all EU languages (e.g. the cost estimate 
of the translation of one vacancy notice into all EU languages amounts to EUR 12 000).

3.26.12. The Agency acknowledges the comment. As regards e-submission, technical issues in the platform managed by 
EC-DG DIGIT prevented the use of the tool; as other agencies, the Agency was therefore not in a position to reliable deploy 
the platform in 2017. Once the platform becomes stable, the Agency intends to use it in its procurement activities.

3.26.13. The Agency acknowledges the findings. The Agency aims at reducing further the number of projects behind 
schedule and has therefore started to implement actions in order to improve the planning process (see also finding 
3.26.16.). According to Agency’s Corporate Key Performance Indicator framework (number 22) presented in the 
Consolidated Annual Activity Report 2017, it results that the ‘completed projects against defined quality, cost, and time 
parameter’ has an actual of 8,79 %, which is within the defined target of 10 %. Additionally, in 2017, eu-LISA Project 
Management Methodology has been tailored and updated towards better alignment with the Agency’s strategy and 
compliance with PRINCE2 methodology. An Enterprise Project Management Tool has been recently deployed in order to 
enable more accurate reporting and enhanced resource allocation across the Agency.

3.26.14. The Agency confirms the high level of involvement of external contractors in IT projects (operational and 
corporate).

Such high level of outsourcing is directly linked with EC Communication COM(2013) 519 on Programming of human and 
financial resources for decentralised agencies 2014-2020. When the Agency was created in 2012, the adopted 
establishment plan did not foresee sufficient posts for the volume of tasks given to the Agency. Moreover, since 2013, the 
volume of tasks under Agency responsibility had been substantially increased, but its requests for additional staff were 
rejected while the Agency had to implement the staff reduction required in the EC Communication (seven posts in total).

In order to ensure proper segregation of duties, contractors involved in quality assurance are not involved in providing 
external support to the operational management of operational large scale IT systems.

3.26.15. The Agency acknowledges this extraordinary situation when one staff member had to temporarily take over 
additional tasks. The appointment was necessarily due to a long term absence of the Head of Operations Department and 
the ongoing recruitment to replace the other vacant managerial position.

As a mitigating measure, the Agency appointed another staff member, the Head of Security Unit, as ad interim Head of 
Operations and Infrastructure Unit until the newly recruited manager is in place starting on the 1st of July 2018.
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3.26.16. The Agency acknowledges the comment. System evolutions can only be summarily described at the launch of 
the FWC tender, thus requiring the negotiation of specific evolutions when requirements are known (for example when the 
legal basis of the Systems changes). In the framework of the revision of its sourcing strategy, the Agency shall address 
contracting options, including the adoption of IFPUG-sponsored methodology, with a view at reducing reliance on a single 
contractor for evolutions. The action plan to the 2017 Commission’s Internal Audit Service (IAS) audit on the controls over 
the procurement process includes elements pertinent to this comment.

3.26.17. The Agency acknowledges the comment. The scenario and associated risks were identified already in 2016, and 
reflected in the Agency’s estimates of revenue and expenditure 2017. Throughout the year, the Management Board was 
regularly kept informed on the risk and constraints of adopting large global commitments due to the delays in the adoption 
of the legal basis of the new tasks.

3.26.18. The Agency confirms the information.
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3.27. THE EUROPEAN UNION’S JUDICIAL COOPERATION UNIT (EUROJUST)

INTRODUCTION

3.27.1. The European Union’s Judicial Cooperation Unit (hereinafter ‘Eurojust’), which is located in The Hague, was set 
up by Council Decision 2002/187/JHA (210) with a view to reinforcing the fight against serious organised crime. Its 
objective is to improve the coordination of cross-border investigations and prosecutions between the Member States of the 
European Union, and between Member States and non-Member States.

3.27.2. The Table presents key figures for Eurojust (211).

Table

Key figures for Eurojust

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 44 48

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 245 242

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by Eurojust.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.27.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Eurojust which comprise the financial statements (212) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (213) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.27.4. In our opinion, the accounts of Eurojust for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Eurojust at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.

30.11.2018 EN Official Journal of the European Union C 434/161

(210) OJ L 63, 6.3.2002, p. 1.
(211) More information on Eurojust’s competences and activities is available on its website: www.eurojust.europa.eu.
(212) The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement 

of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
(213) The reports on implementation of the budget comprise the reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory 

notes.

http://www.eurojust.europa.eu


Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.27.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.27.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.27.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND PERFORMANCE

3.27.8. Eurojust publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.27.9. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2011

In the report for the financial year 2010, the Court noted that there 
was scope to reconsider the definition of respective roles and 
responsibilities between the Director and the College of Eurojust in 
order to avoid the overlap of responsibilities, currently resulting 
from the Founding Regulation. No corrective measures were taken 
in 2011 (1).

Ongoing

(Not under the Agency’s control)

2016

Carry-overs of committed appropriations were high for Title II 
(expenditure for support activities) at 6 446 530 euros, i.e. 40 % 
(2015: 1,6 million euros or 22 %). They mainly relate to works 
beyond year-end and purchases ordered in preparation of Eurojust’s 
move to new premises in 2017 (4 867 482 euros).

N/A

(1) The new Eurojust Regulation is still under consideration by the legislator.
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EUROJUST’S REPLY

3.27.8. The statement concerning Eurojust not using EPSO for recruitment processes is correct. This approach is due to 
the financial constraints deriving from EPSO’s requirement of translating the vacancy notices into all 24 official EU 
language.
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3.28. EUROPEAN UNION AGENCY FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT COOPERATION (EUROPOL)

INTRODUCTION

3.28.1. The European Union Agency for Law Enforcement Cooperation (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘Europol’), which is 
located in The Hague, was established by Regulation (EU) 2016/794 of the European Parliament and of the Council (214) 
replacing and repealing Council Decision 2009/371/JHA (215). The objective of the Agency is to support and strengthen 
action by the Member States' police authorities and other law enforcement services and their mutual cooperation in 
preventing and combating serious crime affecting two or more Member States, terrorism and forms of crime which affect a 
common interest covered by Union policy.

3.28.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (216).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 104 118

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 737 804

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.28.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (217) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (218) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.28.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.28.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.28.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.28.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.28.8. The Agency publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.28.9. In 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on ‘Procurement in the European Police 
Office’ (219). The Agency prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.28.10. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

As in previous years carry-overs of committed appropriations have 
been high for Title II (administrative expenditure) at 3,5 million 
euros, i.e. 39 % (2015: 4,2 million euros, i.e. 41 %). They mainly 
concern 2016 expenditure for the Office’s headquarters which will 
only be invoiced by the Host State in 2017 (2 million euros).

N/A
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.28.8. Over 220 Liaison Officers from EU Member States, as well as third states and organisations work at Europol. The 
common working language across Europol is English, thus the internal language arrangements of Europol, adopted by the 
Management Board, determine that recruitment procedures shall be carried out in English, unless otherwise specified. 
Against this background, Europol’s vacancy notices are released in English language. Europol operates an effective and 
transparent recruitment process, with a vacancy rate of 0 % by the end of 2017, while in each of the 89 recruitment 
procedures run in 2017, there were 58 applicants on average per selection. The publication through the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO) requires translation of vacancy notices, beyond English, into the official EU 
languages. Considering the high number of vacancy notices published yearly, translation in all EU official languages would 
entail high costs and delay in the process. Europol prioritises its budget expenditure on operational delivery needs, a 
translation of vacancy notices for all EU official languages, including publication through EPSO, is therefore initiated in 
individual cases only (e.g. in relation to the (Deputy) Executive Director(s)).
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3.29. EUROPEAN UNION AGENCY FOR FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS (FRA)

INTRODUCTION

3.29.1. The European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘FRA’), which is located in 
Vienna, was established by Council Regulation (EC) No 168/2007 (220). The objective of the Agency is to provide the 
relevant authorities of the Union and its Member States with assistance and expertise when implementing Union law 
relating to fundamental rights.

3.29.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (221).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 21 23

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 105 108

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.29.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (222) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (223) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.29.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.29.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.29.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.29.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.29.8. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments, including 
the hierarchical position and independence of accounting officers. In the Agency, the superior of the accounting officer is 
the Head of Corporate Services. We see a need to strengthen the accounting officer’s independence by making him directly 
responsible to the Agency’s Director (administrative) and Governing Board (functional).

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AN ON PERFORMANCE

3.29.9. In 2017, the Agency encountered some difficulties in procuring studies due to unrealistic market estimation. At 
least three open calls for tenders were unsuccessful because the Agency only received offers, with the required quality, 
which significantly exceeded the defined maximum contract value. The Agency finally awarded these contracts through 
another procedure after having revised the tender specifications. This led to additional administrative expense to the Agency 
and affected the timing of operations.

3.29.10. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (224), (225). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 
2017 the Agency had introduced e-invoicing for certain procedures, but not e-tendering and e-submission.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE AND EXTERNAL EVALUATION REPORTS

3.29.11. In 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service carried out an audit on ‘Governance and ethics’ in the 
Agency (226). The Agency has prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for improvement.

3.29.12. An external evaluation of FRA’s performance in the period 2013 to 2017 was carried out in 2017 on behalf of 
the Commission (227). The Agency has prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.29.13. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016
Formal (sub-)delegations from authorising officers (by delegation) 
were not always consistent with the authorisation rights for 
transactions in the ABAC workflow system.

Completed

2016

Carry-overs of committed appropriations were high for Title III 
(operating expenditure) at 5,2 million euros, i.e. 68 % (2015: 
5,7 million euros, i.e. 70 %). They mainly reflect the nature of the 
activities which involve financing studies that span over several 
months, often beyond year-end. The Agency may consider 
introducing differentiated budget appropriations to better reflect 
the multi-annual nature of operations and inevitable delays between 
the signature of contracts, deliveries and payments.

Ongoing
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.29.8. Following the re-organisation of the Agency, which will be finalised by the end of 2018, the position of the 
Accounting Officer will be placed under the administrative responsibility of the Director, reporting directly to the 
Management Board (as has always been the case). In order to maintain existing synergies, the Accounting Officer will 
continue to work closely with Corporate Services.

3.29.9. All of the studies concerned were launched as open calls for tender and so were open to all economic operators. 
The types of large studies undertaken by the FRA are fairly unique in the EU, given both the subject matter and the need for 
them to be undertaken across all EU Member States. In addition, the Agency has limited available funds for these actions. 
However, when launching such calls for tender in future, the Agency will consider conducting market research; reviewing, if 
necessary, the technical requirements; and if possible, re-assessing the priority of the studies that need to be undertaken. 
Notwithstanding the above, having more funds available for operational expenditure would considerably ease this problem.

3.29.10. E-tendering and e-submission is compulsory as from 01/01/2019. In 2018 the Agency started the process of 
introducing such systems and these will be available by the stated deadline.
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3.30. EUROPEAN BORDER AND COAST GUARD AGENCY (FRONTEX)

INTRODUCTION

3.30.1. The European Border and Coast Guard Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘Frontex’), was created by 
Regulation (EU) 2016/1624 (228) of the European Parliament and of the Council (‘new founding Regulation’) repealing 
Council Regulation (EC) No 2007/2004 (229). The Agency has been developed from the European Agency for the 
Management of Operational Cooperation at the External Borders of the Member States and maintained the short name 
‘Frontex’ and the seat of its headquarters in Warsaw. The new Founding Regulation extends the mandate of the Agency and 
entrusts it to ensure European integrated border management at the external borders with a view to managing the crossing 
of the external borders efficiently. This includes addressing migratory challenges and potential future threats at those 
borders, thereby contributing to addressing serious crime with a cross-border dimension, to ensure a high level of internal 
security within the Union in full respect for fundamental rights, while safeguarding the free movement of persons within it.

3.30.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (230).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 251 281

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 365 526

(1) Actual staff working at the Agency including officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts. The number of 
posts authorised under the final 2017 Staff Establishment Plan was higher with 352 posts for officials and temporary agents and 
303 posts for contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.30.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (231) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (232) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.30.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.30.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.30.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

Other matter

3.30.7. The Agency’s grant expenditure increased considerably from 123 million euros (2016) to 167 million euros 
(2017). Unlike previous years, in 2017 the Agency did not carry out any ex post verifications on grant expenditure 
reimbursements. The Agency considers that their ex ante verifications performed before reimbursement had improved 
and, once the ex ante coverage reached a certain level, could now provide the necessary assurance. However, the Court 
has consistently reported since 2014 that proof of expenditure claimed by cooperating countries is often insufficient 
which was also confirmed by this year’s audit results (see paragraphs 3.30.12 and 3.30.13).

3.30.8. In 2016, the Court recommended that the Agency should conduct a thorough analysis to identify the most 
appropriate funding mechanism (233). In this regard, the Court notes that at the end of 2017 the Management Board 
decided to expand the use of unit costs instead of real cost reimbursements for operational activities. In parallel, a pilot 
project on the definition of unit costs for assets deployed by cooperating countries was launched in 2018. Moreover, in 
June 2017 the Management Board approved a new organisational structure of the Agency to take effect from 2018 
which includes the creation of a new Inspection and Control Office reporting directly to the Executive Director and to the 
Management Board in order to adjust the existing organisation to the new mandate (see paragraph 3.30.9.).

3.30.9. In response to the migration crisis faced by the Union, the mandate of the Agency was considerably extended in 
2016. The Agency’s budget had increased by 75 % in 2016 and its 2017 budget was again 21 % higher than that of the 
previous year. Staff increased by 18 % in 2016 and by another 43 % as compared to the previous year. Systems and 
procedures are still in the process of being adapted to cope with the new mandate and circumstances. The following 
observations, which do not call the Court’s opinion into question, are to be read in the context of the challenges the Agency 
had to face.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE LEGALITY AND REGULARITY OF TRANSACTIONS

3.30.10. Following an open call for tender the Agency received four tenders for ferry services to transport migrants 
within Greece. Three tenders passed the selection criteria while one was excluded. The only contract award criterion was 
price. In April 2017 the Agency signed a 2 million euros framework contract for a period of three years with the ferry 
company offering the lowest price. However, the contractors transport capacity was seasonally limited and they struggled to 
perform the contract, leading the Agency to cancel the contract by the end of 2017. In order to ensure service continuity, 
the Agency signed a new framework contract amounting to 1,8 million euros for the remaining period with the second 
ranked tenderer in November 2017 who had offered the second lowest price. The Agency did not negotiate the conditions 
for this replacement contract with the second and third ranked tenderers, instead signed the new contract on the basis of 
the original offer submitted by the second ranked tenderer. The direct award of the replacement contract was irregular, since 
the initial procurement procedure was closed and no negotiated procedure took place to agree the contract conditions that 
would apply until a new open procedure could have been completed. There were no payments under this replacement 
contract in 2017.

3.30.11. The Staff Regulations provide that in the case of an external selection procedure, temporary staff can only be 
recruited at grades SC 1 to SC 2, AST 1 to AST 4 or AD 5 to AD 8 (234). In 2017 the Agency recruited two staff at higher 
AST grades (14 in 2016). The recruitments at these grades are irregular.
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OBSERVATIONS ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

3.30.12. In 2017, the Agency financed support to Iceland’s Coast Guards for the deployment of an airplane in Greece. 
Before reimbursing the expenditure claimed by Iceland, the Agency asked for invoices as evidence for one category of 
declared expenditure. Although the invoices were never provided, the Agency reimbursed some 440 000 euros. In this case 
the ex ante verification was, therefore, ineffective.

3.30.13. The Agency also co-financed the deployment of one airplane used by the Spanish Guardia Civil. In the absence 
of documentation supporting the cost claimed for inspections and maintenance, the Agency reimbursed 430 000 euros on 
the basis of an average cost per flight hour. This average cost was calculated in accordance with cost ceilings used in 
contracts between Spanish authorities and private contractors for inspection and maintenance work. There is a risk that the 
real cost incurred was lower than what was reimbursed.

3.30.14. Although the Agency moved to its current premises already in 2014, the Agency still has no comprehensive 
Business Continuity Plan approved by the Management Board.

OBSERVATIONS ON BUDGETARY MANAGEMENT

3.30.15. The Agency again cancelled a high level of committed appropriations carried over from the previous year for 
reimbursements of expenditure to countries cooperating in joint operations with 7,7 million euros, i.e. 16,5 % (2016: 
5,6 million euros, i.e. 17,6 %). This demonstrates that cooperating countries considerably over-estimated again the 
expenditure to be reimbursed by the Agency. Despite the fact that carry-overs for joint operations had to be cancelled for 
two consecutive years, in 2017 the Agency transferred 9,6 million euros from other budget lines to joint operations, 
contributing to a new carry-over amounting to 40,5 million euros. The joint operations account for 69 % of the total 
cancelled appropriations in 2017 (11,1 million euros) and 46 % of the total appropriations carried forward into 2018 
(87,6 million euros).

3.30.16. In 2017, the appropriations available for return operations amounted to 66,5 million euros. However, 
operations did not keep pace with available appropriations. The agency therefore returned 13,5 million euros, i.e. 20,3 % 
(2016: 23 million euros, i.e. 37,5 %) to the Commission. In addition, the Agency returned 4 million euros from budget 
Title I (staff expenditure) as the planned number of new employees could not be recruited in 2017.

3.30.17. The 2017 initial budget of the Agency included an 8,8 million euros statutory financial operational reserve for 
financing the deployment of rapid border interventions and return interventions (235). However, in September and again in 
October 2017 the Agency transferred 1,9 million euros (amounting to 3,8 million euros) from the reserve to its operational 
budget to fund other activities. Both transfers are not in compliance with the Agency’s financial regulation.

3.30.18. The Agency’s 2017 budget included a non-statutory reserve amounting to 11,9 million euros for unpredictable 
operational needs. Following transfers from other budget lines and an amendment of the budget, the funds used under the 
reserve amounted to 24,7 million euros, i.e. 8,1 % of the initial budget. However, the Agency used the reserve mainly to 
fund standard operations (8,4 million euros) and to fund a project on remotely piloted aerial surveillance (drones, 
7 million euros) for which it had only budgeted 1,1 million euros. The budgeting and use of non-statutory reserves does not 
comply with the principle of budget specification and impairs budget transparency.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.30.19. The Agency publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in other channels, but not on the website of the 
European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow citizens to identify 
vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

3.30.20. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (236), (237). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the 
electronic version of the EU Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e- 
submission). According to the Commission, by the end of 2017 the Agency had introduced e-invoicing and e-tendering for 
certain procedures, but not e-submission.
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FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.30.21. An overview of the corrective actions taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2013
Suppliers’ statements at year-end were reconciled with considerable 
difficulty. There is a need to monitor supplier balances more 
regularly and to analyse differences in a more timely manner.

Ongoing

2013

Frontex became operational in 2005 and has, to date, worked on the 
basis of correspondence and exchanges with the host Member State. 
However a comprehensive headquarters agreement between the 
Agency and the Member State has not been signed. Such an 
agreement would further promote transparency in respect of the 
conditions under which the Agency and its staff operate.

Completed

2014

Considerable improvements were noted in both ex ante and ex post 
verifications of expenditure claimed by cooperating countries under 
grant agreements. However, documentation from cooperating 
countries supporting the expenditure claimed is not always 
sufficient. Moreover, no audit certificates were requested, although 
the rules of application of the EU’s Financial Regulation recommend 
this for grants above specific thresholds (1). Audit certificates would 
add further assurance on the legality and regularity of grant 
transactions.

Ongoing for ex ante and ex post

Completed for audit certificates

2014

The high and constantly increasing number of grant agreements and 
the magnitude of related expenditure to be verified and reimbursed 
by Frontex raise the question whether more efficient and cost- 
effective alternative funding mechanisms could be used.

Ongoing (2)

2014

There is a need to refine the calculation of contributions from 
Schengen associated countries (Switzerland, Liechtenstein, Iceland 
and Norway) to better reflect the related legal provisions (3). For 
example, the calculation should be based on the final instead of the 
budgeted annual subsidy received from the Commission.

Completed

2015

The ex post audit to Iceland carried out by the Agency 
in October 2015 detected irregular payments totalling 1,4 mil-
lion euros related to the depreciation of a vessel participating in 
seven joint operations from 2011 to 2015. The Icelandic coast 
guard had claimed reimbursement of depreciation for that vessel 
even though it had exceeded the useful life provided for in the 
Agency’s guidelines. Whilst the Agency has the right to recover 
irregular payments made in the last five years, it announced to 
recover only the payments made since January 2015, amounting to 
0,6 million euros.

Ongoing
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2015

The Internal Security Fund (ISF) is set up for the period 2014-20. It 
is composed of two instruments, ISF Borders and Visa as well as ISF 
Police, under which 2,8 billion euros and 1 billion euros are 
available for funding actions respectively. The Commission under ISF 
Borders and Visa reimburses Member States’ purchases of means, 
such as vehicles or vessels as well as running costs such as fuel 
consumption or maintenance. The Agency also reimburses such 
costs to participants in joint operations. There is therefore an 
unaddressed risk of double funding (4).

Ongoing

2015

States participating in border operations declare the costs incurred 
on the basis of cost claim sheets which comprise ‘fixed expenses’ 
(depreciation and maintenance), ‘variable expenses’ (mostly fuel) and 
‘mission expenses’ (mostly allowances and other crew expenses). The 
costs declared are based on real values and follow national standards 
leading to divergent approaches among participating states which 
creates a particularly burdensome system for all parties involved. 
The Court in its Special Report 12/2016 recommended that 
agencies should use simplified cost options whenever appropriate to 
avoid such inefficiencies (5).

Ongoing

2016

The Agency’s previous founding Regulation which was in force until 
5 October 2016 provided for the funding of joint return operations 
carried out with participating countries. National return operations 
only became eligible under the new founding Regulation. However, 
in the period January to October 2016 the Agency funded national 
return operations for an amount of 3,6 million euros. These 
payments are irregular.

N/A

2016

The Staff Regulations provide that in the case of an external selection 
procedure, temporary staff can only be recruited at grades SC 1 to 
SC 2, AST 1 to AST 4 or AD 5 to AD 8 (6). In 2016 the Agency 
recruited 14 staff at higher AST grades. The recruitments at these 
grades are irregular.

Outstanding

2016

The level of carry-overs for committed appropriations increased for 
Title II (administrative expenditure) to 6,4 million euros, i.e. 43 % 
(2015: 3,2 million euros, i.e. 38 %) and Title III (operational 
expenditure) to 67,3 million euros, i.e. 37 % (2015: 40,2 mil-
lion euros, i.e. 35 %). The main reason is contracts and operations 
extending beyond the year-end. The Agency may consider introdu-
cing differentiated budget appropriations to better reflect inevitable 
delays between legal commitments, contract implementation and 
operations and the related payments.

Ongoing
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

The level of cancelled carry-overs from 2015 was high for Title III 
(operational expenditure) at 6,4 million euros, i.e. 16 %, due to an 
overestimation of 2015 costs that still had to be reimbursed to 
participating countries in 2016. There is a need to obtain more 
precise cost estimations and more timely cost reporting from 
cooperating countries.

Ongoing

2016

Under the Agency’s extended mandate, high importance is attached 
to return operations and 63 million euros had been assigned to that 
in its 2016 budget. However, 23 million euros, i.e. 37,5 % were 
repaid to the EU budget since fewer return operations were carried 
out than envisaged. The significant delay of the procurement 
procedure for a 50 million euros framework contract to charter 
aircraft and related services for Frontex return operations con-
tributed to this situation and continues to affect the number of 
return operations arranged by the Agency. While the launch of this 
procurement procedure was planned for March 2016, it had not 
been started by the year end.

N/A

2016

On 22 December 2015 the Commission and the Agency, co- 
beneficiary and coordinator of three other co-beneficiaries (EASO, 
IOM and UNHCR) (7), signed a grant agreement amounting to 
5,5 million euros on regional support to protection-sensitive 
migration management in the Western Balkans and Turkey for a 
three year period starting on 1 January 2016. However, cooperation 
agreements with the three partners (legal commitments) which 
amounted to 3,4 million euros were only signed between August 
and November 2016. For two of the agreements the budgetary 
commitments, which should have released the funds before entering 
in the legal commitments, were only signed in October and in 
December 2016. Moreover, budget commitments amounted to 
1,2 million euros, covering only the pre-financing payments. Such a 
procedure is in breach of the Financial Regulation’s rules on 
budgetary management and the late signature of the agreements 
caused uncertainty for the operational cooperation between 
partners.

N/A

2016

The Agency’s establishment plan for 2016 provides for 275 posts 
for officials and temporary agents (8) By the end of 2016 only 197 
of these posts, i.e. 71 % were filled, mainly due to the fact that 50 
new posts were only established in October 2016 and recruitment 
still has to be completed. The Agency traditionally experiences 
difficulties in finding staff with the required profile, partly because of 
the salary correction coefficient (66,7 %).

Ongoing
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016
Following the extension of its mandate, the Agency’s staff will more 
than double from 365 in 2016 to 1 000 in 2020 (9). This increase 
was not based on a thorough estimation of needs.

N/A

2016
The planned increase in staff will require additional office space. The 
Agency is analysing options to address the needs, together with the 
Commission and the host country.

Completed

(1) Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1268/2012 (OJ L 362, 31.12.2012, p. 1).
(2) Article 3(4) of Regulation (EC) No 2007/2004 limits the Agency’s co-financing of joint operations to grants.
(3) Arrangement between the European Community of the one part, and the Swiss Confederation and the Principality of Liechtenstein, 

of the other part, on the modalities of the participation by those States in the European Agency for the Management of Operational 
Cooperation at the External Borders of the Member States of the European Union (OJ L 243, 16.9.2010, p. 4); Arrangement between 
the European Community and the Republic of Iceland and the Kingdom of Norway on the modalities of the participation by those 
States in the European Agency for the Management of Operational Cooperation at the External Borders of the Member States of the 
European Union (OJ L 188, 20.7.2007, p. 19).

(4) The Court had referred to this risk in paragraph 39 and recommendation 4 of its Special Report 15/2014 ‘The External Borders Fund 
has fostered financial solidarity but requires better measurement of results and needs to provide further EU added value’.

(5) Recommendation 1 in the Court’s Special Report 12/2016 ‘Agencies’ use of grants: not always appropriate or demonstrably 
effective”.

(6) Article 53.2 of the Staff Regulation.
(7) European Asylum Support Office (Malta), International Organisation for Migration (Belgrade) and United Nations High 

Commissioner for Refugees (Geneva).
(8) Additional 192 posts were authorised for contract staff and seconded national experts.
(9) Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the European Border and Coast Guard and repealing 

Regulation (EC) No 2007/2004, Regulation (EC) No 863/2007 and Council Decision 2005/267/EC (COM/2015/0671 final — 2015/ 
0310 (COD)).
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

COMMENTS ON THE LEGALITY AND REGULARITY OF TRANSACTIONS

3.30.10. Following Frontex’s decision on the termination of the contract, the continuation of the services needed to be 
secured, until a new contractor would be selected.

Taking into account the market limitations for the required services in the region (very few economic operators), the most 
appropriate option identified was to use a ‘bridging contract’ with the company which was second best in the initial tender 
procedure for the selection of ferry operators. Hence this was not a continuation of already closed tendering procedure. 
Frontex took into consideration that the company had previous experience in providing ferry services for Frontex with very 
positive feedback; the ferry proposed met all minimal technical requirements. The contractor was willing to provide the 
services under the same conditions which were required and offered during the initial tender procedure.

An exception was signed in November 2017 explaining the rationale behind this decision. The bridging contract was signed 
by both parties in December 2017 and entered into force in January 2018.

The use of the price criterion as the only criterion was carefully analysed and based on Frontex experience from the last two 
years of ordering ferries for readmission operations between Greek islands and Turkey. Market limitations in the 
geographical area — only a very limited number of operators available with a narrow offer of ferries — rendered the use of 
qualitative award criteria unsuitable. The services which Frontex required were short trips between Greek islands and 
Turkey to readmit returnees under the readmission agreement between the EU and Turkey, ensuring that those operations 
were carried out in a safe environment and in full respect of fundamental rights.

3.30.11. In accordance with last paragraph of Article 31.2 of Staff Regulations (‘…To address specific needs of the 
institutions, labour market conditions prevailing in the Union may also be taken into account when recruiting officials…’), 
Frontex took into account labour market conditions (= low correction coefficient vs. professional experience required) 
allocating higher grades in AST functions group. This was fully reflected in the establishment plans (being integral part of 
the budget) and was never questioned by the budgetary authorities.

Since March 2017 Frontex is not appointing any external candidates for grades higher than AST4.

COMMENTS ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

3.30.12. Costs of inspections/maintenance are defined as ‘Costs related to all inspections/ maintenance (…) during the 
entire lifetime of the mean (…). Rate based on data provided by manufacturer or by the maintenance unit of the authority 
deploying the mean’.

Therefore, the hourly cost may have a form of declaration of costs provided by beneficiaries based on either manufacturer’s 
estimations, or a price based on real costs incurred in the preceding years, or cost estimation drawn from reference data of 
similar means if the asset is new and no data is available. The provision of invoices (or, due to amount of data, equivalent 
accounting records) is possible only if the hourly price is established on the basis of actual costs borne in the reference year. 
However, there is also an option for the beneficiary to establish an hourly rate based on average reference prices if actual 
invoices are not available.

This was the case for the selected payment as the Icelandic Coast Guard provided Frontex with an hourly maintenance cost 
estimation. The documents provided by the Icelandic Coast Guard reflect the findings of ex post controls performed in 
Iceland in 2015, when Frontex ex post control team visited the maintenance centre and verified the documents presented by 
Icelandic Coast Guard, which were the basis of their calculation methodologies.

Therefore, in Frontex’s view the document presented by Iceland gives sufficient grounds for approving the expenditure.

3.30.13. The total amount of an hourly price for all inspections/maintenance of a fixed wing aircraft consists of three 
contracts with their specific arrangements:

— Maintenance of the engines — the contract has been signed for the maximum amount of EUR 9 010 475,50; however, 
the basis for payments is the hourly price for maintaining one engine. The Guardia Civil charges Frontex with the hourly 
price for the engine maintenance as specified in the contract. If less hours are spent for maintaining engines, the overall 
ceiling will not be reached. Therefore, in this case the total value of the contract is not relevant as the cost of an hour is 
relevant.
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— General maintenance — the provisions of the respective contract define it as a total price contract (not a framework 
contract) with monthly invoices covering the specific activities carried out by the contractor. The Agency understanding 
is that the Guardia Civil at the end of the contract will pay the total amount specified in the contract. The cost of an 
hourly price is calculated by dividing this total cost by the number of flying hours.

— Supply of spare parts — the provisions of the contract, as above, define it as a total price contract (not a framework 
contract) with monthly invoices covering the specific activities carried out by the contractor. The Agency understanding 
is that Guardia Civil at the end of the contract will pay the total amount specified in the contract.

For the reasons mentioned above, the Agency does not share the risk assessment made by the Court as the amounts 
reimbursed to the Guardia Civil estimated on the basis of a total price contract would finally be equal to the amounts 
reimbursed on the basis of actual invoices.

3.30.14. The current Business Continuity Management Approach, Strategy and the resulting Business Continuity Plans 
have been developed and updated (annually) based on the legal framework and structure in place until end of 2016.

With the enhanced mandate and the responding new structure in place, especially the BCPs will be revised by the 
responsible business owner as the organisational change also requires a complete overhaul of the underlying business 
processes.

COMMENTS ON BUDGETARY MANAGEMENT

3.30.15. The main challenge is linked with the availability of commitment appropriations in the course of a year given.

In order to minimalise a risk of high cancellations, in Q4 of 2016 Frontex has additionally addressed beneficiaries with a 
request to submit their requests for final payment for deployments completed in the 2nd half of 2016 and to provide 
Frontex with precise estimations of costs to be borne in case of ongoing (Dec. 2016) or planned deployment (Jan. 2017) 
within 2016 operational activities. The main aim of these requests was to identify any overestimations, decrease respective 
SFD allocations and re-use the funds still in 2016. Despite certain positive outcomes of this action the level of carry-over 
appropriations remained relatively high.

Consequently, even though the estimation of the real financial needs was done properly, Frontex needed additional funds to 
ensure financial coverage of deployments in autumn 2016 as de-commitments from the completed and ongoing 
deployments were not available at that stage.

The Agency developed and implements as of the operational cycle 2018 a simplified grant scheme, using to a much greater 
extent unit costs in grants covering up to one year; together with an enhanced monitoring of the implementation of grants, 
the Agency aims at reducing the cancellation of carry-overs.

3.30.16 

Return:

Despite returning funds to the Commission, the main objective of the Agency in the field of return has been achieved by 
providing MS with technical and operational assistance to implement return operations, and through specific pre-return 
activities (aimed at facilitating identification of returnees, training, sharing of knowledge among MS, etc.).

In 2017 the number of return operations coordinated by Frontex considerably increased: 47 % more than in 2016, the 
number of irregular migrants returned increased from 10 700 in 2016 to 14 200 in 2017. This represent close to 10 % (in 
2014 the share was at 2 %) of the total of the effectively returned migrants from the EU to third counties.

Recruitment:

The returns related to staff expenditure were mainly due to the challenges and linked delays in the recruitment process: 
lengthy procedures, long periods of notice, insufficient number of candidates and lack of geographical balance due to low 
correction coefficient. Nevertheless, the Agency considers it as an achievement to take on board and accommodate more 
than 250 new staff members in one year.
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3.30.17. 2017 was the first year of implementation of the new EBCG Regulation for the Agency. Pursuant to Art. 75 
(13), the Agency had to include a mandatory financial operational reserve in its budget, to finance rapid border 
interventions (RABITS) and return interventions, amounting to 4 % of the allocation foreseen for the operational activities. 
On 1 October each year, at least one-quarter of the reserve should remain available in order to cover needs arising until the 
end of the year.

The idea behind the mandatory operational reserve was that at any moment of the year the Agency will have a certain 
reserve to deploy RABITS, so the initial costs of such sudden deployment could be covered. The European Parliament (EP) 
had amended the initial text of the EBCG regulation proposed by the Commission (COM) by adding that on 1 October only 
¼ of the reserve should be maintained corresponding with the remaining three months of the year. The EBCG Regulation is 
silent about what should happen to the remaining ¾ of the reserve after 1 October; there is a lack of clarity.

The first transfer at the end of September was to finance enhanced operational activities at air and sea and to purchase own 
air surveillance services; the second transfer was after 1 October. The Management Board was informed in the monthly 
reporting about the transfers.

The Agency considers that the legislator shall provide for clarification.

3.30.18. The non-statutory reserve was already envisaged in the course of the preparations of the Single Programming 
Document (SPD) 2017-2019. In line with the EBCG Regulation Art. 75.3ff, the preparation of the SPD and the estimate of 
revenue and expenditure started in the year N-2, and was finalised in late autumn N-1. The EBCG Regulation entered into 
force in October 2016.

The Agency had to plan the detailed Annual Work Programme 2017 (part of the SPD 2017-2019) throughout 2016, 
without having the final outcome of the negotiations for the EBCG Regulation, thus without a clearly defined legal basis.

Towards the end of 2016, the SPD 2017-2019 was already finalised and to be adopted by the Management Board, which 
supported fully the creation of the non-statutory reserve in times of change to the European Border and Coast Guard.

The Commission in its opinion on the SPD 2017-2019 (C92016)8722 stated in point 63: ‘The Commission welcomes that 
the contingency planning became one of the guiding principles for the elaboration of the annual work programme and that 
the Agency intends to allocate nearly 10 % of its operational budget to the so called “operational flexibility” (…) In this 
context, the Commission invites the Agency to set up two separate reserves within its budget: the first one being fully in 
compliance with Article 75 (13) of the EBCG Regulation and the second one offering the Agency a possibility to keep the 
operational flexibility to address any emergency situations other than rapid interventions.’

COMMENTS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.30.19. Frontex publishes its vacancies in English while EPSO requires translations in all EU official languages, in view 
of numerous vacancy notices this would represent significant financial costs and potential delay in the recruitment process. 
Frontex distributes information on its vacancy posts using other channels i.e. EU Agencies Network, Management Board, 
Permanent Representations, EuroBrussels and social media.

3.30.20. Frontex is in a process of setting-up of e-Submission tools. The start of the implementation of the tool will 
begin after the signature of Memorandum of Understanding with the Commission (DG DIGIT). The formal deadline for this 
instrument is set for end October 2018 as laid down in Art 90(2) of the Public Procurement Directive applied by the 
Commission by analogy for agencies; Frontex will meet this deadline.
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A g e n c i e s  f u n d e d  u n d e r  M F F  h e a d i n g  4  —  G l o b a l  E u r o p e

3.31. EUROPEAN TRAINING FOUNDATION (ETF)

INTRODUCTION

3.31.1. The European Training Foundation (hereinafter ‘the Foundation’, aka ‘ETF’), which is located in Turin, was 
established by Council Regulation (EEC) No 1360/90 (238) (recast Regulation (EC) No 1339/2008 (239)). The Foundation’s 
task is to support the reform of vocational training in the European Union’s partner countries. To do this, it assists the 
Commission in the implementation of various vocational training programmes.

3.31.2. The Table presents key figures for the Foundation (240).

Table

Key figures for the Foundation

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 21 20

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 130 125

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Foundation.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.31.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Foundation which comprise the financial statements (241) and the reports on the implementation 
of the budget (242) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.31.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Foundation for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Foundation at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash 
flows, and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with 
accounting rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted 
accounting standards for the public sector.
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(242) The reports on implementation of the budget comprise the reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory 

notes.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.31.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.31.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.31.7. The information presented below does not call the Court’s opinion into question.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.31.8. In2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on ‘Progress monitoring in Vocational 
and Educational Training through the Torino process in ETF’ (243). The Foundation prepared an action plan address any 
potential area for improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.31.9. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

In 2016 an external evaluation of the Foundation was carried out on 
behalf of the Commission. This was the first step in a cross cutting 
evaluation of the four agencies working in the area of employment, 
social affairs and inclusion (1). The evaluation concluded that the 
considerable re-organisation of the ETF since 2011 had no 
significant negative effects and has been viewed mainly positively 
by internal and external stakeholders, especially in terms of strategy 
and effectiveness. Governance of the ETF was viewed as efficient and 
effective. The evaluation also highlights that the ETF has continued 
to enhance its monitoring capacity since 2011 but that there is still 
scope to present a clearer picture of its activities and achievements. 
Unifying and simplifying indicators around one single intervention 
logic and using a common terminology across the organisation 
would help to improve the situation. The Foundation prepared a 
plan to implement the evaluators’ recommendations.

N/A

2016

In its Report on the annual accounts of the Foundation for the year 
2011 the Court highlighted already that the situation regarding the 
Foundation’s premises is unsatisfactory and puts activities at risk of 
disruption. The situation remains at a standstill since the 
Consortium that managed and occupied part of the complex went 
into liquidation in 2011 and left part of the complex empty. There is 
an urgent need for the host country to find a solution to this matter. 
Under the host agreement, appropriate facilities are guaranteed until 
2027.

Completed

(1) The other Agencies which will be covered are the European Foundation for Living and Working Conditions (Dublin), the European 
Agency for Safety and Health at Work (Bilbao) and the European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training (Thessaloniki).
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THE FOUNDATION’S REPLY

The Foundation has taken note of the Court's report.
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A g e n c i e s  f u n d e d  u n d e r  M F F  h e a d i n g  5  —  A d m i n i s t r a t i o n

3.32. EURATOM SUPPLY AGENCY (EURATOM)

INTRODUCTION

3.32.1. The Euratom Supply Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’), located in Luxembourg, was created in 1958 (244). 
Council Decision 2008/114/EC, Euratom (245) replaced the preceding Statutes of the Agency. The Agency's main task is to 
ensure a regular supply of nuclear materials, in particular nuclear fuels, to EU users, by means of a common supply policy 
based on the principle of equal access to sources of supply.

3.32.2. From 2008 up to and including 2011, the Agency did not receive a budget of its own to cover its operations. 
The Commission bore all costs incurred by the Agency when implementing its activities. As from 2012, the Agency was 
granted its own budget by the Commission, however this only covers a minor part of its expenditure.

3.32.3. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (246).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 0,1 0,1

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 17 17

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.32.4. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (247) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (248) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.32.5. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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of changes in net assets and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
(248) The reports on implementation of the budget comprise the reports which aggregate all budgetary operations and the explanatory 

notes.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.32.6. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.32.7. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

The Agency has taken note of the Court's report.
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S e l f - f i n a n c e d  A g e n c i e s

3.33. COMMUNITY PLANT VARIETY OFFICE (CPVO)

INTRODUCTION

3.33.1. The Community Plant Variety Office (hereinafter ‘the Office’, aka ‘CPVO’), which is located in Angers, was 
created by Council Regulation (EC) No 2100/94 (249). Its main task is to register and examine applications for the grant of 
Union industrial property rights for plant varieties and to ensure that the necessary technical examinations are carried out 
by the competent offices in the Member States.

3.33.2. The Table presents key figures for the Office (250).

Table

Key figures for the Office

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 16 16

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 44 51

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Office.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.33.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Office which comprise the financial statements (251) and the reports on the implementation of the 
budget (252) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.33.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Office for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Office at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.33.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.33.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.33.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

3.33.8. In 2017, the documentation of procurement and grant award procedures was inadequate. For service 
procurements of low and medium value contracts, there were inconsistencies in the published tender documentation, no 
records explaining the preselection of the candidates for low value procurements, and for interims procurement, the Office 
did not prepare any evaluation reports. Moreover, the award criteria were not clearly disclosed. In respect to the award of 
grants, risk assessments were inadequate and expert opinions were not signed.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.33.9. According to its Financial Regulation (253), the Office should introduce a single solution for the electronic 
exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e-procurement). As 
the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a comprehensive IT solution covering all 
phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), 
for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and 
for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 2017, the Office had not introduced any of 
these tools.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.33.10. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2014

The Office uses electronic banking for most of its payments. The 
Accounting Officer or her two deputies can sign the payments 
electronically. No signature of a second person is required, which 
represents a financial risk for the Office.

Ongoing

2014

Although the Office became operational in 1995, there is still no 
seat agreement signed with its host Member State that would clarify 
the conditions under which the Office can operate and that it can 
offer to its staff.

Ongoing

(Not under the Office’s control)

2015

As at 31 December 2015, the fees unpaid for more than 90 days 
(mostly annual fees) amounted to 240 766 euros (1). The Office did 
not use all options provided for in its Financial Regulation to recover 
unpaid fees, such as enforced recovery (2)

Ongoing

2016

The level of committed appropriations carried over was high for 
Title II (administrative expenditure) at 788 540 euros, i.e. 40 % 
(2015: 395 882 euros, i.e. 28 %). This can mainly be attributed to 
ongoing building renovations (284 423 euros), IT projects 
(253 483 euros) and costs of audits and evaluations (137 098 euros) 
for which services will partly be delivered or invoices will only be 
received in 2017.

N/A

2016
The cancellation rate of 2015 payment appropriations carried over 
to 2016 was also high for Title II at 17 % (2015: 20 %), pointing to a 
need to improve budget planning.

N/A

2016

The Office’s founding Regulation does not require periodic external 
performance evaluations. Although the Office or the Commission 
carried out evaluations of specific topics on an ad hoc basis, the 
Office should, together with the Commission, consider commission-
ing comprehensive external performance evaluations at least every 
five years, as is the case for most other Agencies. Any future revision 
of the founding Regulation should introduce such a requirement.

Outstanding

(Not under the Office’s control)

(1) The outstanding fees unpaid at 31 December 2017 amounted to 156 600 euros.
(2) Article 53 of the Financial Regulation of the Office.
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THE OFFICE’S REPLY

3.33.8. The Office takes note of the Court’s comments, and while agreeing to improve documentation, informs that the 
necessary assessments, evaluations and opinions were carried out as part of the procedures.

3.33.9. The Office entered a contractual arrangement with the European Commission for the provision of e-submission 
prior to year-end, and the CPVO own e-invoicing solution is available. There were no tenders at that time meeting the 
threshold for use of the tool and further, the use of the tool was not at that time obligatory.
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3.34. EUROPEAN INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OFFICE (EUIPO)

INTRODUCTION

3.34.1. The European Union Intellectual Property Office (hereinafter ‘the Office’, aka ‘EUIPO’), known as Office for 
Harmonization in the Internal Market (‘OHIM’) until 23 March 2016, was established in 1993. Its initial founding 
Regulation was revised for the last time by Regulation (EU) 2017/1001 of the European Parliament and of the Council (254). 
The core business of the Office, which is located in Alicante, is the registration of EU trademarks and registered Community 
designs, which are valid throughout the EU.

3.34.2. The Table presents key figures for the Office (255).

Table

Key figures for the Office

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 421 401

Total staff as at 31 December 910 995

(1) Budget figure includes the reserve for unforeseen events.

Source: data provided by the Office.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.34.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Office which comprise the financial statements (256) and the reports on the implementation of the 
budget (257) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.34.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Office for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Office at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.34.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.34.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.34.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON BUDGETARY MANAGEMENT

3.34.8. In 2017, the Office cancelled 3,2 million euros; i.e. 15,9 % of the committed appropriations carried over from 
2016, indicating difficulties in planning of budgetary needs, mostly in the field of cooperation with national Intellectual 
Property Rights Offices.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND PERFORMANCE

3.34.9. The Office continued to use mainly fixed price modality (258) for contracting services. Prices for specific service 
contracts result from unit prices set in framework contracts (price per man-day etc.) and the estimated number of units 
needed for the specific service. When the Office verifies contractors’ price offers, it checks the correct application of the unit 
prices.

3.34.10. However, in the procurement procedure for an 80 million euros framework contract for general consultancy, 
audits, studies and project management services the list of services to be provided under the framework contract was not 
exhaustive. In order to evaluate the offers, the tender specifications contained two business cases related to the management 
of one project and one programme including several projects. This framework contract is a multiple, mixed framework 
contract partially using cascade mechanism (general consultancy and project management) and partially using re-opening 
competition mechanism (audit and studies.). However, the estimated units had been pre-established by the Office in terms 
of volumes but requesting the tenderers to establish the distribution between the different profiles. Competition for the 
procurement of this framework contract and consequently also some of the related specific contracts was, therefore, based 
on unit prices, types of profiles and quality, but not on the likely number of units needed which is another crucial element 
for the calculation of a fixed price contract.

3.34.11. We audited one specific contract for a fixed price of 145 447,50 euros concluded under this framework 
contract, the primary purpose of which is to provide assistance in managing one document management project. The man- 
days required for these services cannot be linked to the business cases set out in the tender specifications nor to the service 
description in the specific contract. A fixed price as specified in this specific contract therefore entails the risk that the 
services are not delivered in the most economical way.

3.34.12. Where it is not possible to set out all the terms governing the provision of services when procuring the 
framework contract, re-opening of competition between several framework contractors for the specific contracts is more 
appropriate.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.34.13. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

The Office’s budget implementation rate was low at 89 % which 
indicates an imprecise estimation of its expenditure in the 2016 
budget. The preciseness of the Office’s budget, where necessary 
through an amendment, has become more important following the 
recent changes in its founding and financial Regulations specifying 
mechanisms such as the allocation of surpluses to a reserve fund (1) 
and the related offsetting mechanism (2) which are connected with 
the budgeted amounts.

Completed (3)

2016

In 2014, the Office launched a call for tender to conclude a four-year 
framework contract (FWC) with an estimated market volume of 
30 million euros to procure consultancy services covering a broad 
range of activities comprising audit services, project management, 
general consultancy and studies. However, the procurement 
procedure and the subsequent use of the FWC were not properly 
managed in parts. The objectives and activities to be carried out had 
not been sufficiently specified to precisely estimate the volume of 
the FWC. As a consequence, it was fully used within only two years 
and six months already. Moreover, despite the broad diversity of 
services to be procured and the largely varying levels of expenditure 
per activity, no lots had been used. Their use could have encouraged 
participation of smaller companies for low value activities. Finally, 
competition on price was neutralised and dependence upon the 
contractor was increased as a consequence of requesting fixed-price 
offers from a single contractor using the FWC. The Office should 
consider concluding agreements with multiple suppliers with 
reopening of competition whenever appropriate.

Ongoing (4)

2016

The Office’s mandate of registering trademark and designs for the 
European Single Market produces a large volume of translation 
work. The Office’s founding Regulation establishes that the 
translation services required for the functioning of the Office shall 
be provided by the Translation Centre for the Bodies of the 
European Union (‘CdT’), resulting in the Office being CdT’s main 
client. The Office makes increasing use of in-house solutions such as 
linguistic and translation memories and related software. These tools 
aim to improve the Office’s own cost-effectiveness and efficiency. 
However, from a European Union perspective the current situation 
may result in a duplication of effort and related costs.

Ongoing

(1) Article 89(1) of the Office’s financial regulation provides that it shall establish a reserve fund having sufficient funds to ensure the 
continuity of its operations and the execution of its tasks for one year, that is, the equivalent of the estimated appropriations foreseen 
in Titles 1, 2 and 3 of the Office’s budget.

(2) Articles 139(4) and (6) of the Office’s founding regulation provide that every year it shall offset the costs incurred by the industrial 
property offices of the Member States, by the Benelux Office for Intellectual Property and by any other relevant authority to be 
nominated by a Member State as the result of the specific tasks which they carry out as functional parts of the European Union trade 
mark system in the context of various services and procedures, whereby this obligation shall only apply to the extent that no 
budgetary deficit occurs in that year.

(3) In 2017 the Office’s budget implementation rate was 97 %.
(4) See paragraph 3.34.8.
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THE OFFICE’S REPLY

COMMENTS ON BUDGETARY MANAGEMENT

3.34.8. While the rate of cancellation is slightly above 15 % the figure of EUR 3,2 million of cancelled committed carry- 
overs is the lowest in the last 10 years (since 2008). The Office continues to work with the National Offices in order to 
reduce the cancelled carry-overs through interim execution reports and mid-year reviews with increased control measures 
forming an integral part of each new Cooperation agreement. In addition, further measures have been reinforced in-house 
such as raising awareness through coaching, training, information notes and meetings with the financial actors. Moreover, 
the Office anticipated before year-end 2017 that the level of cancelled carry-overs would exceed 15 % and pro-actively took 
additional measures to reduce the carry-overs for the following year.

COMMENTS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND PERFORMANCE

3.34.9. The Office takes good note of the comments of the Court.

As a preliminary comment, the established scenarios in the procurement documents were aimed at being the most 
illustrative and representative for the future uses of the contract and were not expected to be linked in detail to each and 
every specific contract.

Concerning the appropriateness of the re-opening of competition mechanism and as stated in the Office's reply to the 2016 
audit, this concept has already been introduced in the assessed Framework Contract (FWC) for audits and studies. The Office 
has evaluated the added value brought by this mechanism in comparison with the administrative cost it entails and, given 
the intensive use of the consultancy and project management services by the Office, has concluded that it is not considered 
the most efficient way to manage the latter type of contracts. Moreover, considering that the current FWC is valid until 
2020, extending this mechanism to the consultancy and project management services at this moment in time would imply 
a new call for tender, which the Office does not consider proportionate.

Within the existing ‘cascade’ mechanism for the consultancy and project management services, the EUIPO reaffirms what 
was replied in the 2016 audit on the use of fixed price modality. The main reason for choosing this option is that the Office 
is facing cases in front of the Spanish National Labour Courts related to ‘illegal transfer of employees’ originated, among 
others, by the use of ‘Time and Means’ modality in the past.

Within this fixed-price modality (under the ‘cascade’ mechanism), the Office has experience in assessing the offers. Indeed, 
the EUIPO has a dedicated team in place which, based on previous practice and expertise, has the acquired knowledge to 
estimate what resources are required to fulfil the tasks behind the fixed price services.

However, we believe the concern of the Court might be addressed through other contract modalities than ‘Fixed price’ such 
as ‘Quoted Time and Means’, which the Office could consider on a case by case basis in the future. Moreover, the Office 
commits to providing further detail and to document its own estimates of the resources required to fulfil the tasks behind 
the fixed price services, before launching the Request For Offer, in order to provide evidence upfront of the Office’s 
abovementioned expertise.
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3.35. SINGLE RESOLUTION BOARD (SRB)

INTRODUCTION

3.35.1. The Single Resolution Board (hereinafter ‘the Board’, aka ‘SRB’), which is located in Brussels, was established by 
Regulation (EU) No 806/2014 on the Single Resolution Mechanism (‘SRM Regulation’) (259). The mission of the Board is to 
ensure an orderly resolution of failing credit institutions and certain investment firms (hereinafter ‘Credit Institutions’) with 
minimum impact on the real economy and the public finances of the participating Member States of the Banking Union.

3.35.2. The Board is in charge of administrating the Single Resolution Fund (hereinafter ‘the Fund’) which was 
established by the SRM Regulation and shall support the Single Resolution Mechanism. The Fund will be gradually built up 
during the period 2016 to 2023 and shall reach the target of at least 1 % of the amount of covered deposits of all Credit 
Institutions within the European Banking Union by 31 December 2023.

3.35.3. The Board has an autonomous budget which is not part of the EU budget. Contributions are raised from Credit 
Institutions established in Member States participating in the Banking Union.

3.35.4. The Table presents key figures for the Board (260).

Table

Key figures for the Board

2016 2017

Budget (million euros)

Part I (Board’s administrative budget) 65 113

Part II (Budget of the Fund) 11 800 6 462

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 182 276

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Board.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.35.5. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Board which comprise the financial statements (261) and the reports on the implementation of the 
budget (262) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.35.6. In our opinion, the accounts of the Board for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Board at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.35.7. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.35.8. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

Emphasis of matter

3.35.9. Without calling into question its opinions expressed in paragraphs 3.35.6. to 3.35.8., the Court would like to 
emphasise that Fund contributions are calculated on the basis of information provided by Credit Institutions (and some 
investment firms) to the Board. Our audit of the Board’s revenue was based on this information but did not verify its 
reliability. The SRM Regulation does not provide for a comprehensive and consistent control framework to ensure the 
reliability of the information. Furthermore, the Court notes that the methodology to calculate contributions laid down in 
the legal framework is very complex, resulting in a risk to accuracy. Moreover, the Board cannot release details on the 
risk-assessed contribution calculations per Credit Institution as they are interlinked and include confidential information 
about other Credit Institutions. This affects the transparency of these calculations.

3.35.10. Administrative appeals or judicial proceedings related to Fund contributions between some Credit 
Institutions and national resolution authorities and the Board as well as legal actions brought before the Court of Justice 
of the European Union by former shareholders and creditors of the Banco Popular Español, S.A following the adoption of 
the Resolution scheme were not subject to our audit in order not to affect in any way the position of the parties. Detailed 
information is presented in paragraph 8 of the Board’s annual accounts.

3.35.11. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON BUDGETARY MANAGEMENT

3.35.12. The Board did not ensure timely payments. Some 28 % of payments (9,5 % of total amounts paid) to 
contractors and reimbursements of costs to experts and staff were late.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.35.13. Article 92(4) of the SRM Regulation requires the Court to report in particular on contingent liabilities of the 
Board, the Council and the Commission as a result of the performance of their tasks under the SRM Regulation. The Court 
will publish a separate report on this matter.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.35.14. The indicative procurement plan (IPP) annexed to the 2017 Annual Work Programme (AWP) anticipated 16 
different services to be procured, but only legal services were actually procured. Furthermore, the estimated contract value 
in the IPP for legal services was 3 million euros whereas the contracted amount was 29 million euros. There were no 
procurements during 2017 for the other 15 services listed in the IPP. This indicates weak procurement planning.

3.35.15. Of the 29 million euros contracted for legal services 20 million was contracted via 11 negotiated procurement 
procedures without prior publication. In addition, two contracts amounting to 3 million euros for economic and financial 
valuation services (as foreseen in the 2016 AWP) were also procured by using the same procedure. Excessive use of such 
procedures limits competition.
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3.35.16. According to the Board’s Financial Regulation, it should introduce a single solution for the electronic exchange 
and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e-procurement) (263). As the 
same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a comprehensive IT solution covering all 
phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), 
for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the electronic version of the EU Official Journal in 
2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). The Board had not yet introduced 
any of these tools by the end of 2017.
3.35.17. The Board publishes vacancy notices on its own website and in social media, but usually not on the website of 
the European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would respect the principle of transparency, increase publicity and 
allow citizens to identify vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.35.18. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2015

In 2015 the Board became operational and gradually set up its 
internal control environment. However a number of essential 
procedures and controls remain to be drafted, adopted or 
implemented, including the risk management and control strategy, 
the internal control standards, the periodic assessment of the sound 
functioning of the internal control system and the anti-fraud 
strategy.

Ongoing

2016 The Board’s accounting system was not yet validated by the 
Accounting Officer. Ongoing

2016

The implementation rate was low at 62 % (2015: 67 %), or 
35 million euros (2015: 15 million euros) (1) of available 
appropriations. This is mainly caused by the nature of the Board’s 
activities and the legal budgetary framework in place. While the 
budget provides appropriations for the Board’s daily operations and 
the administration of resolution cases, no resolution occurred in 
2016. The unused appropriations will reduce future contributions 
from Credit Institutions.

Ongoing

2016

The committed appropriations carried over under budget title II 
(administrative expenditure) amount to 3,1 million euros, i.e. 35 % 
(2015: 3,3 million euros, i.e. 70 %) of total committed appropria-
tions. They mainly concern IT contracts signed in 2016 (1,9 mil-
lion euros) and security services provided in 2016 that were not yet 
invoiced and paid (0,6 million euros).

N/A

2016

The committed appropriations carried over under budget title III 
(operational expenditure) amount to 5,3 million euros, i.e. 66 % 
(2015: 1,6 million euros, i.e. 40 %) of committed appropriations. 
They mainly concern services provided by the European Central 
Bank (1,9 million euros), legal services (1,5 million euros) and IT 
contracts (1,3 million euros) for which will payments are due in 
2017. Such high level of carry-overs is in contradiction with the 
principle of annuality.

N/A

2016

In the period July to October 2016 the Board committed 
2 million euros for the procurement of legal services which were 
not preceded by a financing decision nor was it planned in the 
Annual Work Programme and budget.

Ongoing

2016

In application of the negative deposit facility rate in 2016 by the 
European Central Bank, the Fund paid negative interest amounting 
to 24 million (2) euros to national central banks. This reduced the 
amount of accumulated contributions available for future resolu-
tions.

Ongoing

(not under control of SRB)
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Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016
The Board needs to improve the speed of its recruitment procedures, 
set clear minimum thresholds to be met by candidates and better 
define roles and responsibilities of selection committee members.

Completed

(1) In 2017 the implementation rate was 71 % and 71 million euros.
(2) 50 million euros in 2017.
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THE BOARD’S REPLY

3.35.9. The annual ex ante contributions to the Fund are calculated on the basis of information provided by credit 
institutions and some investment firms to the Board. Even though, the SRM Regulation does not provide for a 
comprehensive and consistent control framework to ensure the reliability of the information, the SRF addresses this issue to 
an extent possible for it. The data provided is verified against the data submitted in the previous year by the institutions as 
well as against the data in the ECB database. Discrepancies are flagged to the NRAs, asking for clarification, thus having 
been able to improve the quality of the data in the previous cycles. Moreover, the Board cannot release details on the risk- 
related part of the ex ante contribution calculations per institution as they are interlinked and would thus reveal confidential 
information about other institutions. However, the SRF presented the calculation methodology as well as detailed 
calibrations, hence ensuring transparency and cooperation.

3.35.12. In 2017, due to a combination of the unexpectedly high workload, the unfortunate turnover of staff in the 
Finance team and the general difficulties to find experienced staff, the capacity of the Finance team was insufficient to 
ensure the efficient processing of all the financial files, including invoices. This resulted in 1,1 % of invoices generating late 
interest payments.

Since Q4 2017, the capacity of the team is being reinforced and measures have been taken to ensure the timely processing 
of invoices. So far in 2018, approximately 98 % of invoices have been paid within the established time limits. Each case of 
late payment is now examined closely to ensure further improvement in this area.

3.35.14. The SRB’s Indicative Procurement Plan 2017 was adopted in 2016, only its second full year of activity. At that 
time, there had been no resolution cases and the Agency had little experience on which to base its procurement plan. As a 
new Agency, the SRB was able to join several interinstitutional framework contracts managed by the European 
Commission. This resulted in several of the procurement procedures foreseen to be launched by the SRB in 2017 finally not 
taking place. In 2018, the implementation of the procurement plan is being closely followed and additional efforts are 
being made to improve the planning of procurement procedures.

3.35.15. In 2017, the SRB committed a total of EUR 20 million for legal services. Almost all negotiated procedures 
without prior publication of a contract notice related to litigation (8 out of the 10 contracts, with a total value of EUR 
10,9 million) which is outside the scope of Directive 2014/24/EU. This includes the high number of litigation cases that 
were filed before the CJEU following the SRB’s first resolution case. Consequently, the SRB does not consider the use of such 
procedures excessive. With regard to the contracts for economic and financial valuation in two out of the twelve cases in 
2017, the reopening of competition proved unsuccessful and the SRB was forced to resort to a negotiated procedure. Due 
to the nature of the subject matter of the contract and the need for utmost confidentiality, the contract notice was not 
published, in compliance with the applicable rules.

3.35.16. Online access to tender documentation has been available to economic operators via the SRB’s website since 
the SRB’s creation and it has been fully integrated in the e-tendering platform since the end of 2017. In June 2017, the SRB 
also requested to join e-submission but has still not been given access by the Commission.

3.35.17. The SRB has observed that such publications on the EPSO website increase neither the quality nor the number 
of the applications while being very costly due to the mandatory translation of the vacancy notice. Therefore, the SRB’s 
preference is to publish its vacancies on its own website, EU_CV online, LinkedIn and to inform our stakeholders (central 
banks, ministries of finance, national authorities, other EU agencies and permanent representations).
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3.36. TRANSLATION CENTRE FOR THE BODIES OF THE EUROPEAN UNION (CDT)

INTRODUCTION

3.36.1. The Translation Centre for the Bodies of the European Union (hereinafter ‘the Centre’, aka ‘CdT’), which is 
located in Luxembourg, was created by Council Regulation (EC) No 2965/94 (264). The Centre's task is to provide any 
European Union institutions and bodies which call upon its services with the translation services necessary for their 
activities.

3.36.2. The Table presents key figures for the Centre (265).

Table

Key figures for the Centre

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 51 49

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 225 215

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Centre.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.36.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Centre which comprise the financial statements (266) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (267) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.36.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Centre for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Centre at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, and the 
changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting rules 
adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards for 
the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.36.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.36.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

Other matter

3.36.7. The Centre’s task is to provide the EU agencies and bodies with the translation services necessary for their 
activities in addition to doing so for the EU institutions which may call on its services. The founding Regulations of most 
of the agencies and bodies require them to use the Centre’s translation services. Several of them (counting for more than 
half of the Centre's revenue) make increasing use of in-house and other alternative solutions. However, this means that 
the Centre’s capacity is not used to the greatest possible extent, that there is a duplication of systems development and 
running costs at European level and that the Centre’s business model and continuity could be at risk. In 2017, an external 
evaluation on the appropriateness of the Centre’s business model has been carried out. The final evaluation report had 
not yet been adopted at the time of our audit (268).

3.36.8. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.36.9. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments including 
the hierarchical position and independence of accounting officers. The superior of the Centre’s accounting officer is the 
Head of Administration. We see a need to strengthen the accounting officer’s independence by making him directly 
responsible to the Centre’s Director (administrative) and Management Board (functional).

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.36.10. According to their Framework Financial Regulation, agencies should introduce a single solution for the 
electronic exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (269), (270). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 
2017, the Centre had introduced e-invoicing for certain procedures, but not e-tendering and e-submission.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.36.11. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2015 The Centre does not yet have a Business Continuity Plan in place. It 
is thus not complying with Internal Control Standard 10 (1). Completed

2016

In 2016, cash and short term deposits held by the Centre decreased 
to 34,2 million euros (38,3 million euros at the end of 2015) and 
reserves to 31,1 million euros (34 million euros at the end of 2015). 
This decrease results from a budgetary approach which intends to 
reduce the accumulated surplus from previous years (2).

Ongoing

(1) The Centre’s Internal Control Standards are based on the equivalent standards laid down by the Commission.
(2) This trend continued in 2017.
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THE CENTRE’S REPLY

3.36.9. The Accounting Officer is independent in the execution of his accounting duties. This independence is assured 
by the fact that he is nominated by the Management Board and he occupies a permanent post. In order to strengthen the 
Accounting Officer’s independence, he will from 2018 be directly responsible for the accounting tasks to the Centre’s 
Director and his annual appraisal will be undertaken by the Director.

3.36.10. The implementation of e-Tendering and e-Submission is included in the Centre’s 2018 Work Programme. Both 
tools, developed by the Commission, will be deployed by the Centre from October 2018.
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C o m m i s s i o n  E x e c u t i v e  A g e n c i e s

3.37. EDUCATION, AUDIOVISUAL AND CULTURE EXECUTIVE AGENCY (EACEA)

INTRODUCTION

3.37.1. The Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘EACEA’), which is 
located in Brussels, was established by Commission Implementing Decision No 2013/776/EU (271) repealing Decision 
No 2009/336/EC (272). The Agency’s task is to manage programmes decided by the Commission in the educational, 
audiovisual and cultural fields, including undertaking the detailed implementation of technical projects.

3.37.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (273).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 49 50

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 442 436

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.37.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (274) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (275) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.37.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.37.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.37.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.37.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.37.8. In the course of this year’s audit of all EU agencies, we did an analysis of the accounting environments, including 
the hierarchical position and independence of accounting officers. The superior of the Agency’s accounting officer is the 
Head of Finance, Accounting and Programming. We see a need to strengthen the accounting officer’s independence by 
making him directly responsible to the Agency’s Director (administrative) and Steering Committee (functional).

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.37.9. According to the Financial Regulation executive agencies should introduce a single solution for the electronic 
exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (276). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions and agencies, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the 
electronic version of the EU Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e- 
submission). By the end of 2017 the Agency had introduced e-invoicing for certain procedures, but not e-tendering and e- 
submission.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.37.10. In 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued audit reports on the ‘Management of recovery orders 
for competition fines (including guarantees for competition fines) and for recovery orders in the context of the 
Commission's corrective capacity’ and on ‘Erasmus+ and Creative Europe — Grant Management phase 1’ (277). The Agency 
prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.37.11. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.

C 434/210 EN Official Journal of the European Union 30.11.2018

(276) Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012, Article 95 e-Government.
(277) We did not verify the audit work.



ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

When conducting its annual asset inventory in 2016, the Agency 
was unable to locate 46 IT items having a total initial acquisition 
value amounting to approximately 22 000 euros, indicating 
weaknesses in the safeguarding of assets.

Completed

2016

Carry-overs of committed appropriations were high for Title III 
(support to agency operations) at 2,3 million euros, i.e. 47 % (2015: 
2,8 million euros, i.e. 50 %). They mainly relate to ongoing project 
audits (0,8 million euros) and IT services (0,9 million euros) which 
were ordered in 2016 but not yet invoiced at year-end, or will only 
be delivered in 2017.

N/A
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.37.8 The Agency is of the opinion that its Accounting Officer has a high level of independence. Apart from his 
nomination through the Steering Committee and the functional reporting towards the Committee it is important to note 
that EACEA's Accounting officer is a seconded Commission official at senior grade, a status giving him per se a much higher 
degree of independence compared to locally recruited Accounting Officers. The set up implies that the seconded 
Accounting Officer is part of the organisational structure of the parent DG — DG EAC in our case.

The Agency will analyse the Court's comment, considering potential measures taken by other EU agencies and/or corporate 
guidance from the Commission. As the senior management of the Agency is undergoing changes, the matter will be 
presented to the new Director for his consideration.

3.37.9. The Agency is following closely Commission's e-procurement project. It plans to start using e-tendering in July 
2018, followed by the implementation of e-submission.

3.37.10. The two action plans have been meanwhile sent to the Internal Audit Service, who has accepted them. To be 
noted that almost all planned actions have been realised in the meantime.
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3.38. EXECUTIVE AGENCY FOR SMALL AND MEDIUM-SIZED ENTERPRISES (EASME)

INTRODUCTION

3.38.1. The Executive Agency for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘EASME’), which is 
located in Brussels, was established for the period 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2024 by Commission Implementing 
Decision 2013/771/EU (278). Its main task is to manage, in close cooperation with seven Directorates-General of the 
Commission, EU actions in the fields of research and innovation, competitiveness of SMEs, environment and climate action, 
maritime and fisheries.

3.38.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (279).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 36 43

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 417 434

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.38.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (280) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (281) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.38.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.38.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.38.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.38.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON THE RELIABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTS

3.38.8. In the course of this year’s audit of the EU agencies, we did an analysis of their accounting environments 
including the hierarchical position and independence of accounting officers, as well as the aspect of the timely (re-) 
validation of accounting systems. The superior of the Agency’s accounting officer is the Head of Financial Department. We 
therefore see a need to strengthen the accounting officer’s independence by making him directly responsible to the Agency’s 
Director (administrative) and Steering Committee (functional).

3.38.9. Furthermore, in 2014 the Agency’s mandate was considerably extended and now it manages EU actions in 
various fields in cooperation with seven Directorates General of the Commission. Despite significant changes to the 
Agency’s procedures and a significant increase in budget and staff, the last re-validation of the accounting system took place 
in 2012.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.38.10. According to the Financial Regulation executive agencies should introduce a single solution for the electronic 
exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (282). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions and agencies, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 
2017 the Agency had introduced e-tendering and e-submission for certain procedures, but not e-invoicing.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.38.11. In 2017 the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued audit reports on the Agency’s ‘Management of the 
COSME Programme (Competitiveness of Enterprises and SMEs)’ and ‘HR management process’ (283). The Agency prepared 
action plans to address any potential areas for improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.38.12. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

Carry-overs of committed appropriations were high for Title II 
(administrative expenditure) at 1 250 000 euros, i.e. 33 % (2015: 
998 324 euros, i.e. 14 %) and for Title III (support to agency 
operations) at 2 550 000 euros, i.e. 62 % (2015: 4 million euros, i.e. 
65 %). For Title II, they mainly relate to rent (0,6 million euros) and 
the acquisition of hardware not yet delivered by the year-end 
(0,5 million euros). Carry-overs for Title III relate to external experts’ 
evaluations and monitoring of the Life Programme (1,5 mil-
lion euros), ongoing ex post verifications (0,5 million euros) and IT 
services (0,5 million euros) which were ordered in 2016 but only 
partly delivered and not invoiced by the year end. The Agency may 
consider introducing differentiated budget appropriations to better 
reflect the multi-annual nature of operations and unavoidable delays 
between the signature of contracts, deliveries and payments.

Ongoing

2016
The cancellation of carry-overs from previous year was high for 
Title I (staff expenditure) at 32 000 euros, i.e. 8,3 %, indicating an 
overestimation of budgetary needs.

N/A
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.38.8. The Agency considers that its internal control system provides reasonable assurance that duties are effectively 
segregated and that the independence of the Accounting Officer is not impaired.

The Accounting Officer has been appointed by the Steering Committee (SC). The SC adopts the provisional and final 
accounts, the administrative budget and any further amendments. The main deliverables from the Accounting Officer are 
authorised by the Agency's Director.

Changing the current reporting and organisational structure would in its view not have a major impact on the risks and 
controls of the accounting transactions. However the Agency will closely monitor the situation, and will adapt the 
organisation and the reporting lines if necessary.

3.38.9 The accounting team has started the validation of the accounting systems in December 2017 and will finalise it 
during the course of 2018.

3.38.10. In the procurement field, the Agency has implemented e-invoicing for a certain number of IT providers since 
2013, including a full electronic processing and automated interface with ABAC workflow. As from 2018, the electronic 
invoicing will be further promoted and gradually rolled out to other suppliers, depending on their infrastructure and e- 
readiness.
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3.39. European Research Council Executive Agency (ERCEA)

INTRODUCTION

3.39.1. The European Research Council Executive Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘ERCEA’), which is located in 
Brussels, was created by Commission Decision 2008/37/EC (284). The Agency was established for a period beginning on 
1 January 2008 and ending on 31 December 2017 with the aim of managing the ‘Ideas’ specific programme under the 
7th Framework Programme for Research. As per Council Decision 2013/743/EU (285) the Agency became the dedicated 
implementation structure responsible for the administrative implementation and programme execution of the Horizon 
2020 research programme and implements the actions under the programme’s part I ‘Excellent science’ which relate to the 
specific objective of strengthening frontier research, through the activities of the European Research Council (ERC) (286).

3.39.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (287).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 43 47

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 461 477

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.39.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (288) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (289) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.39.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.39.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.39.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.39.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.39.8. According to the Financial Regulation executive agencies should introduce a single solution for the electronic 
exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (290). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions and agencies, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 
2017 the Agency had introduced e-tendering and e-invoicing for certain procedures, but not e-submission.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.39.9. In 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued an audit report on the processes related to the closure 
of FP7 (291) projects (292). The Agency prepared and action plan to address any potential areas for improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.39.10. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

Opening and evaluation committee reports prepared by the 
Agency’s public procurement and recruitment committees do not 
present a full and accurate record of the actual followed procedures. 
The inadequate reports compromise the transparency of these 
procedures.

Completed

2016

In its audit report dated September 2016, the Commission’s Internal 
Audit Service (IAS) concluded that the Agency has taken a number 
of strategic and operational measures to enhance the process for the 
recruitment, retention and allocation of its staff. The IAS concluded 
in this context that the Agency has designed and implemented an 
adequate HR management process to deploy a competent and 
engaged workforce to ensure the achievement of its objectives. 
While no critical or very important issues were identified, the 
Agency and IAS agreed on an action plan to further improve this 
process in certain areas.

Ongoing

2016

The level of committed appropriations carried over was still high for 
Title III (operational expenditure) at 1,3 million euros, i.e. 40 % 
(2015: 1,5 million euros, i.e. 43 %), mainly in relation to external 
audits and communication, going beyond the year end. The high 
level of carry-overs is in contradiction with the budgetary principle 
of annuality.

N/A
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.39.8 Currently, e-Submission is limited to open procedures (its threshold is established by the Directive 2014/24/EU 
on public procurement which was 135 000 euro in 2017). As the Agency did not launch such a procedure in 2017 and will 
not launch either in 2018, the Agency was not in a position to use e-Submission in 2017. Furthermore, according to the 
Commission’s roadmap, the use of e-submission is becoming mandatory for all EU Institutions and Agencies end of 2018. 
Therefore, the on-boarding process has now been started in 2018 and the Agency will be ready to use it before the end of 
this year. As for the negotiated procedure, the Agency will use e-Submission as soon as this option will be integrated in this 
module by the Commission.

3.39.9. Following the action plan established by the Agency and agreed by the IAS related to the ‘Closure of FP7 projects’ 
audit, all actions were timely implemented by the ERCEA and submitted on 9/04/2018 to the Internal Audit Service (IAS) 
for its follow-up.
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3.40. INNOVATION AND NETWORKS EXECUTIVE AGENCY (INEA)

INTRODUCTION

3.40.1. The Innovation and Networks Executive Agency (INEA — hereinafter ‘the Agency’), which is located in Brussels, 
was set up by Commission Decision 2013/801/EU (293) to replace and succeed the Trans-European Transport Network 
Executive Agency. The Agency was established for a period beginning on 1 January 2014 and ending on 31 December 
2024 for the management of EU actions in relation to the Connecting Europe Facility, the Horizon 2020 Research and 
Innovation Funding Programme, the Trans-European Transport Network and the Marco Polo Programme.

3.40.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (294).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 22 24

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 225 249

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.40.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (295) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (296) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.40.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.40.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.40.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.40.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.40.8. According to the Financial Regulation, executive agencies should introduce a single solution for the electronic 
exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (297). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions and agencies, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the EU 
Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e-submission). By the end of 
2017 the Agency had introduced e-invoicing for certain procedures, but not e-tendering and e-submission.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.40.9. In 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service issued a report on ‘Grant Management Phase 2: Project 
Management and Payments for the Connecting Europe Facility in INEA’ (298). The Agency prepared an action plan to 
address any potential areas for improvement.”

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.40.10. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

The level of carry-overs for committed appropriations was high for 
Title III at 0,5 million euros, i.e. 48 % (2015: 0,5 million euros, i.e. 
51 %). The main cause was IT and audit contracts for which 
execution goes beyond the year-end.

N/A
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.40.8. By the end of 2017 the Agency had introduced e-invoicing for certain procedures. The use of e-tendering and e- 
submission was not introduced as it does not concern the Agency. In fact procurement activities are implemented only 
through the use of low value contracts or existing Framework contracts managed by the European Commission services.
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3.41. RESEARCH EXECUTIVE AGENCY (REA)

INTRODUCTION

3.41.1. The Research Executive Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’, aka ‘REA’), which is located in Brussels, was set up by 
Commission Decision 2008/46/EC (299). The Agency was established for a limited period beginning on 1 January 2008 and 
ending on 31 December 2017 with the aim of managing specific Union activities in the field of research. On 15 June 2009 
the Agency was officially granted its administrative and operational autonomy by the European Commission. On 
13 December 2013, the Commission, by its Implementing Decision 2013/778/EU (300), extended the lifetime of the REA to 
2024 and delegated to it also parts of Horizon 2020, the new Framework Programme for Research and Innovation.

3.41.2. The Table below presents key figures for the Agency (301).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) (1) 63 67

Total staff as at 31 December (2) 628 693

(1) Budget figures are based on payment appropriations.
(2) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.41.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (302) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (303) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.41.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.41.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.41.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

3.41.7. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

3.41.8. The management of the selection process for contractual agents revealed weaknesses. The recruitment files and 
the minutes of the selection committee meetings do not always include the criteria used to select the candidates from the 
recruitment database (304).

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.41.9. According to the Financial Regulation executive agencies should introduce a single solution for the electronic 
exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (305). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions and agencies, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the 
electronic version of the EU Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e- 
submission). By the end of 2017 the Agency had introduced e-invoicing for certain procedures, but not e-tendering and e- 
submission.

INFORMATION ON INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE REPORTS

3.41.10. In May 2017, the Commission’s Internal Audit Service (IAS) issued an audit report on ‘The closure of FP7 
projects in REA’ (306). The Agency prepared an action plan to address any potential areas for improvement.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.41.11. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2016

In its audit report dated December 2016, the Commission’s Internal 
Audit Service (IAS) concluded that overall the Agency had 
implemented an adequate HR management process. The Agency 
and IAS agreed on a plan to take corrective action for the one 
finding reported.

Ongoing

2016

In another audit report dated May 2016, the IAS concluded that the 
Agency together with the Commission has set up an efficient 
internal control system for the management of grants within the 
Horizon 2020 programme. The Agency and IAS agreed, together 
with the Commission on a plan to take corrective action for the one 
finding considered very important.

Ongoing (1)

2016

An external evaluation of the Agency’s performance in the period 
2012 to 2015 was prepared on behalf of the Commission and the 
final report was delivered in May 2016. It concluded that the Agency 
performed in an effective, efficient and cost-effective way in 
implementing its tasks during the reference period and that its 
mandate remains highly relevant to the Commission and the 
Agency’s beneficiaries and that the delegation of operational tasks 
from the Commission has been successful. However, the evaluators 
also identified scope to further increase the effectiveness and 
efficiency of operations and the Agency and the Commission were 
invited to improve their internal dialogue and cooperation, external 
communication as well as specific issues in the area of IT and HR 
management. The Agency and the Commission agreed on a plan to 
take corrective action.

N/A

(1) The IAS in 2017 did a follow-up audit and concluded that the two recommendations mentioned have been adequately and effectively 
implemented. At year-end three recommendations were outstanding.
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

3.41.9. The audited recruitment procedure for which weaknesses were identified was launched in 2016, leading to a 
reserve list adopted in 2016 and used in 2017 by issuing a job-offer. The REA selection procedure for contract agents, 
taking into account the 2016 IAS recommendation, has been revised and implemented later in 2017. The revised selection 
procedure for contract agents takes into consideration the requirements for clearly documented search criteria for CVs and 
eligibility checks, as well as for eligibility and selection criteria. The search criteria that the selection panels are using for 
screening CVs are documented in their minutes. Thereby, the updated procedure already addresses the weaknesses reported 
by the ECA.

3.41.10 In the field of procurement, REA uses Service Level Agreements with the Commission or framework contracts 
of the Commission. Only in case of a specific need not covered by any of these, REA would launch a specific procurement. 
In 2017 REA has only made one procurement for a low value contract. The current version of e-tendering and e- 
submission is limited to public procurement procedures above the threshold of 144 000 €. As REA did not launch any 
procedure above this threshold up to now, it was not in a position to use e-tendering and e-submission in 2017. In addition, 
according to the Commission's roadmap, the use of e-tendering and e-submission is becoming mandatory for all EU 
Institutions and Agencies at end of 2018 and the on-boarding process has only started in 2018. The Agency is already 
using e-invoicing and will also use the e-tendering and e-submission modules as soon as these modules will cover also 
middle and low value contracts should a tendering procedure be launched.
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3.42. CONSUMERS, HEALTH, AGRICULTURE AND FOOD EXECUTIVE AGENCY (CHAFEA)

INTRODUCTION

3.42.1. The Consumers, Health, Agriculture and Food Executive Agency (hereinafter ‘the Agency’) was set up on 
1 January 2005 (Public Health Executive Agency — PHEA — from 2005 to 2008, Executive Agency for Health and 
Consumers — EAHC — from 2008 to 2013 and Consumers, Health, Agriculture and Food Executive Agency — Chafea — 
as from 1 January 2014) (307). The Agency is located in Luxembourg and its mandate has been extended until 31 December 
2024. The Agency implements the EU Health Programme, the Consumer Programme and the Better Training for Safer Food 
initiative.

3.42.2. The Table presents key figures for the Agency (308).

Table

Key figures for the Agency

2016 2017

Budget (million euros) 9 10

Total staff as at 31 December (1) 58 61

(1) Staff includes officials, temporary and contract staff and seconded national experts.

Source: data provided by the Agency.

THE COURT’S STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE PROVIDED TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL — INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

3.42.3. We have audited:

(a) the accounts of the Agency which comprise the financial statements (309) and the reports on the implementation of 
the budget (310) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017; and

(b) the legality and regularity of the transactions underlying those accounts,

as required by Article 287 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU).

Reliability of the accounts

Opinion on the reliability of the accounts

3.42.4. In our opinion, the accounts of the Agency for the year ended 31 December 2017 present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Agency at 31 December 2017, the results of its operations, its cash flows, 
and the changes in net assets for the year then ended, in accordance with its Financial Regulation and with accounting 
rules adopted by the Commission’s accounting officer. These are based on internationally accepted accounting standards 
for the public sector.
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Legality and regularity of the transactions underlying the accounts

Revenue

Opinion on the legality and regularity of revenue underlying the accounts

3.42.5. In our opinion, revenue underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 is legal and regular in 
all material respects.

Payments

Opinion on the legality and regularity of payments underlying the accounts

3.42.6. In our opinion, payments underlying the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017 are legal and regular 
in all material respects.

Emphasis of matter

3.42.7. The Agency’s accounting officer is absent since the end of November 2017. On 13 December 2017, the 
Agency’s Steering Committee has formally appointed an administrator as temporary accounting officer, though, this 
administrator is deputising the authorising officer by delegation. This contradicts Article 28 of the Agency’s financial 
regulation, which states that the duties of the authorising officer and the accounting officer shall be segregated and 
mutually incompatible.

3.42.8. The observations which follow do not call the Court’s opinion into question.

OBSERVATIONS ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

3.42.9. In 2017, the Agency inadequately documented recruitment procedures. Moreover, the procedures lacked 
anonymity and did not respect the set deadlines. This may undermine the principles of transparency and of equal treatment 
of candidates.

OBSERVATIONS ON SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND ON PERFORMANCE

3.42.10. In 2017, the Agency encountered difficulties in attracting sufficient competition for low and medium value 
procurement procedures. In each of the procedures audited, the Agency did not receive more than one offer.

3.42.11. According to the Financial Regulation, executive agencies should introduce a single solution for the electronic 
exchange and storage of information with third parties participating in public procurement procedures (e- 
procurement) (311). As the same requirement exists for all EU Institutions and agencies, the Commission is developing a 
comprehensive IT solution covering all phases of public procurement procedures. The Commission launched tools for 
electronic invoicing in 2010 (e-invoicing), for the electronic publication of documents related to contract notices in the 
electronic version of the EU Official Journal in 2011 (e-tendering) and for the electronic submission of tenders in 2015 (e- 
submission). By the end of 2017 the Agency had introduced e-tendering and e-invoicing for certain procedures, but not e- 
submission.

3.42.12. The Agency publishes vacancy notices for temporary agents on its own website and in social media, but not on 
the website of the European Personnel Selection Office (EPSO), which would increase transparency, publicity and allow 
citizens to identify vacancies published by the different European Institutions and agencies collectively.

OBSERVATIONS ON BUDGETARY MANAGEMENT

3.42.13. The Agency’s budget planning is weak. While carry-overs of committed appropriations from 2017 to 2018 
were high for budget Title III at 1,6 million euros, i.e. 63 % (2016: 1,2 million euros, i.e. 48 %), the cancelation rate of 
budget appropriations carried over from 2016 to 2017 was high as well at 354 260 euros, i.e. 23 %.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS

3.42.14. An overview of the corrective action taken in response to the Court's observations from previous years is 
provided in the Annex.
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ANNEX

Follow-up of previous years’ observations

Year Court's observations
Status of corrective action

(Completed / Ongoing / Outstanding /  
N/A)

2015
The Agency cancelled 0,2 million euros, i.e. 18 % of its carry-overs 
to 2015 (2014: 0,1 million euros, i.e. 14 %), indicating weaknesses 
in their planning.

Ongoing

2016

The Agency carried over 1,1 million euros, i.e. 48 % (2015: 
0,9 million euros, i.e. 52 %) of committed appropriations for Title III 
(expenditure linked to the Agency's operations). They mainly relate 
to IT services and other studies contracted but not yet carried out or 
finished at the year-end. Of the carry-overs made from 2015 to 
2016, the Agency cancelled 0,2 million euros, i.e. 17 % indicating 
weak planning of needs.

N/A
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THE AGENCY’S REPLY

EMPHASIS OF MATTER

3.42.7 The final accounts were prepared and signed by the appointed accountant back in office. In the future, 
segregation of duties will be strictly applied.

3.42.9 The Agency accepts the Court's comment concerning the fact that the recruitment file analysed by the Court was 
not adequately documented. However, Chafea ensured that no candidate has been favoured in this selection process as all 
candidates were equally treated.

3.42.10. Chafea implemented all the steps recommended by the Financial Regulation concerning these two low and 
middle value procurements: Ex ante publicity took place as required and the legally required numbers of candidates were 
invited to submit an offer, all of them having strong experience in tendering procedures and with the services requested. 
Chafea respected the DG BUDGET Vademecum for Procurement concerning the time given to the bidders to submit their 
offer.

3.42.11 Chafea is currently testing several IT modules for e-procurement, including e-submission. The first tender using 
e-submission will be tested in the third quarter of 2018. Chafea will be fully in line with the EU Commission 
recommendation to have e-submission in place before the end of 2018.

3.42.12. Chafea agrees with the observation that the publication of vacancy notices for temporary agent positions on 
the EPSO website may increase their visibility.

3.42.13 The Agency accepts the Court's comments. The Agency shall continue its efforts to further reduce the level of 
carry-over and C8 cancellation rate.
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This Report including 41 statements of assurance for each agency/body was adopted by Chamber IV, 
headed by Mr Neven MATES, Member of the Court of Auditors, in Luxembourg at its meeting on 
18 September 2018.

For the Court of Auditors

Klaus-Heiner LEHNE

President
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